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Financial Highlights
Br 1% 2

As at As at
August 31, August 31, Percentage
2022 2021 Change change
20224 720214
8A31H 8A31H =4 BOLLEY
Number of Schools BR¥AE 3 3 — —
Student enrolment MEEEAH 47,131 46,669 462 1.0%
Year ended Year ended
August 31, August 31, Percentage
2022 2021 Change change
B ZE2022F HE20215F
8H31H 8H31H
LLFE IEFE 28 BOLESH
(RMB’000) (RMB’000) (RMB'000)
(AR®F ) (ARBFT) (AR®FT)
Revenue WA 907,762 881,656 26,106 3.0%
Gross profit EF 482,151 470,513 11,638 2.5%
Profit for the year FRFE 259,784 143,459 116,325 81.1%
Adjusted net profit® 8 G B 4 A 263,838 299,148 (35,310) (11.8%)
Earnings per share (RMB) & & T (ARET) 0.216 0.120 0.096 80.0%
Percentage
point
ERaE
Gross profit ratio EFE 53.1% 53.4% (0.3)
Operating profit ratio Fa= DR 42.3% 25.5% 16.8
Net Profit ratio RS 28.6% 16.3% 12.3
Adjusted Net Profit ratio? #% JJ 2 41 Fl| k@ 29.1% 33.9% (4.8)
Notes: B &% -
(1) Adjusted net profit is a non-HKFRSs financial measure, which is derived from the profit for (1) RARMAULIEEBMERELRMBFES

the year after adjusting compensation fee for the Conversion of Huali College in May 2021,
interest expenses on discount of compensation payable for the Conversion of Huali College,
net exchange gains/(losses) and fair value gains on investment properties.

(2) Adjusted net profit ratio under non-HKFRSs financial measures is calculated on adjusted net (2)
profit under non-HKFRSs financial measures for the year divided by revenue for the respective

year.

%R0 F AR T BEWRAEE - E
BRI E RN AR - B
Wz /(1) R A M 300 2 T
EECUEL RS

FERUBHEEAM BB ATORRRA
FEBENFEBTBMBRELNSBHETET
M SRR AR FARAGE -
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Chairman’s Statement
FRERE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of China Vocational Education Holdings Limited, | am
pleased to present the annual report of the Group for the year ended August 31,
2022.

RESULTS OVERVIEW

For the year ended August 31, 2022, the Group’'s revenue amounted to
approximately RMB907.8 million, representing an increase of approximately 3.0%
from approximately RMB881.7 million for the corresponding period last year.

BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS

2022 was a challenging year for all economies and industries. Although the
fight against the pandemic was still ongoing and the external environment was
very volatile, the Group achieved encouraging results for the year ended August
31, 2022. The Company is a leading large-scale private higher education and
vocational education group in South China, offering applied science-focused
and practical-oriented programs. The Group operates three schools, namely
Guangzhou Huali College (formerly known as Huali College Guangdong University
of Technology), Guangzhou Huali Science and Technology Vocational College
and Guangdong Province Huali Technician College. We will continue to fulfil our
mission to improve the quality of education and ultimately improve the business
performance of the Group.

In the 2021/2022 school year, our new campus in Xinhui District, Jiangmen City
commenced operation, which can expand our teaching space and improve our
education quality. The campus is located on the west bank of Pearl River Estuary,
which is the core area of the equipment manufacturing belt in the west of the
Pearl River and a key area for Guangdong Province to implement the development
strategy of “One Core, One Belt, One Zone". Going forward, the new campus
will make full use of the flexible mechanism of private schools to establish certain
industry colleges, enrich our school curriculum offerings and help us attract more
potential student groups.

06 China Vocational Education Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report

BRI

AARRTEBELRBEERERAAESS -
RARIR2AEBHZE202248A31BILEEW
FR o

RENE
HE2022F8 A 31 B UL F - A % M 0 WA
WARITEERT  BEFRBOARY

e —

881.7EH & ILIEMNAI3.0% °

RBEBE
TECCFHRMARKERBNTEMS SR
ERIBN—F - BERRZHRNDAFER
SNEBERIBIEEARE - BEAKERNE 22022
FABNALFERGES ARKENKE - AR
AARERBEELORERPSSHER
BEHAEE RENERANMEASZH RN
EBRREMMNRE AEBREL=MBR
BREEMEIRR (AHERTERRETR
Be)  BMEURMBRBESREREREELR
B2kt - RMEERITREHREEENES -
THRERBARENEHTRSE -

R-TB-— /T - —8BF  RMUIRIMA
THEENFREEHRES  HRET N
BAHEBEBULRSHEE R - ZREM
REIARER  RRAXHERETHOZLE
B TREREERI—Z— % —EIZERE
MEERRE - BEXRK  FTREETSF A
RMEBERBEEORS  2us TEXEZR
EERMOREREBEELEL BN E MR
BEZHBEEERE -



PROSPECTS

We intend to maintain and strengthen our leading position in the private higher
education industry and private vocational education industry in South China.
To achieve this goal, we plan to pursue the following business strategies: (1)
continue to enhance our reputation as a provider of private higher education and
private vocational education; (2) continue to increase student enrolment through
expanding our business operations in our existing schools and further expand our
school network in China and abroad; (3) continue to improve our profitability
by optimizing our pricing and sources of revenue; (4) continue to strengthen
collaboration with corporate employers; (5) continue to attract, incentivize and
retain talented teachers and support their professional development; and (6)
improve our revenue structure through developing vocational education and

training business.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to thank all the Shareholders for their
continued trust, support and confidence. | would also like to express my sincere
gratitude to the management and all staff for their professionalism, integrity
and dedication in implementing the Group’s strategies. The Group will continue
to pursue sustainable development strategies and focus on maximizing the
Shareholders’ returns.

Zhang Zhifeng
Chairman

Hong Kong, November 29, 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis
ERE TR

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

We are a leading large-scale private higher education and vocational education
group in South China, offering applied science-focused and practice-oriented
programs. As at August 31, 2022, we had an aggregate of 47,131 students
enrolled at our three schools, namely Huali College, Huali Vocational College and

Huali Technician College.

Our schools offer private higher education and private vocational education in a
wide range of fields in applied sciences with an aim to prepare our students with
the necessary knowledge base, skill sets and accreditations to secure jobs and
pursue careers in particular professions, trades and industries. As at August 31,
2022, we offered 38 undergraduate programs, 44 junior college programs, and 26

vocational programs.

Our Schools
We operate three schools in Guangdong Province, all of which grant government

accredited degrees or certifications, including:

o Huali College (including Zengcheng campus and Jiangmen campus): an
independently established private general undergraduate college, offering
four- to five-year undergraduate programs(
accredited by the MOE;

granting bachelor degrees

o Huali Vocational College (including Zengcheng campus and Yunfu campus):
a formal higher education institution, offering three-year vocational
programs granting junior college diplomas accredited by the MOE; and

o Huali Technician College (including Zengcheng campus and Yunfu campus):
a private technician school primarily offering three-year, full-time vocational
programs? granting technician diplomas of Huali Technician College

accredited by the Department of Human Resources and Social Security of

Guangdong Province and short-term intensive vocational programs.

(1) Generally, Huali College offers four-year undergraduate programs and a five-year
undergraduate program in architecture.

(2) Generally, Huali Technician College offers three-year vocational programs as well as two-,
four- and five-year programs to students of different education levels pursuing different types
of technician diplomas.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Student Enrolment
As at August 31, 2022, we had an aggregate of 47,131 students™ enrolled in our

three schools, comprising 17,622 students at Huali College, 18,338 students at

i

I E R W

MEEE AHY
202268 A31H » M =FEREHFA7,131
BERBEY . BIFETER17,622% 2% -

Huali Vocational College and 11,171 students at Huali Technician College.

EVBEEPT18,338 R B A RE T HANEMR
MATIZEE -

As at As at
August 31, August 31, Percentage
2022 2021 Change change

R2022%F 720214
School 2R 8A31H 8A31H 23 BEOLES
Huali College EBRK 17,622 18,307 (685) (3.7%)
— Zengcheng campus — EHRE 17,080 18,307 (1,227) (6.7%)
— Jiangmen campus — IR &R 542 — 542 —
Huali Vocational College EVRBEER 18,338 18,822 (484) (2.6%)
— Zengcheng campus 18 35 12 & 13,380@%) 14,596“® (1,216) (8.3%)
— Yunfu campus — EERE 4,958 4,226 732 17.3%
Huali Technician College EVREMER 11,171 9,540 1,631 17.1%
— Zengcheng campus — EHRE 9,377 7,827 1,550 19.8%
— Yunfu campus — EERE 1,794 1,713 81 4.7%
Total #BEt 47,131 46,669 462 1.0%

Notes: B 5T

Including 633 students of Huali Technician College who also take junior college courses
at Huali Vocational College (the “Continuing Education Program”) and obtain a junior
college diploma awarded by Huali Vocational College, subject to, among other things, passing
the National Higher Education Entrance Exam for Adults. Each student participating in the
Continuing Education Program is required to pay an additional tuition fee of RMB3,000 to
Huali Vocational College. In order to reflect such business practice, the number of students
of Huali Technician College who also participated in the Continuing Education Program was
included in the number of students of Huali Vocational College, and the revenue from the
additional tuition fees paid for the Continuing Education Program was fully included in the
revenue from tuition fees of Huali Vocational College and Huali Technician college.

Including 2,822 students who are social personnel enrolled under the national policy of
enrolment expansion of Higher Vocational Education (the “Enrolment Expansion Program
for Higher Vocational Education”), having passed the exam designed independently by
Huali Vocational College. Each of these students shall pay a tuition fee of RMB8,000 per
academic year to Huali Vocational College, and participate in junior college courses mainly
through on-line platform and obtain a junior college diploma awarded by Huali Vocational
College upon graduation.

Including 633 students of Huali Technician College who also participate in the Continuing
Education Program.

Including 1,367 students of Huali Technician College who also participate in the Continuing
Education Program.

Including 1,294 students who participate in the Enrolment Expansion Program for Higher
Vocational Education.

(1
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A3)
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Management Discussion and Analysis
ERE TR

Tuition Fees and Boarding Fees

For the year ended August 31, 2022, the Group's schools recorded revenue
growth, which was in line with the expansion of its business and student
enrolment. Revenue increased from RMB881.7 million for the year ended August
31, 2021 to RMB907.8 million for the year ended August 31, 2022. The Group
typically charges students fees comprising tuition fees and boarding fees. Tuition
fees remained as the Group’s major revenue for the year ended August 31, 2022,
accounting for approximately 92.1% of the total revenue of the Group for the
year ended August 31, 2022.

The table below summarizes the amount of revenue generated from the tuition
fees and boarding fees charged by the Group for the years indicated:

BENTEE
HE2022F8A31HIEFE  REB SR8
BRAKE  BEBREESEASER—
B MABHEZE2021FE8A3TMHBLEFENAR
K881 7E B MINEHZE2022%8A31H
IFFENARKOISEEIL - NEB—KM
BLURNEERTEESER - H122022F
8ANALEE Z2BNAREEFZWA -
I AREEE 202268831 B IEFEMNEARA
#792.1% -

TERBAATFEAEERDNNEERLFTE
BELAMBASE

As at As at
August 31, August 31, Percentage
2022 2021 Change change
7120225 R20214
8H31H 8H31H & BOLED
(RMB’000) (RMB’000) (RMB'000)
(ARBTR) (ARETFR) (ARETT)
Tuition fees 2%
Huali College V-1 482,689 462,431 20,258 4.4%
Huali Vocational College B EER 236,685 248,177 (11,492) (4.6%)
Huali Technician College 7 R AD 2B 117,096 102,716 14,380 14.0%
836,470 813,324 23,146 2.8%
Boarding fees FEE
Huali College VA= 17 28,568 29,128 (560) (1.9%)
Huali Vocational College EVBESR 25,610 26,589 (979) (3.7%)
Huali Technician College 7 PR 2R 17,114 12,615 4,499 35.7%
71,292 68,332 2,960 4.3%
Total Revenue A 907,762 881,656 26,106 3.0%

The increase in the total revenue of the Group for the year ended August 31,
2022 was mainly due to the increase in student enrolment and average tuition
fees.
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The following table sets forth the information relating to student enrolment and
average tuition fees per student for the financial years for each of our schools,

respectively:

Student Enrolment

Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE Ao

TERABFIEMEEREYRF R A5 HE
BEABMEBRBETHEENER

Average Tuition Fees per student®

MEEEAH BEELEFHEED
Academic Year®" Year Ended August 31
B2F0 BZ8A3MALLEE
2021/2022 2020/2021 2022 2021
2022 20214
(RMB) (RMB)
School 2R (AR#®x) (AR¥TT)
Huali College EVBRKR 17,622 18,307 27,391 25,260
— Zengcheng campus — R E 17,080 18,307 — —
— Jiangmen campus — IPFIRE 542 — — —
Huali Vocational College EVBEZR 18,338 18,822 12,907 13,185
— Zengcheng campus — B R R 13,380 14,596 — —
— Yunfu campus — EERE 4,958 4,226 — —
Huali Technician College EVRMER 11,171 9,540 10,482 10,767
— Zengcheng campus — I [ 9,377 7,827 — —
— Yunfu campus —EERE 1,794 1,713 = —
Total st 47,131 46,669 17,748 17,428
Notes: i
(1) Except as specified otherwise in this announcement, we present our business operating data (1) BAREFSHERAEIN B2V EFHE
as at August 31 for each of the academic year. SABTHMERL & 8Kk -
) Average tuition fees equal to the revenue from tuition fees for the relevant financial year (2) 28 SR AM B EE 2B WARAERE

divided by the student enrolment for the corresponding academic year.

BENRESEAR -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEE ®

DT

The following table sets out the tuition fee rates of our schools for the 2020/2021
and 2021/2022 academic years:

SEL R

T X # 5112020/2021 }2.2021/2022 2 £ 3 11 £
RE)BEKFE -

Tuition fee rates"
in academic year

BEFBHKFEO
2021/2022 2020/2021
(RMB) (RMB)
School B R (AR% ) (AR T)
Huali College EIERK
Four- to five-year undergraduate program®@ = fFHARRE® 28,800-32,800  28,800-32,800
International program BRER A2 36,800 36,800
Bilingual program EIERE 31,800 31,800
Huali Vocational College EIYBEER
Three-year junior college program = FHRERE 9,880-19,880 9,880-17,880
— Zengcheng campus — I [ 16,880-19,880  15,880-17,880
— Yunfu campus — EERE 9,880-12,880 9,880
International program BRER IR 25,880-30,880 25,880-30,880
Bilingual program ®ERE 12,880 17,880
Huali Technician College EVHMER
Three-year vocational program® = F IR EREY 6,800-15,100 6,300-12,300
— Zengcheng campus — IR & 9,800-15,100 8,800-12,300
— Yunfu campus — EERE 6,800-8,100 6,300-7,500

Notes:

B 2

Tuition fee rates shown above for all of our schools are applicable to students admitted in
the relevant academic year only.

Generally, Huali College offers four-year undergraduate programs, and a five-year
undergraduate program in architecture.

Generally, Huali Technician College offers three-year vocational programs, as well as two-,
four- and five-year programs to students of different education levels pursuing different types
of technician diplomas of Huali Technician College. In addition, we offer students at Huali
Technician College a dual-diploma program, in which students are permitted to take junior
college courses at Huali Vocational College and obtain a junior college diploma awarded
by Huali Vocational College, subject to, among other things, passing the National Higher
Education Entrance Exam for adults.

During the year ended August 31, 2022, our boarding fee rates ranged from

RMB600 to RMB14,000 per academic year depending on the location, room size

and number of students housed in each room. Especially, we offered some studio

apartments since the academic year 2020/2021, for which the boarding fee rates
range from RMB4,700 to RMB14,000 per academic year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

School Utilization Rate BRERR

School utilization rate is calculated by dividing the number of boarding student
enrolment in a particular academic year by the school capacity in the same
academic year. The school capacity of each campus is calculated by the number

of beds available in student dormitories. The following table sets out the school

BEIEER

A

5w K o AT

EREBIBFEEFNTEELEABGBMA
FA—BFENERATTMABFE - EREHE
RABRHABRBEBEABRLEAE -
T 5% # %5112020/2021 }22021/2022 2 F H 12

utilization rate of our schools for the 2020/2021 and 2021/2022 academic years: RHER(ERX
Academic year
BF

2021/2022 2020/2021
Zengcheng campus IR E
School capacity BRAUBTMHAE 28,971 30,079
School utilization rate BRERX 80.9% 92.7%
Yunfu campus EIRE
School capacity BRAOAMAE 8,635 8,000
School utilization rate BRERAE 68.2% 65.3%
Jiangmen campus IR E
School capacity BRAIAMAH 2,340 —
School utilization rate B A E 23.2% —

Awards and Recognitions Received During the Reporting

Period

The Company and the three schools received numerous awards and recognitions
during the Reporting Period in recognition of the quality of education we provide

and the outstanding

BEHEESHREARRAT

REHBA  ARBAR=ZERESTREZ
BRERRA  REAMNEHOBERERK

achievements of our operations. The following table sets PIEE L M AE PR RE » T R8P 3 M1 1S 79 &F

Awarded Entity
BRER

forth some of the awards and recognitions we have received: D EEIE KRR -
Award/Recognition Awarding Organization(s)
#1E R AR
September, 2021 University Students Love Anchor Guangzhou Zengcheng District Live
Volunteer Service Team E-commerce Association
(REBEE L EHEEFERSK) (BN EEREEGS)
20214F9 A ABET LT HEEBRBEK BMmEREERERDS
October, 2021 Investment and Financing Mode Shanghai People’s Radio
Innovation Practice Award (LBARERESE)
(ERERA A EEKXNR
20214F10 4 IR RN PN FBAREREE
October, 2021 Guangdong University (Undergraduate Guangdong University New Media Union
Group) Influence of New Media in (P& 3R 1=y A5 T 4 B e )

2021410 A

2021 “Third Prize” QO21EEERS
B (AR FEETEN =%
#21])
NMFEERBR(ARRRE)NE ERSRNERESR
SR BN =%

Huali Vocational College

EVRXSM
The Company

PN/NE]
Huali College

t
<t
1B
5
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EEE ®

DT

Award/Recognition
®1E R

Awarding Organization(s)

Awarded Entity

ERER

(5 1

October, 2021

20214104

November, 2021

202111 A

December, 2021

2021412 A4

December, 2021

202112 A

December, 2021

2021412 A
December, 2021

202112 A

December, 2021

202112 A

14

Guangdong University (Undergraduate
Group) Influence of New Media in
2021 “Second Prize” (20214 & & &
SR (AR AR RETEN =
F#)

2021 FEER SR (KRB 4 ) 3 1%
BR8N =5

“A Century of Greater Bay Area”

Skills + New Media Innovation
Competition — “ Outstanding
Organization Award”
((BEFNOFER IR+ ERAE
ARE — [BEFABE])

(BEFONLEER IR +HEREE
RE—[EFABE]

Guangdong Private University Party’s
History Knowledge Contest “Second
Prize of Undergraduate Group”

(BRERWSNELMHHEI AR
M%)

BRARPSRESLMHZEEARAE
— %]

Guangdong Private University Party’s
History Knowledge Contest
“Qutstanding Organization Award”
(BERERPSNELTNAGEIES
B
gl

(2020-2021) Advanced Armed Forces
((2020-2021) 5t i B % &6 BX)

(2020-2021)5% 4 B % & B

Guangdong Private University Party’s

SHBHREEAA

History Knowledge Contest
“Qutstanding Organization Award”
(BERERHSRELAHRZEIES
HaE])
BRERPESRELHNHGREESE
g |

Guangdong Private University Party’s
History Knowledge Contest “Third
Prize of Specialty Group”

(BERERPRRE L M5 TR
M=%18])
ERERMSREL MBHEERHE
=ER]
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Guangdong University New Media Union

(BRBRAMER

Bt B2)
J& R = AR S R e AR
Human Resource and Social Security

Department of Guangdong Province

(BRE AN BRI Z REZE)

EREANEBERMIESRER

Guangdong Private Education

Association (ERE RFHBE HE)

BERERPRBEBE

Guangdong Private Education
Association

(BERERPIHBEHS)
BRERBHEHE
Guangdong National Security Education
Society (BER A B H B 2 %)
BEREBEHHEZE

Guangdong Private Education

Association (BERE RBHE HE)

BERERBRBEHE

Guangdong Private Education

Association (ERE RBHAE D)

ERERVBEBE

Huali Vocational College

%

Huali Technician College

LB 2 B b

?}

2 37 B A 2B

Huali College

4
<t
1B
=

Huali College

E=

Huali Vocational College

.

\

?‘}

ETRESR

Huali Vocational College

Huali Vocational College
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEE WMk

Awarding Organization(s)

Awarded Entity
ERER

il

December, 2021

20214124

December, 2021

2021512 1

December, 2021

2021512 4

December, 2021

2021412 A

Guangdong Private University Students
Choir Competition “Excellent Works
Award” (ERERMESRAZER
LLEMESIERE])

BRERPESRAEBESELEIES
fEmm 2% |

Guangdong Vocational Skills Contest
Advertising Design Competition
“Qutstanding Organization Award”
(BEREBERERERERIHRE
[EHE#E]

BREBERERERES
75 4 4 2

5th Guangdong “Academy Award”
Youth Teachers and Students Art
Design Competition in 2021 —
“Third Prize (Group Section)” of the
Vocational High School Group
QOIFEREEREBREIFF
B AERFT BT AR —PRAIEE=
F#)

2021 FEHEERE L2 |5 Fh
ERFEMAE — FRANERE=
L

5th Guangdong “Academy Award”
Youth Teachers and Students Art

R PEE

Design Competition in 2021 —
“Qutstanding Organization Award”
QOIFEREEREBREIFTF
B AERETEMAE—[BFEME])
221 FEREERE 20525 F/
ERFTEMAE — [BFABE]

Guangdong Private Education

Association (ER A RPHBE H L)

BERERMBEBE

Advertising Design Competition
Committee of Guangdong Vocational
Skills Contest
(BEREBERBEAEE
ERBEEZE)

EREBERERER S RTBERE
HEHEEE

Awarded jointly by the Trade Union

HRFTRER

Committee on Industries of
Guangdong (BERETLXT &% 5
and the Creative and Design Industry
Research Association of Guangdong

(BERAEBBRAEXERE

ERETXTeZReLERAAER
FHEXME A RE

Awarded jointly by the Trade Union
Committee on Industries of
Guangdong (ERETXTEZE®)
and the Creative and Design Industry
Research Association of Guangdong
(BEREBIBRAEETE

BR4E I%IAiéééﬁiFﬁé Bl E &
STEEXMREHARRER

Huali Vocational College

Huali Technician College

=RV LTS

Huali Technician College

I 37 B Bl 2B

Huali Technician College

;

=RV el 1E=-10
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EEE ®

DT

Award/Recognition
#®1E R

Awarding Organization(s)

(5 1

Awarded Entity
ERER

December, 2021

20214F12 1

December, 2021

202112 A

December, 2021

2021512 4

December, 2021

Selected Chinese Communist Party
Course and Top Lecturer Election
in New Economic Organization
and New Social Organization of
"Selected
Chinese Communist Party Course”
(R RMmHARE R ERR SRR
RIET 58 — [HEmER])
i%ﬂilﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁ%ﬁun%%&éhﬁuﬁﬁﬂi
FEER — [EmER]
Advanced Unit of Vocational Capacity

Zengcheng District —

Construction in Guangdong Province
in 2021 QO21FEEREM ¥
R FEEN)

21 FEEREBERNERAESE
v

School-enterprise Cooperation of
Jiangsu Jingdong Information
Technology Co., Ltd. in 2021
“Distinguished Contribution Award”

RQUINFEIHAREAFZMERA

AREAERERIEME R ])
2 FEIHRREMBMER A A

R & ER R = 48 B 42
“Inspection and Maintenance of New

Energy Vehicle” ([¥T8EIR /R E 8

A B4 12 1) was selected as the

key major of technical schools in

Guangdong Province (ER & TR

RE R HX) in 2022

The Organization Department of the
CPC Guangzhou Zengcheng District
Committee

(Fh 5B M 7 25990 1 2= 48 485 F)

o N T 0 B 5 4

Guangdong Vocational Capacity
Construction Association

(BEREBEENERHS)

BREBERNERDE

Jiangsu Jingdong Information
Technology Co., Ltd.
(IHFRREARM AR D A)

TEHRRAREMBMAERA A

Vocational Education and Management
Office of the Human Resources
and Social Security Department of

Guangdong Province (B&RE A& R

MiteREERIHE EIER)

Huali Technician College

2 37 AN 2B

Huali Technician College

237 B 2B

Huali Technician College

v 3Tl

Huali Technician College

2021512 A [FTEERTERB B AES B2 52022 BEREANERILE 237 B A 2B
FERRER IR EHEE REBERIHEEHRE

June, 2022 Logistics Management 1+X Certificate Beijing Zhong Wu Lian Logistics Huali Vocational College
System Pilot “Excellent Pilot Procurement Training Center
College” in 2021 Q021 FEW R E (db X W Bk ) 7R R BB 45 Bl R D)
Bi+x B E G EAMESA MR
1)

202246 A 22 FEMREERI+XESHERAM AL RTYEYRREBEI PO TR E B
[BEARRER
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Management Discussion and Analysis

OUTLOOK

We believe that China’s private higher and vocational education industry will show
a trend of steady growth, with unlimited potential and opportunities. Especially,
strongly favorable policies have been announced for vocational education.

In October 2021, the Central Committee of the Communist Party of China
and the General Office of the State Council issued the Opinions on Promoting
the High-Quality Development of Modern Vocational Education ( B8 7 # ) I}
REBEEHNESEELXENE L)) (the “Guidelines”). The Guidelines state that
vocational education is an important part of the national education system and
human resource development of the PRC and that it shoulders the important
responsibility of cultivating diverse talents, passing on technical skills, and
promoting employment and entrepreneurship. In the new journey of building
a socialist modernized country in an all-round way, vocational education has a
bright future and great prospects. The Guidelines also set a goal that by 2025,
vocational education shall have more distinctive types, a modern vocational
education system shall have been basically completed, and the construction of
a skill-based society shall advance in an all-round way. The school operation
landscape shall become more optimized, and the environment for school operation
shall be greatly improved. With the size of vocational undergraduate education
enrolment accounting for not less than 10% of the size of higher vocational
education enrolment, the appeal and training quality of vocational education shall

have improved significantly.

The Vocational Education Law of the People’s Republic of China ( { # # A R &£ 1
Bl B 2= # 5 %) ) (the “Vocational Education Law”), newly revised and effective
from May 1, 2022, states that vocational education is a type of education that
has the same importance as general education, an important part of the national
education system and human resource development, and an important way to
cultivate diversified talents, inherit technical skills and promote employment and
entrepreneurship. At the same time, it encourages the development of various
levels and forms of vocational education, promotes the deep participation of
enterprises in vocational education, and encourages enterprises to provide high-
quality vocational education.

The private higher and vocational education business carried out by the Group is
in line with the direction of encouragement and support of national policies, with
a strong potential for development in the future.

B RS I
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Management Discussion and Analysis
ERE TR

Business Development Strategies
In order to continue to strengthen the Group’s position as a leading private higher
education and vocational education group, the Group plans to implement the

following business strategies:

Endogenous growth

In order to further promote its endogenous growth, the Group will continue to
conduct demand-driven construction of its existing schools and new campuses,
improve and acquire school facilities and equipment, improve the quality of

education and expand student enrolment scale.

Zengcheng campus of Huali College: In April 2022, the Group began to build
three more dormitory buildings with a total gross floor area of approximately
36,000 sg. m. to meet the development needs of the school in the coming years.
These dormitory buildings are expected to be put into use in the first half of 2023

and further increase the capacity of Huali College by over 5,000 students.

Jiangmen Yamen campus of Huali Technician College: The new campus of Huali
Technician College in Jiangmen is under construction according to the original
construction progress. The total planned area of the campus is approximately
253,300 sg. m. (approximately 380 Mu), which is expected to accommodate over
20,000 students. The new campus is expected to be put into use in September
2023.

Optimizing the pricing

The Group will continue to improve the quality of education and gradually
optimize the pricing of tuition fees and boarding fees to reflect the changes in
market demand, its increasing operating costs and the adjustment of its curriculum
offerings. The Group believes that its leading position, established reputation and
high-quality teaching services will allow it to further increase tuition fees and
boarding fees, while continuing to maintain the market competitiveness of the
Group's colleges and schools.

Expanding the vocational education and training business
Leveraging on the Group’s strategic advantages in education’s operational history,
brand reputation, quality of education services, students’ employment and
resources of college-enterprise cooperation, the Group is actively expanding the
vocational education and training business, including adult continuing education
qualification improvement, vocational skill level certificate examination training and
vocational skill level certification, which is expected to become a new revenue
growth point for the Group. The Group expects that the revenue of this business
segment will achieve a considerable growth in the future.

18 China Vocational Education Holdings Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this announcement, the Company does not have other future
plans for material investments or capital assets.

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS OF REGULATORY
FRAMEWORK

Classification Registration

Our business is regulated by, among others, the Law for Promoting Private
Education of the PRC (R EAREFMBERBA B REIE) ).
2016, the Decision on Amending the Law for Promoting Private Education of the
PRC (Order of the President of the PRC No. 55) (BB R (hEARALMNE R
MEHEREE) ORE)(PEARXNMEAEFESSE 5558 ) (the “Amendment”)

was promulgated. The Amendment came into force on September 1, 2017. The

On November 7,

Amendment establishes a new classification system for private schools by whether
they are established and operated for profit-making purposes, and the sponsors of
private schools may at their own discretion choose to establish non-profit or for-

profit private schools.

According to the Implementing Measures on Classification Registration of Private
Schools (C R 2R H 85 52 & i 48 Bl ) ) (December 30, 2016), if an existing
private school chooses to register as a non-profit private school, it shall amend
its articles of association in accordance with the relevant laws, continue its school
operation and complete new registration formalities. If an existing private school
chooses to register as a for-profit private school, it shall make financial settlement
of books of account, clarify the ownership of the schools’ land, buildings and
accumulations with the consent of the relevant departments of the people’s
government at or below the provincial level, pay relevant taxes and fees, obtain
new school operation licenses, apply for re-registration and continue the school

operations.

The Amendment is silent on the specific measures regarding how existing
schools can choose to become for-profit private schools, which, according to the
Amendment, shall be regulated by the corresponding laws and regulations to be
promulgated by the local government authorities. The Guangdong government
has promulgated implementation regulations under the Amendment, including
the Implementation Opinions of the Government of Guangdong Province on
Encouraging the Operation of Education by Social Forces and Promoting the
Healthy Development of Private Education ((EREARBFAR BT E HE
ERBERERNBERRERMHEHLE R ) ) promulgated by the Government
of Guangdong Province on April 24, 2018, the Implementation Measures for the
Supervision and Administration of For-Profit Private Schools ( € B 7 & FI| 1 & i 2
WEEBREEEMIE) ), which were issued jointly by the Department of Education
of Guangdong Province, Department of Human Resources and Social Security of
Guangdong Province and Department of Market Supervision and Administration
of Guangdong Province and came into effect on December 30, 2018, and the
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Management Discussion and Analysis
ERE TR

Implementation Measures on Classification Registration of Private Schools ( € B8 7 R
B R 5 HEE R E P L)) which were issued jointly by the Department of
Education of Guangdong Province, Department of Human Resources and Social
Security of Guangdong Province, Department of Civil Affairs of Guangdong
Province, Guangdong Provincial Committee of the Communist Party of China
Organization Committee Office and Department of Market Supervision and
Administration of Guangdong Province and came into effect on December 30,

2018.

The above local regulations provide a framework procedure for the classification
and registration of existing private schools in relevant provinces as for-profit
private schools or non-profit private schools, but do not further specify the
process of classification and registration, for example, (i) when should we notify
the relevant authorities regarding our decision for our schools to be for-profit or
non-profit schools; (ii) the preferential tax treatments that may be enjoyed by a
for profit school or a non-profit school, respectively; (iii) whether respective public
funding can be obtained by a for-profit school and a non-profit school; and (iv)
respective costs for a for-profit and a non-profit school to obtain land use rights.

Under the existing regulatory environment and based on the current interpretation
of the Amendment and the relevant implementing regulations, we intend to
register our three schools as for-profit private schools subject to the further
detailed local rules and regulations regarding the conversion of existing schools
as and when promulgated and brought into effect by relevant local government
authorities.

There are uncertainties regarding the interpretation and application of the
Amendment with respect to various aspects of the operations of private schools,
such as the respective preferential tax treatment which may be enjoyed by for-
profit private schools and non-profit private schools. Accordingly, as of the date of
this announcement, we were not able to fully evaluate or quantify the potential
impact that the implementation of the Amendment may have on our business
operations.

The Implementation Rules
On April 7, 2021, the State Council issued the Implementation Rules for the Law
for Promoting Private Education of the PRC ( (FEAREFMBRFHUBERELE N
& 5] ) ) (the “Implementation Rules”) and the Implementation Rules have been
effective from September 1, 2021.

Based on our current understanding and interpretation of the Implementation
Rules, there would not be any substantive implications for the legal framework
of any of our PRC operation. We intend to register our three schools as for-
profit private schools in light of the Amendment and the relevant implementing
regulations in effect.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Pursuant to the Implementation Rules, public schools shall not sponsor or
participate in sponsoring for-profit private schools while public schools of
vocational education could absorb the capital, technology, management and other
elements of enterprises to sponsor or participate in sponsoring for-profit private
schools of vocational education.

In addition, the Implementation Rules will not have any impact on our expansion
strategy through acquisition.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group's revenue mainly represents income derived from tuition fees and
boarding fees for the education services provided in the normal course at its PRC
operating schools. For the year ended August 31, 2022, the Group’s revenue was
approximately RMB907.8 million, representing an increase of approximately 3.0%
year-on-year from approximately RMB881.7 million for the corresponding period of
last year, which was attributable to the increases in both student enrolment and
average tuition fees during the Reporting Period.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales consists primarily of staff costs, depreciation and amortisation, joint
tuition support fees, school consumables, property management and maintenance
fees, utilities expenses and others. For the year ended August 31, 2022, the
Group’s cost of sales amounted to approximately RMB425.6 million, increased by
approximately 3.5% year-on-year from approximately RMB411.1 million for the
year ended August 31, 2021.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

For the year ended August 31, 2022, the Group recorded a gross profit of
approximately RMB482.2 million, representing an increase of approximately 2.5%
year-on-year from approximately RMB470.5 million for the year ended August 31,
2021. For the year ended August 31, 2022, the Group achieved a gross profit
margin of 53.1% down by 0.3 percentage points year-on-year as compared with
the corresponding period of last year. The growth in gross profit was mainly
attributable to the increasing average tuition fees and student enrolment, while
partially offset by the increase in cost of sales for the year ended August 31,
2022.

Selling Expenses

Selling expenses, primarily consisting of marketing staff costs, promotion expenses
and other expenses, decreased by approximately 23.8% from approximately
RMB26.1 million for the year ended August 31, 2021 to approximately RMB19.9
million for the year ended August 31, 2022, which was due to a decrease in
promotion expenses resulting from the change in marketing strategies for the
2021/2022 academic year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
ERE TR

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses primarily consist of administrative staff costs, traveling and
entertainment expenses, depreciation of property, plant and equipment relating
to office buildings, office expenses, utilities expenses, auditors’ remuneration and
other miscellaneous expenses. Administrative expenses increased by approximately
11.6%, from RMB103.2 million for the year ended August 31, 2021 to
approximately RMB115.2 million for the year ended August 31, 2022.

Other Income

Other income primarily consists of rental income, government subsidies, training
service income, bookselling income and others. For the year ended August 31,
2022, the Group recorded other income of approximately RMB35.9 million,
representing an increase of approximately 2.3% year-on-year from approximately
RMB35.1 million for the year ended August 31, 2021.

Other Gains/(Losses) — Net

Other gains/(losses) — net primarily consist of compensation fee for the
Conversion of Huali College, net exchange gains/(losses), losses on disposals of
property, plant and equipment, fair value gains on investment properties and
others. For the year ended August 31, 2022, the Group’s other gains amounted
to approximately RMB1.1 million, representing an increase of approximately
RMB153.0 million year-on-year compared with approximately RMB151.9 million
losses for the year ended August 31, 2021. It was mainly attributable to the
compensation fee for the Conversion of Huali College for the corresponding
period of last year.

Finance Expenses — Net

The Group's finance expenses — net include any costs incurred by interest
expenses on bank and other borrowings (after deducting amounts capitalised
in the cost of property, plant and equipment), interest expenses on discount of
compensation payable for the Conversion of Huali College and interest income
generated from bank deposits. For the year ended August 31, 2022, the Group
recorded finance expenses of approximately RMB111.1 million, representing an
increase of approximately 75.0% year-on-year as compared with approximately
RMB63.5 million for the year ended August 31, 2021, which was mainly
attributable to the increase in bank and other borrowings raised during the
year ended August 31, 2022. For the year ended August 31, 2022, the Group
recorded finance income of approximately RMB6.1 million, representing a decrease
of approximately 30.7% year-on-year as compared with approximately RMB8.7
million for the year ended August 31, 2021.

Profit Before Taxation

For the year ended August 31, 2022, the Group recorded a profit before taxation
of approximately RMB278.9 million, representing an increase of approximately
64.4% year-on-year from approximately RMB169.6 million for the year ended
August 31, 2021.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Taxation

For the year ended August 31, 2022, the Group recorded approximately RMB19.2
million in taxation, representing a decrease of approximately 26.8% year-on-year
from approximately RMB26.2 million for the year ended August 31, 2021. As of
August 31, 2022, the Group did not have any taxation related disputes with any
authorities, or any other unresolved taxation issues.

Adjusted Net Profit

Adjusted net profit under non-HKFRSs financial measures is defined as profit
for the year attributable to owners of the Company excluding non-recurring
compensation fee for the Conversion of Huali College in May 2021, interest
expenses on discount of compensation payable for the Conversion of Huali
College, net exchange gains/(losses) and fair value gains on investment properties.
As such items are non-recurring in nature and not related to the performance of
the Group’s operation, the Directors consider that the presentation of the Group’s
adjusted net profit under non-HKFRSs financial measures by eliminating the impact
of certain non-recurring items can reflect the operational performance better
during the respective years. Furthermore, the Group’s management also uses
the non-HKFRSs financial measures to assess the Group’s operating performance
and formulate business plans. The Group believes that the non-HKFRSs financial
measures provide useful information to the investors about its core business
operations, which they can use to evaluate the Group’s operating results and
understand its consolidated results of operations in the same manner as the
management.

BIEE R wm Ko AT

Bi1E

HZE20298A31HLFE - AEEEEHE
HARB1928ET - WEIZ£20214F8A31H
IEFEHARB262EE T T F426.8% ° #
F2022F8A318 - A E 3 4 B AT {7] BT 6
FEEAMABEHEEEZE  TEESMEMK
FRORM B IS RE -

RARMR
FEERUMBMESENA B ETET KA
BEOENERRADRER AREFATE - T
B2V F5AEV BREBRIFLEHEE
BN ET SREERMEERENC AN SH
X oERWsE(BR)FERKENELT
B HRZERERIFLTFEL  EA
SENELERNEN BEFERR BBRER
ETHRRUEEAENZEMZII A EERKIE
BRMBMEENR B ET AT ORHE
AR BEEHHMRREFENLERE - It
S AKBEERENRCRIETEVBRELE
AP B ETAFEARENLERA R
EEBEE - AKEBE FEEYBHHRS
RAUBHETERREERHTEHELRE
BEZOEBRENAREN REETAR
AR E K2 KA B AR A
TRERAEBENSHEEES -

FEBEREERERA A 23
2022 FE | L



Management Discussion and Analysis
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The following table sets forth a reconciliation of the Group’s adjusted net profit

under non-HKFRSs financial measures for the years indicated to that prepared in

accordance with HKFRSs financial measures:

TR AL E N PTR FE A IEE B IR
EEAMBAETEZTHNEBBANERE
BB MEERBEALN 2 HE

A

Year ended August 31,
BZESH3MALEE

2022 2021
2022%F 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T R ARETT
Reconciliation of net profit to adjusted MFEQSTHBEAR 2 H R
net profit
Net profit for the year FELF 259,784 143,459
— Compensation fee for the Conversion of —EVEREREEED
Huali College®™ — 150,849
— Interest expenses on discount of compensation — J& {< 4 37 £ f7 ## 3R 7 (8 X IE K
payable for the Conversion of Huali College® B AR A B @ 4,736 1,159
— Net exchange (gains)/losses® —EH () BIEFEEY (482) 18,242
— Fair value gains on investment properties® — BEWE I FERGEY (200) (14,561)
Adjusted net profit under non-HKFRSs FEBUBBREEANMBAESET
financial measures By 45 38 2 4 R 263,838 299,148

Notes:

24

Compensation fee for the Conversion of Huali College mainly represents a one-off
compensation fee to Guangdong University of Technology incurred during the year ended
August 31, 2021. The Group did not expect to incur compensation fees in the future years.

The compensation fee for the Conversion of Huali College has been agreed to be
paid in three installments and in an aggregate amount of RMB160,000,000, of which
RMB53,340,000, RMB53,330,000 and RMB53,330,000 shall be paid by October 31, 2021,
October 31, 2022 and October 31, 2023 respectively. The compensation fee was therefore
recognized at the fair value of RMB150,849,000 by discounting the future cash flows using
the effective interest rate. Upon the payment of such one-off compensation fee, no such
discount impact would accrue.

Net exchange (gains)/losses represent foreign exchange (gains)/losses resulting from the
settlement of foreign currency transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange
rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies.

Fair value gains on investment properties represent the increase of market value of the
investment properties held for the year end August 31, 2022 compared to that of previous
year. It's non-recurring in nature and not related to the performance of the Group’s
operation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Property, Plant and Equipment

As at August 31, 2022, the Group’s property, plant and equipment amounted
to approximately RMB4,152.6 million, representing an increase of approximately
12.0% year-on-year from approximately RMB3,708.9 million recorded as at August
31, 2021. Such increase was a result of the establishment of new campus in
Jiangmen, Guangdong Province, including the construction of Jiangmen campus
of Huali College and the construction of Jiangmen campus of Huali Technician
College.

Capital Expenditures

For the year ended August 31, 2022, the Group recorded approximately
RMB605.4 million in capital expenditures, representing a decrease of approximately
47.3% from approximately RMB1,148.5 million for the year ended August 31,
2021, which was mainly due to the payment for the land purchase of Jiangmen
campus of Huali College during the corresponding period of last year, and the
decrease in the expenditure for constructing new campus buildings for the year

ended August 31, 2022 as compared with the corresponding period of last year.

Bank Balances and Cash

As at August 31, 2022, the Group had bank balances and cash of approximately
RMB805.3 million, representing a decrease of approximately 9.8% from
approximately RMB893.0 million as at August 31, 2021.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Debt Ratio
As at August 31, 2022, the Group had liquid funds (representing bank balances
and cash and financial assets at amortized cost) of approximately RMB805.3
million (August 31, 2021: RMB899.4 million) and borrowings of approximately
RMB2,449.4 million (August 31, 2021: RMB2,320.4 million).

The Group's debt ratio as at August 31, 2022, represented by borrowings as a
percentage of total assets, was 36.7% (August 31, 2021: 36.7%).

Foreign Exchange Risk Management

For the Group’s operation in the PRC, the major revenue and expenses are
denominated in RMB, while there are certain monetary assets and monetary
liabilities that are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and United States dollars,
which would expose the Group to foreign exchange risk. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management
of the Company monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure when the need arises.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
ERE TR

Material Acquisitions and Disposals
The Group did not have any material acquisitions or disposals for the year ended
August 31, 2022.

Charge on the Group’s Assets

As at August 31, 2022, the Group pledged the charging right of the service fees
from Huali Technician College, Huali Vocational College and Huali College, owned
by a group entity according to the contractual arrangements and the equity
interest of certain group entities as securities for the banking facilities granted to
the Group.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other material charge on the Group’s assets
as at August 31, 2022.

Contingent Liabilities
As at August 31, 2022, the Group had no significant contingent liabilities.
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Directors and Senior Management

As at the date of this report, our Board consists of seven Directors, including four
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. ZHANG Zhifeng (3R & &), aged 56, is the founder of the Group. He was
first appointed as the first Director on May 24, 2016, was redesignated as the
chairman of the Board and an executive Director on December 18, 2017 and was
appointed as chief executive officer on November 19, 2021. Mr. Zhang was also
appointed as the chairman of the Nomination Committee on August 16, 2019. He
is primarily responsible for the overall management and strategic development of
the Group.

In addition to his contribution to the Group, Mr. Zhang was a member of the 8th
and 9th Zengcheng City Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (FEIARBUAMEERIGHME/VE - ENLEZE®) and a spedial
committee member of the 11th Guangdong Provincial Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference (FRIARBUAHRSHFE +—EERE L
& € ). Mr. Zhang was awarded “Special Contribution Award for Private Education
of the 70th Anniversary of the Founding of the People’s Republic of China” ( & &
70 EF RWHE R EBLER) by the Institute of Educational Chinese Academy of
Management Science (R BB BRI 2 Xt E B2 FTHT ) and China Academy
of Management Science Advisory Department (# Bl BRI 2 LA 7030 ) in April
2019.

Mr. Zhang's dedication to education has been well recognized. The following sets
out the awards received by him:
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Date Awards Awarding authority
H #1g TEREE
July 2005 “2005 Outstanding Persons of Education Jointly presented by Chinese Academy of

2005%F7 A

September 2005

200549 A

Innovation in China” (“2005% B £ H 2 &
BT A"

20052 B4 H# A &% A%

“Qutstanding Contribution Award” presented
by Innovation and Development of Private
Education in China and Educational, Scientific
and Cultural Award of Anna Chan Chennault
Campaign (FEIRMR#ABAIFTEER - REE
BRXBRYEH FHREBE")

TERMAE I EER  REBHPICER
R HRERE]

Management Science (B & 32 &} £ fff 58
Fz), China Society for Futures Studies (4 E
K RAFFEE) and School of Education, Peking
University (3t R K 2 B £[7)

PREEREHRER  PRERKRHFARE RIER
RERE LA BE

Jointly presented by Office for Educational,
Scientific and Cultural Award of Anna Chan
Chennault (B & 182 Bl X 4 X =) and
China Adult Education Association (4 B A
HEHE)
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Directors and Senior Management

EEZkeREEE

SEL R

Date Awards Awarding authority
HH ® 18 TR
April 2019 “Special Contribution Award for Private Jointly presented by Institute of Educational

Education of the 70th Anniversary of the
Founding of the People’s Republic of China”
(EEI70/B F R B ¥k 5 /L 59

2019543 [ 22 B 7018 F R P 25 45 7 & Bl 42

September 2020 “Qutstanding Persons for 40 Years of Private
Education of Guangdong” (BRR##%E M+
BERBERAY)

20204973 [EREPHENTBEFRETHAY]

Chinese Academy of Management Science (FF
B 5 1 R 2 8 7 B 20 B BHE2 7T FA) and China
Academy of Management Science Advisory
Department (F Bl & 22 %} 22 ff 5% B 76 38 30)

BB E 2R B B 2R TR EE R
HE2 8 9% Bt = R 2B B & AR %

Guangdong Province Private Education

Association (ERAERBHREH )

ERERMRBEHE

Mr. Zhang is the father of Mr. Zhang Yude, an executive Director.

Mr. YE Yaming (¥ % 83), aged 63, was appointed as an executive Director and
chief executive officer of the Company on December 18, 2017, and resigned as
chief executive officer of the Company with effect from November 19, 2021. Mr.
Ye was also appointed as a member of the Remuneration Committee on August
16, 2019. He is primarily responsible for the overall operation and management of
the Group.

Mr. Ye's dedication to education has been well recognized. The following sets out
the awards received by him:
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Date Awards Awarding authority
HE 218 R
September 1994 “Qutstanding Educator of Vocational Training in  Guangdong Provincial Labor Department (R &
Guangdong Province” (BR A B EHFIEF “5 B EE) (currently known as the Department
2 RiM) of Human Resources and Social Security of
Guangdong Province (BER & A JEIRME &R
f% E2))
199449 A [ & 2R & Bt 3 15 51 B 55 A0 | BRESHE(RBEREANERMLSRE
EE)
March 1998 Advanced Worker of the Labor System in the Qingyuan Labor Bureau (j8 & M % ) (currently

City (@M BB RAREETIESR)

known as Qingyuan Municipal Human

v

Resources and Social Security Bureau (jB#& ™M A

HE R ERER)

19984 3 A EMBBRFEETIEE BEMEBHREARFEMANERNESRE
=)
September 2004 “Guangzhou Outstanding Educator” (BN /1 (& Jointly presented by Guangzhou Education
FHEMEHE LIEH)) Bureau (E M™% & /3) and Guangzhou
Education Foundation (B A H £ )
200449 A (BN ESHE(HEIEE)] BMNTHEREENTHEES GBS ER
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. ZHANG Yude (3R # ), aged 31, was appointed as a non-executive Director
of the Company on December 18, 2017 and re-designated from a non-executive
Director to an executive Director and appointed as the chief operating officer of
the Company on November 19, 2021. He is primarily responsible for the overall
operation of the Group.

Mr. Zhang has been the assistant to the chairman of Huali Investment since
December 2015. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhang served as a financial
analyst at Mandarin Investment Group in California from May 2014 to December
2015.

Mr. Zhang Yude is the son of Mr. Zhang Zhifeng, the chairman of the Board and
an executive Director.

Mr. ZOU Kang (3 B), aged 55, was appointed as an executive Director of
the Company on November 19, 2021. He is primarily responsible for vocational
training business of the Group and daily operation and management of Huali
Technician College.

Mr. Zou has intensive experience in both management and research for technical
education and professional training. He has been the President and the Secretary
of Party Committee of Guangdong Province Huali Technician College ( R & #E 3L
K B2 Bt ) since September 2018. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zou successively
served as the faculty member, the deputy director of Academic & Student Affairs
Department, the director of President’s Office, the President Assistant, the Deputy
President, the President, and the Secretary of Party General Branch of Jiangmen
Technician College (VTP AIE6T ) (previously known as JTFIT @ & TE2R),
from December 1992 to August 2018. He was awarded the Provincial Prominent
Teacher of Technician Colleges of Guangdong in 1995, the Prominent President
of Jiangmen City in 2002, and the Prominent President of Guangdong Technician
Colleges in 2011.

Mr. Zou obtained a Bachelor of Science degree in Mathematics from the Jiangxi
Normal University (JT 75 Al 3 K £8) in the PRC in July 1988 and obtained the
Training Course Certificate of Graduate Students from the South China Normal
University (% 5 AT # KX £) in the PRC in May 1996. He obtained the Senior
Lecturer Professional Title in Mathematics in 1999 and was selected as the
national supervisor of technician colleges by the Ministry of Human Resources and
Social Security of the PRC in 2009.
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Directors and Senior Management

EEZkeREEE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. CHIU Lai Kuen Susanna (i B 18), M.H., J.P., aged 62, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director and the chairman of the Audit Committee
on July 17, 2020. She is primarily responsible for supervising the compliance and
corporate governance matters of the Group and providing independent opinions

and advice to the Board.

Ms. Chiu has been serving as an independent non-executive director of Nanyang
Commercial Bank since May 2018; an independent non-executive director of
Kato (Hong Kong) Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2189), since May 2019; an independent non-
executive director of Huijing Holdings Company Limited, a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 9968), since December
2019; and an independent director of Songz Automobile Air Conditioning Co.
Ltd. (LB mMA2MREZREZFARM AR A A ), a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (stock code: 002454), since May 2020; an independent non-
executive director of China Oilfield Services Limited, a company both listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601808) and the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 2883), since June 2021. From 2006 to 2019, she served as
a senior vice president, a director (Eastern and Central China) and a consultant
in various member companies of the Fung Group, which is principally engaged
in trading, distribution, logistics and retailing businesses. She was previously the
chief operating officer and the senior vice president of business development
and corporate affairs of DVN Holdings Company Limited (currently known as
Frontier Services Group Limited), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 500).

Ms. Chiu is currently a member of The Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference of Shanghai, the council treasurer of the Education University of Hong
Kong, and a member of the Women’s Commission. Ms. Chiu was awarded the
Medal of Honor by the Hong Kong Government in 2013 for her achievement and
dedication in public services, especially in relation to the accounting profession.
She was also awarded the “Outstanding Business Women Award” by Hong Kong
Commercial Daily in 2017.

Ms. Chiu graduated with Class One Honours in Economics from the University of
Sheffield in the United Kingdom in 1982 and obtained an Executive Master of
Business Administration degree from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in Hong
Kong in 1997.
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. YANG Ying (# %), aged 64, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member
of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee on August 16, 2019. He
is primarily responsible for supervising the compliance and corporate governance
matters of the Group and providing independent opinions and advice to the
Board.

Mr. Yang is a professor of the School of Economics and the dean of Investment
Economics Department at Jinan University (2 KX ). Mr. Yang joined Jinan
University in April 1988, at which he was successively a teaching assistant, lecturer
and associate professor at the School of Economics before his current position.
Prior to joining Jinan University, Mr. Yang was a teaching assistant in finance at
Guangdong Institute for Nationalities ( EHR RIEZE 4L K ) from September 1987
to April 1988.

Apart from his teaching career, Mr. Yang has played an active role in civic
engagements. He was a member of the Standing Committee of the 11th and
12th People’s Congress of Guangdong Province (5 +—ERE+—EEERE AKX
# Z @) and is the vice president of Council of the 1st Think Tank Association for
the Promotion of Economic and Scientific Development of Guangdong Province

(FEEREEENBEREEREGHEES).

The following table also sets out Mr. Yang's key publications:
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2002 “New Theory of Hong Kong Economy” (F 4  Jinan University Publishing House (2 & A 2 [ b
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2016 “Preliminary Study on the Basic Ideas about China Development (1 B 2 &)
Construction of the GPRD Free Trade Area”
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Directors and Senior Management

EEZkeREEE

Mr. DING Yi (T %), aged 59, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director and a member of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee on August 16, 2019. He is primarily responsible
for supervising the compliance and corporate governance matters of the Group
and providing independent opinions and advice to the Board.

Mr. Ding has been a teacher at South China Normal University ( 2= £ A &5 K £ )
since July 2001 and has been serving as a professor at the School of Music of
the university since September 2006. Previously, Mr. Ding was a solo artist of
Guangdong Song & Dance Ensemble ( & 2 3% £ Bl Bt ) from September 1989 to
September 2001.

Mr. Ding has been a standing committee member of the 11th Guangdong
Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference ( &
BEARBGGHAEAEZEFE T —EEBREZEE) since January 2013.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Jiao Jianpeng (£ & l§), aged 38, was appointed as a vice president of the
Company on August 4, 2022. He is mainly responsible for the adult academic
education business, civil servant training business and postgraduate entrance

examination training business of the Group.

Mr. Jiao joined the Group in 2008. Since July 2008, Mr. Jiao successively served
as the secretary of the chairman’s office and a deputy director of the procurement
management centre of Huali Investment. From July 2008 to October 2017, Mr.
Jiao served as a full-time teacher in the Department of Mechanical and Electrical
Engineering of Guangzhou Huali College. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Jiao
worked as an assistant engineer in Guangdong Light Industry Machinery Co., Ltd.
from August 2007 to July 2008.

Mr. Jiao received his bachelor’s degree in Mechanical Design, Manufacturing and
Automation from Guangdong University of Technology in June 2007.
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Lin Zhixiang (# & #), aged 36, was appointed as a vice president of
the Company on August 4, 2022. He is mainly responsible for the investment
and financing and investor relations, development of academic qualification
improvement business, and vocational energy-saving training business of the
Group.

Mr. Lin has been the assistant to the chairman of Huali Investment since March
2021. From July 2020 to February 2021, Mr. Lin served as a deputy general
manager of Huali Property, mainly responsible for financing.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Lin served as a sales manager of Mitsui & Co.
(Guangdong) Ltd from July 2009 to June 2012, mainly responsible for domestic
and foreign trade of non-ferrous metals. From July 2012 to November 2014, Mr.
Lin served as an account manager of Guangzhou Zengcheng Sub-branch of China
Merchants Bank, responsible for corporate business marketing. From December
2014 to August 2016, Mr. Lin served as the head of the business department of
Guangzhou Zengcheng Sub-branch of China Merchants Bank, mainly responsible
for the corporate business of such sub-branch. Subsequently from August 2016
to June 2020, he served as the assistant to the president of the Guangzhou
Zengcheng Sub-branch of Industrial Bank, mainly responsible for assisting the
president in managing the corporate financial team, developing external customers,
and providing financial services.

Mr. Lin obtained his bachelor’s degree in International Economics and Trade from
Guangdong University of Foreign Studies ( EEER4NEINE AEZ ) in June 2009.
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Directors and Senior Management

EEZkeREEE

Ms. Liang Huizhen (R £ &), aged 47, was appointed as a vice president of
the Company on August 4, 2022. She is mainly responsible for the financial
management of the Group.

Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Liang worked as an accountant of Shenzhen
Zhongwei Industrial Co., Ltd. and then worked as an accountant of Guangzhou
Hengchi Industrial Co., Ltd. from 2000 to 2001.

Ms. Liang joined the Group in 2001. From August 2001 to September 2005,
Ms. Liang served as an accountant of the financial management centre of Huali
Investment. From October 2005 to May 2006, she served as the director of
the audit department of the financial management centre of Huali Investment.
From June 2006 to October 2009, Ms. Liang served as the office director of the
financial management centre of Huali Investment. From November 2009 to August
2013, Ms. Liang served as a deputy director of the financial management centre
of Huali Investment. From September 2013 to July 2022, Ms. Liang served as the
director of the financial management centre of Huali Investment, responsible for
organizing financial management.

Ms. Liang has been a teacher of the accounting and financial management majors
of Guangzhou Huali College and Guangzhou Huali Science and Technology
Vocational College since 2007.

In June 2009, Ms. Liang passed and completed the undergraduate course in
accounting jointly organized by Beijing Technology and Business University and
China Central Radio and Television University, and graduated with a bachelor’s

degree in Management.
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Directors and Senior Management

Ms. Lei Yingran (& % ), aged 29, joined the Group in 2015. Ms. Lei was
appointed as a joint company secretary of the Company on May 17, 2021.
Ms. Lei has been a deputy director of the office of the Board since December
2019. From March 2016 to November 2019, Ms. Lei served as the administrative
secretary of Huali Investment responsible for the listing matters of the Company
such as legal due diligence, verification of prospectus and administrative archive
keeping. From August 2015 to February 2016, Ms. Lei served as an English

teacher in Huali Vocational College.

Ms. Lei obtained her bachelor’s degree in English from Guangdong University of
Foreign Studies ( BEERIMNEINERER ) in July 2015.
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Directors’ Report
EERHRE

The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended
August 31, 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the operation of private higher and vocational
education institutions. Analysis of the principal activities of the Group during the
Reporting Period is set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at August 31, 2022 are set
out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The results of the Group for the year ended August 31, 2022 are set out in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on pages 146 to 147.

A fair review of the business of the Group during the year and its likely
future development and outlook, important events affecting the Company that
have occurred since the end of the financial year, an analysis of the Group’s
performance during the year using financial key performance indicators,
discussions on the Group’s environmental policies and performance, details
regarding the Group’s compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group, and the Group's key relationships
with stakeholders as required under Schedule 5 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) are set out in “Chairman’s Statement”,
“Management Discussion and Analysis”, “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” and “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report and all such
discussions constitute part of this report.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Risks associated with the Structured
Contracts and the actions taken to mitigate the risks” in this Directors’ Report, the
following list is a summary of certain principal risks and uncertainties faced by the

Group:

o Our business depends on our ability to maintain or raise the tuition fee
rates and boarding fee rates we charge at our schools;

o Our business and results of operations depend on the number of students

we may admit, which in turn is subject to the admission quotas approved
by relevant education authorities and limited by the capacity of our school
facilities;

o We are exposed to concentration risks as all of our schools are located in
Guangdong Province.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) in compliance
with code provision F.1.1 of the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report (the "CG Code”) with effect from December 23, 2019.

According to the Dividend Policy, (i) no less than 30% of the distributable net
profit attributable to the shareholders of the Company may be distributed to
the Shareholders and (ii) dividends may be distributed twice a year after the
announcement of the interim results and the full year results, respectively.

Any amount of dividends we pay will be at the discretion of our Directors and will
depend on inter alia, general business conditions and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Company; the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;
the Group’s expected capital requirements and future expansion plans; statutory
and regulatory restrictions; contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by
the Company to the Shareholders or by the subsidiaries of the Company to the
Company; taxation considerations; Shareholders’ interests; and other factors that

the Board deems relevant.

Any declaration and payment as well as the amount of dividends will be subject
to our constitutional documents and the relevant laws. Even if the Board decides
to recommend and declare dividends, the form, frequency and amount of the
dividends will be subject to the factors as disclosed above and such other factors

affecting the Group.

The Dividend Policy will continue to be reviewed from time to time and there is
no assurance that dividends will be recommended or declared in any particular
amount for any given period.
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DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to declare any final dividend for the year ended
August 31, 2022 (year ended August 31, 2021: HK$0.0502 (equivalent
to RMB0.0409) per Share, amounting to HK$60,240,000 (equivalent to
RMB49,108,000)).

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM will be held on January 13, 2023. Notice convening the forthcoming
AGM will be published and dispatched to the Shareholders in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, January
10, 2023 to Friday, January 13, 2023 both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of Shares will be registered. The record date for the entitlement to attend
and vote at the AGM is Friday, January 13, 2023. In order to be eligible to attend
and vote at the forthcoming AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong share
registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712—
1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, January 9, 2023.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of changes in the share capital of the Company during the year ended
August 31, 2022 are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the
year ended August 31, 2022 are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial

statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during the year ended
August 31, 2022 are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.
As at August 31, 2022, the Company’s reserve available for distribution to equity
holders amounted to approximately RMB602.4 million.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended August 31, 2022 and up to the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Zhifeng (Chairman of the Board)

Mr. Ye Yaming

Mr. Zhang Yude (re-designated from a non-executive Director to an executive
Director on November 19, 2021)

Mr. Zou Kang (appointed on November 19, 2021)

Mr. Ma Zhixiong (appointed on January 20, 2021 and resigned on November 19,
2021)

Independent non-executive Directors
Ms. Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna, M.H., J.P.

Mr. Yang Ying

Mr. Ding Yi

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Company are
set out in “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

Pursuant to Article 16.19 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Zhang Zhifeng, Mr.
Ye Yaming and Ms. Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna, M.H., J.P. shall retire by rotation and,
being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors
an annual written confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company considers all the independent non-executive Directors

are independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a period of three years commencing from November 19, 2021 or
August 16, 2022. The term of each of the service contracts shall end when the
service contract is terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
service contract or by either party giving to the other party not less than three

months’ prior notice in writing.

Each of independent non-executive Directors has entered into an appointment
letter with the Company for an initial period of three years commencing from July
17, 2020 or August 16, 2022 which may be terminated in accordance with the
terms and conditions of the appointment letter or by either party serving on the
other party a prior written notice of not less than three months.

None of the Directors has entered into a service contract which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of compensation

(other than statutory compensation).
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CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Zou Kang was appointed as an executive Director with effect from November
19, 2021.

Mr. Zhang Yude was re-designated from a non-executive Director to an executive
Director on November 19, 2021.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no change in the information
which is required to be disclosed and has been disclosed by the Directors pursuant
to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at August 31, 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
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the SFO), or which were recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant to SRBEECERIAE) AR IRIEFE
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock %‘%&Hﬁg\ |,,<1§|J93352 ,,\1%Tm’jpaﬁmz%
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows: KB RBRBRETAHENG AR F
ﬁx%Z%m& BT
Approximate
percentage of
Number of shareholding
Name of Director or chief executive Capacity/Nature of interest shares held in the Company®
ESRFETHABESE B REEMEE FrEERB & B8 HAEABRER
BA B O
Mr. Zhang Zhifeng® Settlor of trust 900,000,000(L) 75.0%
RS EFEZEFEA
Mr. Zhang Yude® Beneficiary of trust 900,000,000(L) 75.0%
SRR 1R S A0 BEEZ@m A

(L) — Long position

Notes:
(1) As at August 31, 2022, the total number of issued Shares was 1,200,000,000 Shares.
(2) The sole shareholder of Huali Education is Trust Co. The entire equity interest in Trust Co

is held on trust by UBS Nominees Limited for UBS Trustees (B.V.l.) Limited. UBS Trustees
(B.V.1.) Limited is the trustee of HL-Diamond Trust. HL-Diamond Trust is a discretionary trust
established by Mr. Zhang Zhifeng as the settlor and with Mr. Zhang Zhifeng and his spouse
and children as the beneficiaries. Therefore, each of Mr. Zhang Zhifeng and his spouse
and children, Trust Co and UBS Trustees (B.V.l.) Limited is deemed to be interested in the
900,000,000 Shares held by Huali Education.

(3) Mr. Zhang Yude (the son of Mr. Zhang Zhifeng) is one of the beneficiaries of HL-Diamond

Trust.
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Save as disclosed above, as at August 31, 2022, none of the Directors or the
chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any interest or
short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company
or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that
was required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
required to be recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the Reporting Period was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement that would
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in,
or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, and none of the
Directors or any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 were granted
any right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the Company or any
other body corporate or had exercised any such right.

Directors’ Report
EERHRE

B ESCPT#ERE SN - A20229F 8 A31H - M
EENARAEETRAEBRARASEM
BORE (EEREH LB GRIIFEXVER) 8 ik
N HERDRERETHEERRRSES
REFESFRPEGRIEXVEETRFESD FA
HMEARBRBMIMz EMERERAR (B
BERBES MR E R 2 BEEIRRE F
B REA 2R NORR)  HALENIRE
xR BRI EI2EABENELMAZ
EREREIRE  ARBEETIEMNG A
RAI RS RKR -

EEWBEROIEEE 2ER

BRAmEMPEEI NG BEAEAE
A - AR E N H AR B R BB AT SRR
ZH O SEZRERKBAR R REMEAM
EANBRBNROXEREMESNEGE BE
ERRENLEBRIBEAT FRMEERT
RIBEARB A EMEABEENRANKE
B s 2 R RITETMEREER -

REBEREERERA R 41
2022 FE | L



Directors’ Report
EERHRE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at August 31, 2022, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the following
persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) had interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which fall to be disclosed to
the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

FTERRRARORMEBERGZ
BERAXE

20226 8A31H - BEFHAM - U TAL
(WIHFEESHARAETETHRAB)RRMS
HEARG T B IREE S LA E GG EXVED
FE2RE3ID MG AR AR B &R T
BN AR AIRIBE S KR KHIZ£336
BEETFNEZMANEZIAE ¢

Approximate
percentage
Number of of shareholding
Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest shares held in the Company®
RREZ®E B EENEE FERGHE hA DR RAEMN
A E DO
UBS Trustees (B.V.l.) Limited® Trustee 900,000,000(L) 75.0%
UBS Trustees (B.V.l.) Limited® 2t A
UBS Nominees Limited? Interest in controlled corporation 900,000,000(L) 75.0%
UBS Nominees Limited® REEE R
Trust Co®@ Interest in controlled corporation 900,000,000(L) 75.0%
Trust Co® TEE
Huali Education® Beneﬁoal owner 900,000,000(L) 75.0%
EUHFD ERBEA A
51job.Inc Beneficial owner 68,331,000(L) 5.7%
51job.Inc EmBEAA

(L) — Long position
Notes:

(1) As at August 31, 2022, the total number of issued Shares was 1,200,000,000 Shares.

(2) The sole shareholder of Huali Education is Trust Co. The entire equity interest in Trust Co
is held on trust by UBS Nominees Limited for UBS Trustees (B.V.l.) Limited. UBS Trustees
(B.V.1.) Limited is the trustee of HL-Diamond Trust. HL-Diamond Trust is a discretionary trust
established by Mr. Zhang Zhifeng as the settlor and with Mr. Zhang Zhifeng and his spouse
and children as the beneficiaries. Therefore, each of Mr. Zhang Zhifeng and his spouse
and children, Trust Co and UBS Trustees (B.V.l.) Limited is deemed to be interested in the
900,000,000 Shares held by Huali Education.

Save as disclosed above, as at August 31, 2022, the Directors were not aware of
any interests or short positions owned by any persons (other than the Directors
or chief executive of the Company) in the Shares or underlying Shares which fall
to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.
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RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On July 21, 2021, the Company adopted the Restricted Share Award Scheme
(the “Scheme”) in which any employee (whether full time or part time) of any
member of the Group, in each case, in the sole and absolute discretion of the
Board, who have contributed or will contribute to the growth and development of

the Group (the “Eligible Participant”), will be entitled to participate.

Purposes and Objectives

The purposes and objectives of the Scheme are (i) to recognise the contributions
by certain Eligible Participants and to provide them with incentives in order to
retain them for the continual operation and development of the Group; (ii) to
attract suitable personnel for further development of the Group; and (iii) to
provide certain Eligible Participants with a direct economic interest in attaining a
long-term relationship with the Group.

Duration

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the Board pursuant
to the Scheme rules, the Scheme shall be valid and effective for 10 years
commencing from the date of the first grant of any award.

Scheme Limit

The Board shall not make any further award of awarded Shares which will result
in the number of Shares awarded by the Board under the Scheme exceeding 2%
of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time.

The maximum number of Shares which may be awarded to an Eligible Participant
under the Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the

Company from time to time.

Share purchase pursuant to the Restricted Share Award
Scheme

On July 21, 2021, the Board resolved to cause to pay an amount of cash to the
Trustee, namely Kastle Limited, for the purchase of the Shares on and/or off the
market at appropriate time for the operation of the Scheme at any time at its

discretion.

For more details of the Scheme, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated July 21, 2021.

Since July 21, 2021 and up to the date of this annual report, the Board neither
granted, lapsed or cancelled any awards nor purchase or subscribe shares from the
trustee with the trust fund.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company'’s listed securities during the Reporting Period.

BORROWINGS

As at August 31, 2022, the Group has bank and other borrowings of
approximately RMB2,449.4 million (August 31, 2021: approximately RMB2,320.4
million), details of which are disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Scheme as set out in the section headed “RESTRICTED SHARE
AWARD SCHEME" above in this report, no equity-linked agreements were entered
into by the Company during or subsisted at the end of the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions” in this
Directors’ Report and otherwise disclosed in this annual report, no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance in relation to the business of the Group to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director
or his/her connected entity was materially interested, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at any time during or at the end of the Reporting Period.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the Group’s business subsisted during the year ended August
31, 2022.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions” in this
Directors’ Report and otherwise disclosed in this annual report, no contract of
significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which the Controlling Shareholders of the Company or an entity connected with
the Controlling Shareholders had a material interest, either directly or indirectly,
subsisted during the year ended August 31, 2022.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provide that every Director or other officer of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a Director or other
officer of the Company in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in
which judgment is given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted. Such provision
was in force during the year and remains in force as at the date of this report.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision
is in force for the benefit of the Directors as required by section 470 of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) where the Report
of the Board of the Directors prepared by the Directors is approved in accordance
with section 391(1)(a) of the Companies Ordinance.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association or
the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands where the Company was incorporated,
which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing Shareholders.

RELIEF OF TAXATION

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
Shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the listed securities of

the Company.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five financial years is set out on page 245 of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Major Customers

For the year ended August 31, 2022, the Group’s customers primarily consist of
the Group’s students. The Group did not have any single customer who accounted
for more than 5% of the Group’s revenue.

Major Suppliers

For the year ended August 31, 2022, the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted
for 62.6% (for the year ended August 31, 2021: 74.1%) of the Group's total
purchases and our single largest supplier accounted for 34.9% (for the year ended
August 31, 2021: 25.6%) of the Group’s total purchases.
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As at the date of this report, except for Huali Construction and its subsidiaries,
none of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the number of
issued Shares) had any interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Please see note 33 “Related Party Transactions” in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements, which contains details of the transactions that fall under the
definition of “connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules in entering into the transactions during the Reporting
Period.

Continuing Connected Transactions

During the Reporting Period, the Group has entered into the following non-
exempt continuing connected transactions pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules:

School Properties Lease Agreement with Yunfu Bilingual
School

Background of the connected person

Yunfu Bilingual School is controlled by Mr. Zhang, our Controlling Shareholder,
chairman and executive Director through Hualiyuan Technology as the School
Sponsor. As such, Yunfu Bilingual School is a connected person of the Company
pursuant to Rule 14A.07 of the Listing Rules.

Principal terms of the school properties lease agreement with
Yunfu Bilingual School dated September 5, 2017 supplemented
by supplemental agreements dated October 9, 2017 and April 26,
2018 (the “School Properties Lease Agreement with Yunfu
Bilingual School”)

Date September 5, 2017 (supplemented on October 9, 2017 and April 26,
2018)
Parties (1) Huali Vocational College (lessor)

(2)  Yunfu Bilingual School (lessee)

Term From September 1, 2016 to August 31, 2036

Properties No 6 teaching building, No 14 student dormitory building and
No 2 sports ground located at the Planned Huali Vocational College

Yunfu Campus
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Pursuant to the School Properties Lease Agreement with Yunfu Bilingual School,
Huali Vocational College leased the relevant school properties located at the
Planned Huali Vocational College Yunfu Campus with a total gross floor area of
approximately 44,936 sg. m. to Yunfu Bilingual School at annual rental fees. Such
rental fees are determined based on the pre-agreed monthly rental price of up to
RMB23.05 per sq. m. during the term of the School Properties Lease Agreement
with Yunfu Bilingual School, and shall be paid by Yunfu Bilingual School to Huali
Vocational College on or before October 31 of each year during the term.

Transaction Amount for the Reporting Period

The amount of rental fee receivable from Yunfu Bilingual School pursuant to the
School Properties Lease Agreement with Yunfu Bilingual School for the Reporting
Period was RMB6,020,000.

For further details of the School Properties Lease Agreement with Yunfu Bilingual
School, please refer to the section headed “Connected Transactions — Continuing
Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus.

Framework Properties Lease Agreement with Hualiyuan
Technology

Background of the connected person

The equity interest of Hualiyuan Technology is held as to 99% by Mr. Zhang and
as to 1% by Huali Property. As such, Hualiyuan Technology is a connected person
of the Company pursuant to Rule 14A.07 of the Listing Rules.

Principal terms of the Framework Properties Lease Agreement with
Hualiyuan Technology

On August 28, 2019, we entered into a framework properties lease agreement
with Hualiyuan Technology (the “Framework Properties Lease Agreement with
Hualiyuan Technology”), pursuant to which Hualiyuan Technology agreed to
lease certain residential apartments to us for a term commencing from September
1, 2019 to August 31, 2022. Pursuant to the Framework Properties Lease
Agreement with Hualiyuan Technology, the monthly rental fees for the premises
shall be RMB16 per sq. m. (exclusive of management fees, value added taxes and
local levies) and the total leasable area of the premises shall be 39,289 sg. m.
Individual lease agreements stipulating the specific terms and conditions (such as
the actual gross floor area to be leased and the lease term) will be entered into
for individual leasing transactions. The aggregate rental fees for all the individual
lease agreements shall not exceed the annual cap for the relevant year and the
term of each of the individual lease agreements shall not exceed the term of the
Framework Properties Lease Agreement with Hualiyuan Technology. Hualiyuan
Technology has granted us an option to renew the Framework Properties Lease
Agreement with Hualiyuan Technology by giving six-month prior written notice
before the expiry of its term. In addition, Hualiyuan Technology has undertaken to
lease to us premises of at least 39,289 sq. m. during the term of the Framework
Properties Lease Agreement with Hualiyuan Technology, and we have undertaken
to rent from Hualiyuan Technology premises of at least 7,200 sg. m. during the
term of the Framework Properties Lease Agreement with Hualiyuan Technology.
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Transaction Amount for the Reporting Period
The transaction amount under the Framework Properties Lease Agreement with
Hualiyuan Technology for the Reporting Period was approximately RMB6,938,000.

For further details of the Framework Properties Lease Agreement with Hualiyuan
Technology, please refer to the section headed “Connected Transactions —
Continuing Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus.

Construction Services Framework Agreement with Huali
Construction

Background of the connected person

Huali Construction is directly owned by Mr. Zhang and Mr. Zhang Zhifan, the
brother of Mr. Zhang, as to 99.97% and 0.03% respectively. As such, Huali
Construction is a connected person of the Company pursuant to Rule 14A.07 of
the Listing Rules.

Principal terms of the Construction Services Framework Agreement
with Huali Construction

On July 17, 2020 (after trading hours), the Company and Huali Construction
entered into the construction services framework agreement, pursuant to which
Huali Construction and/or its subsidiaries have agreed to provide construction
services for the Group’s school campuses in the PRC (including the existing
campuses and the proposed new campuses) for the period commencing on the
effective date until August 31, 2023 (both dates inclusive) (the “Construction
Services Framework Agreement with Huali Construction”).

The principal terms of the Construction Services Framework Agreement with Huali
Construction are set out below:

Date: July 17, 2020
Parties: the Company;

and Huali Construction

Subject

matter:

Huali Construction and/or its subsidiaries have agreed to, during the
term of the Construction Services Framework Agreement with Huali
Construction, provide construction services for the Group's school
campuses (including the existing campuses and the proposed new
campuses) in the PRC. The Group and Huali Construction will enter
into a separate contract for each construction project.

Effective The date on which approval of the independent Shareholders in
date: respect of the Construction Services Framework Agreement with
Huali Construction, the transactions contemplated thereunder and
the Annual Caps is obtained, which is expected to be September 15,

2020
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From the effective date to August 31, 2023 (both dates inclusive)

The construction fees and the terms of each individual contract must
be fair and reasonable for both the Group and Huali Construction,
and should be determined based on general commercial terms in
the ordinary and usual course of business. The Group will make
reference to the market prices and the charging basis for the same
or similar services provided by independent third parties based
on general commercial terms in the ordinary and usual course
of business, and consider the same or comparable transactions
completed by independent third parties in the same or the most
recent period when determining the construction fees and the terms
of each individual contract.®

If the construction project relates to civil engineering works and
installation works (including fire safety works, water supply and
drainage works, indoor electrical works, low current embedding
works and lightning protection works), pricing will be based on
the guidance of the Code of Bill of Quantities and Valuation
for Construction Works* ((EHRTREIIREEEEERE))?
(national standard) (including updates on such guidance materials
issued by the regulatory authorities from time to time). In addition,
(i) for civil engineering works, the pricing will be based on the
Guangdong Comprehensive Quota of Housing Construction and
Decoration Projects* (EREFEREHREM TREEERH))?
(provincial standard); and (ii) for installation works, the pricing will
be based on the Guangdong Comprehensive Quota of General
Installation Projects* (&R & i A %% Ti24R & £ 78 ))® (provincial
level) (including updates on such guidance materials issued by
the regulatory authorities from time to time). The prices of major
materials to be used in the construction projects will be based
on the construction project information prices announced by the
Cost Management Department of the Housing and Urban-Rural
Development Bureau* (55 KW 4R BEEE E M) of the
project location during the construction per|od.

The effectiveness of the Construction Services Framework
Agreement with Huali Construction is conditional upon the
Company having obtained the independent Shareholders’ approval
in respect of the Construction Services Framework Agreement with
Huali Construction and the transactions contemplated thereunder.
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The Company’s infrastructure department will be responsible for obtaining the information
for the same or similar services provided by independent third parties. In general, the
Company will consider past transactions completed by independent third parties in the same
or the most recent period when determining the construction fees and the terms of each
individual contract. Where no comparable transactions are available, which is very unlikely
as the construction projects to be undertaken by Huali Construction and/or its subsidiaries
are not uncommon, the parties will negotiate the terms based on the price charged by Huali
Construction and/or its subsidiaries for the similar transactions with independent third parties
in the past. In addition, before entering into separate contracts with Huali Construction and/
or its subsidiaries, the Company will obtain at least three quotations from independent third
parties. Please refer to internal control measures set out in the paragraph headed “Internal
Control” in this section for further details.

Issued by the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development Department of the PRC* (1
AR FAMBE S A SRR ED).

Issued by the Housing and Urban-Rural Development Department of Guangdong Province* (/&
RAEEE R EREE).

Transaction Amount for the Reporting Period
The transaction amount under the Construction Services Framework Agreement

with Huali Construction and its subsidiaries for the Reporting Period was
approximately RMB35,244,000.

For further details of the Construction Services Framework Agreement with Huali

Construction, please refer to the Company’s circular dated August 28, 2020

published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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Structured Contracts

The PRC laws and regulations currently restrict operation of tertiary education to
Sino-foreign ownership, in addition to imposing a qualification requirement on the
foreign owners. Further, government approval in respect of Sino-foreign ownership
is being withheld. As a result, the Group, through our wholly-owned subsidiary,
XZ Huali, has entered into the Structured Contracts such that we can conduct
our business operations indirectly in the PRC through the PRC Operating Entities
and Huali Investment while complying with applicable PRC law and regulations.
The Structured Contracts are designed to provide the Group with effective control
over the financial and operational policies of the PRC Operating Entities and Huali
Investment and, to the extent permitted by PRC law and regulations, the right to
acquire the equity interest in and/or the assets of the PRC Operating Entities and
Huali Investment after the Listing through XZ Huali. As we operate our education
business through the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment, which are
controlled by Huali Investment and the Registered Shareholder respectively and we
do not hold any direct equity interest in the PRC Operating Entities, the Structured
Contracts were entered into on March 23, 2017, pursuant to which all material
business activities of the PRC Operating Entities are directed and supervised by the
Group, through XZ Huali, and all economic benefits arising from such business of
the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment are transferred to the Group.

Our wholly-owned subsidiary, XZ Huali, entered into a series of agreements
with the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment, including the Business
Cooperation Agreement, the Exclusive Technical Service and Management
Consultancy Agreement, the Exclusive Call Option Agreement, the Equity Pledge
Agreement, the School Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement,
the School Sponsor’'s Power of Attorney, the School Directors’ Power of Attorney,
the Spouse Undertaking, the Registered Shareholder’s Rights Entrustment
Agreement and the Registered Shareholder’s Power of Attorney, which form part
of the Structured Contracts and the content of which was supplemented from
time to time.

For further details, please refer to the section headed “Structured Contracts” of
this report.

Waiver from the Stock Exchange

In respect of the Structured Contracts, we have applied to the Stock Exchange
for, and the Stock Exchange has granted, a waiver from strict compliance with
(i) the announcement, circular and Shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the transactions contemplated
under the Structured Contracts pursuant to Rule 14A.105 of the Listing Rules, (ii)
the requirement of setting an annual cap for the transactions under the Structured
Contracts under Rule 14A.53 of the Listing Rules, and (iii) the requirement of
limiting the term of the Structured Contracts to three years or less under Rule
14A.52 of the Listing Rules. The specific waiver granted by the Stock Exchange is
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subject to various conditions as disclosed in the “Connected Transactions” section
of the Prospectus, which include, among others, disclosure in our annual reports
of the Structured Contracts in place during each financial period, engagement
of the Company’s auditor to report on the transactions carried out pursuant to
the Structured Contracts and issue of letter in respect of the above continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules,
and annual review by the independent non-executive Directors of the Structured
Contracts and their confirmation in our annual report for the relevant year.

For further details of the structured contracts, please refer to the section headed
“Structured Contracts” in this report and the section headed “Connected

Transactions — Continuing Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus.

Confirmation of independent non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above-mentioned
continuing connected transactions (the “Continuing Connected Transactions”)
and for Continuing Connected Transactions other than those covered in points (iv)
to (vi) of this clause below, confirmed that:

(i) the Continuing Connected Transactions have been entered into in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i) the Continuing Connected Transactions have been entered into on normal

commercial terms or better; and

(i)  the Continuing Connected Transactions have been entered into according
to the relevant agreement governing each of the Continuing Connected
Transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Shareholders of the Company as a whole.

For those Continuing Connected Transactions with the PRC Operating Entities,
the legal owner of the PRC Operating Entities and XZ Huali under the contractual
arrangements, we confirm that:

(iv)  those Continuing Connected Transactions have been entered into in
accordance with the relevant provisions of the contractual arrangements;

(v) no dividends or other distributions have been made by the PRC Operating
Entities to the holders of the equity interests of School Sponsor which are
not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group; and

(vi)  any new contracts entered into, renewed or reproduced between the Group
and the PRC Operating Entities, the legal owner of the PRC Operating
Entities during the year ended August 31, 2022 are fair and reasonable, or
advantageous to the Shareholders of the Company, so far as the Group is
concerned and in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders of the
Company as a whole.
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Confirmation of the Company’s auditor
The auditor of the Company has confirmed in a letter to the Board that, with

respect to the aforesaid Continuing Connected Transactions entered into in the
year ended August 31, 2022:

(a)

nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to believe that
the disclosed Continuing Connected Transactions have not been approved
by the Board;

for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the Group,
nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to believe that
the transactions were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the Group;

nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to believe
that the transactions were not entered into, in all material respects, in

accordance with the relevant agreements governing such transactions;

with respect to the aggregate amount of the Continuing Connected
Transactions (other than those transactions with the PRC Operating
Entities, the legal owner of the PRC Operating Entities and XZ Huali under
the contractual arrangements) set out in the attached list of Continuing
Connected Transactions, nothing has come to their attention that causes
the auditor to believe that the disclosed Continuing Connected Transactions
have exceeded the annual cap as set by the Company; and

with respect of the disclosed Continuing Connected Transactions with
the PRC Operating Entities, the legal owner of the PRC Operating Entities
and XZ Huali under the contractual arrangements, nothing has come to
their attention that causes the auditor to believe that dividends or other
distributions have been made by the PRC Operating Entities to the holder
of the equity interest of its School Sponsor which are not otherwise
subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.

STRUCTURED CONTRACTS

Background of the Structured Contracts
We currently conduct our private education business through the PRC Operating

Entities in the PRC as PRC laws and regulations generally prohibit or restrict

foreign ownership in the private education industry in the PRC. PRC laws and

regulations currently restrict the operation of higher education institutions to

Sino-foreign cooperation, in addition to imposing qualification requirements on

the foreign sponsors. We do not hold any School Sponsor interest in the PRC

Operating Entities. The Structured Contracts, through which we obtain control

over and derive the economic benefits from the PRC Operating Entities, have been

narrowly tailored to achieve our business purpose and minimize the potential

conflict with relevant PRC laws and regulations.
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In order to comply with the PRC laws and regulations as set out above while
availing ourselves of international capital markets and maintaining effective control
over all of our operations, on March 23, 2017, our wholly-owned subsidiary,
XZ Huali and Huali Investment entered into various agreements that constitute
the Structured Contracts with, among others, the PRC Operating Entities, under
which all economic benefits arising from the business of the PRC Operating
Entities and Huali Investment were transferred to XZ Huali to the extent permitted
under the PRC laws and regulations by means of service fees payable by the PRC
Operating Entities and Huali Investment to XZ Huali. The parties to the Structured
Contracts each entered into certain supplemental agreements (collectively, the
"Supplemental Agreements”) dated September 19, 2017, November 27, 2017,
August 30, 2018, September 28, 2018, April 23, 2019, July 22, 2019, October
10, 2019, January 17, 2020, July 20, 2020 and December 7, 2021 respectively, to
supplement and amend certain terms of the Structured Contracts.

The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of economic benefits from our
PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment to our Group stipulated under the
Structured Contracts:
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Notes

(1) Payment of service fees.

(2) Provision of exclusive technical and management consultancy services.

(3) Exclusive call option to acquire all or part of the School Sponsor’s interest of Huali Investment

in the PRC Operating Entities and equity interest in Huali Investment.

(4) Entrustment of School Sponsor’s rights in the PRC Operating Entities by Huali Investment,
including School Sponsor’s power of attorney.

(5) Entrustment of directors’ rights in the PRC Operating Entities by School Directors appointed by
Huali Investment, including School Directors’ Power of Attorney.

(6) Spouse undertaking by the spouse of the Registered Shareholder, who is the shareholder of
Huali Investment.

(7) Pledge of equity interest by the Registered Shareholder of their equity interest in Huali
Investment.

(8) Power of attorney by Mr. Zhang to XZ Huali.

9) Entrustment of Registered Shareholder’s rights in Huali Investment by Registered Shareholder,
including Registered Shareholder’s Power of Attorney.

Summary of the Material Terms of the Structured Contracts
A description of each of the specific agreements that comprise the Structured
Contracts (as amended and supplemented from time to time) is set out below.

(1) Business Cooperation Agreement

Pursuant to the Business Cooperation Agreement, XZ Huali shall provide technical
services, management support and consulting services, necessary for the private
education business, and in return, Huali Investment and the PRC Operating Entities
shall make payments pursuant to the Structured Contracts.

To ensure the due performance of the Structured Contracts, each of the PRC
Operating Entities and Huali Investment agreed to comply, and procure its
subsidiaries to comply, with the obligations as prescribed under the Business
Cooperation Agreement set forth as follows in relation to the respective PRC
Operating Entity:

(i) to carry out its private education operations and the business of Huali
Investment in a prudent and efficient manner in accordance with good
financial and business standards while maintaining the asset value of Huali
Investment and the PRC Operating Entities and the quality and standard of
private education;

(i)  to prepare school development plans and annual working plans in
accordance with the instructions of XZ Huali;

(ili)  to carry out its private education activities and other relevant business under
the assistance of XZ Huali;
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(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

EEHE

to carry out relevant business and manage its daily operations and financial
management in accordance with the recommendations, advice, principles
and other instructions of XZ Huali;

to execute and act upon the recommendations of XZ Huali in terms of
employment and removal of senior management and staff;

to adopt the advice, guidance and plans given by XZ Huali in relation to
their respective strategic development; and

to carry out its business operations and renew and maintain its respective
necessary licenses for the purpose of development of education business.

In addition, pursuant to the Business Cooperation Agreement,

(a)

56

the Registered Shareholder undertakes to XZ Huali that, in the event of
death, loss of or restriction on capacity, divorce or other circumstances
which may affect the exercise of their equity interest in Huali Investment,
they shall have made all necessary arrangements and sign all necessary
documents such that their respective successor, guardian, spouse, and
any other person who may as a result of any of the above events obtain
the equity interest or relevant rights shall not prejudice or hinder the
enforcement of the Structured Contracts;

Huali Investment and the Registered Shareholder undertakes that, in the
event of dissolution or liquidation of the PRC Operating Entities or Huali
Investment, (i) XZ Huali and/or its authorized person shall have the rights to
exercise all of the School Sponsor’s rights on behalf of Huali Investment and
the shareholders’ interest in Huali Investment; (ii) Huali Investment and/or
its shareholder shall transfer all assets received or receivable in its capacity
as School Sponsor of each of the PRC Operating Entities and/or as the
shareholder of Huali Investment as a result of the dissolution or liquidation
of the PRC Operating Entities and/or Huali Investment to XZ Huali or other
persons designated by us at nil consideration; (iii) if consideration is required
for such transfer under the then applicable PRC laws, Huali Investment and
its shareholder shall compensate XZ Huali and/or the person as designated
by us the amount by proper means and guarantee that XZ Huali and/or
other persons as designated by us does not suffer any loss; and

Huali Investment and the PRC Operating Entities agreed that, without
the prior written consent of XZ Huali, Huali Investment and/or any of
the PRC Operating Entities shall not declare or pay to its shareholders
any bonus, returns, dividend or other interest or benefit. In the event
that the Registered Shareholder as shareholder of Huali Investment or
Huali Investment receive any bonus, returns, dividend or other interest or
benefit, the Registered Shareholder or Huali Investment shall unconditionally
and without compensation, transfer such amount to a specific account
designated by XZ Huali as security for the performance of obligations under
the Structured Contracts and repayment of debt.
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(vi)

(vii)
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(2) Exclusive Technical Service and Management Consultancy
Agreement

Pursuant to the Exclusive Technical Service and Management Consultancy
Agreement, XZ Huali has agreed to provide exclusive technical services to Huali
Investment and the PRC Operating Entities, including but not limited to, (a)
design, development, update and maintenance of educational software for
computer and mobile devices; (b) design, development, update and maintenance
of webpages and websites necessary for the education activities of Huali
Investment and the PRC Operating Entities; (c) design, development, update and
maintenance of management information systems necessary for the education
activities of Huali Investment and the PRC Operating Entities; (d) provision of other
technical support necessary for the education activities of Huali Investment and the
PRC Operating Entities; (e) provision of technical consulting services; (f) provision
of technical training; (g) engaging technical staff to provide on-site technical
support; and (h) providing other technical services reasonably requested by Huali
Investment and the PRC Operating Entities.

Furthermore, XZ Huali has agreed to provide exclusive management consultancy
services to Huali Investment and the PRC Operating Entities, including but
not limited to, (a) design of curriculum; (b) preparation, selection and/or
recommendation of course materials; (c) provision of teacher and staff recruitment
and training support and services; (d) provision of student recruitment support
and services; (e) provision of public relation services; (f) preparation of long-
term strategic development plans and annual working plans; (g) development of
financial management systems and recommendation and optimization on annual
budget; (h) advising on design of internal structures and internal management; (i)
provision of management and consultancy training; (j) conduct of market research;
(k) preparation of market development plan; (I) building of education management
network; and (m) providing other technical services reasonably requested by Huali
Investment and the PRC Operating Entities.

In consideration of the technical and management consultancy services provided
by XZ Huali, each of Huali Investment and the PRC Operating Entities agreed to
pay XZ Huali a service fee equal to all of their respective amount of net profit
(after deducting all costs, expenses, taxes, losses from the previous year (if
required by law) and the legally compulsory development fund of the respective
school/statutory surplus reserve (if required by law)); XZ Huali has the right (but
not the obligation) to adjust the amount of such service fee by reference to the
actual services provided and the actual business operations and needs of Huali
Investment and the PRC Operating Entities, provided that any adjusted amount
shall not exceed the amount mentioned above. Huali Investment and the PRC
Operating Entities do not have any right to make any such adjustment.
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Pursuant to the Exclusive Technical Service and Management Consultancy
Agreement, unless otherwise prescribed under PRC laws and regulations, XZ Huali
shall have exclusive proprietary rights to any intellectual property of the technology
developed and materials prepared in the course of the provision of research and
development, technical support and services by XZ Huali to Huali Investment
and the PRC Operating Entities, and any intellectual property in the products
developed, including any other rights derived thereunder, in the course of
performance of obligations under the Exclusive Technical Service and Management
Consultancy Agreement and/or any other agreements entered into between XZ
Huali and other parties.

(3) Exclusive Call Option Agreement

Under the Exclusive Call Option Agreement, the Registered Shareholder and Huali
Investment have irrevocably granted XZ Huali or its designated purchaser the
right to purchase all or part of the investment/School Sponsor’s interest of Huali
Investment in the PRC Operating Entities (“Call Option”). The purchase price
payable by XZ Huali for the transfer of such investment/School Sponsor’s interest
under the Call Option shall be the lowest price permitted under PRC laws and
regulations. XZ Huali or its designated purchaser shall have the right to purchase
such proportion of the investment/School Sponsor’s interest of the PRC Operating
Entities as it decides at any time.

(4) School Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement

Pursuant to the School Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement,
Huali Investment has irrevocably authorized and entrusted XZ Huali to exercise all
its rights as School Sponsor of each of the PRC Operating Entities to the extent
permitted by the PRC laws. These rights include, but are not limited to: (a) the
right to appoint and/or elect directors or council members of the PRC Operating
Entities; (b) the right to appoint and/or elect supervisors of the PRC Operating
Entities; (c) the right to understand the operation and financial situation of the
PRC Operating Entities; (d) the right to review the resolutions and records of the
board of directors and financial statements and reports of the PRC Operating
Entities; (e) the right to obtain reasonable return (if existing) or profits as School
Sponsor of the PRC Operating Entities in accordance with relevant laws; (f) the
right to acquire residual assets upon liquidation of the schools in accordance with
relevant laws; (g) the right to transfer the School Sponsor’s interest in accordance
with relevant laws; (h) the right to approve the management strategy and
investment plan; (i) the right to review and approve the annual budget and profit
distribution plan; and (j) other School Sponsor’s rights pursuant to applicable PRC
laws and regulations and the articles of association of the PRC Operating Entities

as amended from time to time.
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Pursuant to the School Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement,
the School Directors have irrevocably authorized and entrusted XZ Huali to
exercise all his rights as directors of the PRC Operating Entities as appointed or
nominated by Huali Investment and to the extent permitted by the PRC laws.
These rights include, but are not limited to: (a) the right to attend meetings of
the board of directors as representative of the directors appointed or nominated
by Huali Investment; (b) the right to exercise voting rights in respect of all matters
discussed and resolved at board meetings of each of the PRC Operating Entities;
(c) the right to propose to convene interim board meetings of each of the PRC
Operating Entities; (d) the right to sign all board minutes, board resolutions and
other legal documents to which the directors appointed by Huali Investment have
authority to sign in his/her capacity as directors of the PRC Operating Entities; (e)
the right to instruct the legal representative and financial and business responsible
persons of the PRC Operating Entities to act in accordance with the instruction
of XZ Huali; (f) the right to exercise all other rights and voting rights of directors
as prescribed under the articles of association of the PRC Operating Entities; (g)
the right to handle the legal procedures of registration, approval and licensing of
the PRC Operating Entities at the education department, the department of civil
affairs or other government regulatory departments; and (h) other directors’ rights
pursuant to applicable PRC laws and regulations and the articles of association of
the PRC Operating Entities as amended from time to time.

In addition, each of Huali Investment and the School Directors have irrevocably
agreed that (i) XZ Huali may delegate its rights under the School Sponsor’s
and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement to the directors of XZ Huali or its
designated person, without prior notice to or approval by Huali Investment and
the School Directors; and (ii) any person as successor of civil rights of XZ Huali
or liquidator by reason of subdivision, merger, liquidation of XZ Huali or other
circumstances shall have authority to replace XZ Huali to exercise all rights under
the School Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement.

(5) School Sponsor’s Power of Attorney

Pursuant to the School Sponsor’s Power of Attorney executed by Huali Investment
in favor of XZ Huali, Huali Investment authorized and appointed XZ Huali as its
agent to act on its behalf to exercise or delegate the exercise of all its rights as
school sponsor of each of the PRC Operating Entities. For details of the rights

u

granted, see “— Summary of the Material Terms of the Structured Contracts —

(4) School Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement” of this report.

XZ Huali has the right to further delegate the rights so delegated to directors of
XZ Huali or to another designated person. Huali Investment has irrevocably agreed
that the authorization and appointment in the School Sponsor’s Power of Attorney
shall not be invalidated, revoked, prejudiced or otherwise adversely affected by
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reason of Huali Investment’s subdivision, merger, winding up, consolidation,
liquidation or other similar events. The School Sponsor’'s Power of Attorney shall
constitute a part and incorporate terms of the School Sponsor’s and Directors’
Rights Entrustment Agreement.

(6) School Directors’ Power of Attorney

Pursuant to the School Directors’ Power of Attorney executed by each of the
School Directors in favor of XZ Huali, each of the School Directors, authorized and
appointed XZ Huali, as his agent to act on his behalf to exercise or delegate the
exercise of all his rights and functions as director of the PRC Operating Entities.
For details of the rights granted, please refer to the section headed “— Summary
of the Material Terms of the Structured Contracts — (4) School Sponsor’s and
Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement” in this report for more details.

XZ Huali has the right to further delegate the rights so delegated to directors
of XZ Huali or to another designated person. XZ Huali shall not delegate any of
these rights to anyone whose interest would potentially conflict with those of
the Group. Each of the School Directors has irrevocably agreed that, unless the
Appointee ceases to be a director of XZ Huali, the authorization appointment in
the School Directors’ Powers of Attorney shall not be invalidated, prejudiced or
otherwise adversely affected by reason of his loss of or restriction on capacity,
death or other similar events. The School Directors’ Power of Attorney shall
constitute a part and incorporate terms of the School Sponsor’'s and Directors’
Rights Entrustment Agreement.

(7) Spouse Undertaking
Pursuant to the Spouse Undertaking, the spouse of the Registered Shareholder has
irrevocably undertaken that:

(@  she has full knowledge of and has consented to the entry of the Structured
Contracts by the relevant Registered Shareholder, and in particular,
the arrangements set out in the Structured Contracts in relation to the
restrictions imposed on the equity interest in Huali Investment, the pledge or
transfer of the equity interest in Huali Investment, and the disposal of the
equity interest in Huali Investment in any other form;

(b)  she has not, is not and shall not in the future participate in the operation,
management, liquidation, dissolution and other matters in relation to Huali
Investment and the PRC Operating Entities;

(¢)  she authorizes the respective Registered Shareholder and/or his authorized
person to execute all necessary documents and perform all necessary
procedures from time to time for and on behalf of the spouse in relation
to the spouse’s equity interest in Huali Investment in order to safeguard
the interest of XZ Huali under the Structured Contracts and give effect to
the fundamental purposes thereunder, and confirms and agrees to all such
documents and procedures;
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(d) any undertaking, confirmation, consent and authorization under the Spouse
Undertaking shall not be revoked, prejudiced, invalidated or otherwise
adversely affected by any increase, decrease, consolidation or other similar
events relating to the equity interest held by the Registered Shareholder in

Huali Investment;

(e)  any undertaking, confirmation, consent and authorization under the Spouse
Undertaking shall not be revoked, prejudiced, invalidated or otherwise
adversely affected by the death, loss of or restriction on capacity of the
spouse, divorce or other similar events; and

(f)  all undertakings, confirmations, consents and authorizations under the
Spouse Undertaking shall continue to be valid and binding until otherwise
terminated by both XZ Huali and the spouse by in writing.

The Spouse Undertaking shall have the same term as and incorporate the terms of
the Business Cooperation Agreement.

(8) Equity Pledge Agreement

Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement, the Registered Shareholder
unconditionally and irrevocably pledged and granted first priority security interests
over all of his equity interest in Huali Investment together with all related
rights thereto to XZ Huali as security for the performance of obligations of the
Registered Shareholder, Huali Investments and the PRC Operating Entities under
the Structured Contracts and all direct, indirect, consequential damages and
foreseeable loss of interest incurred by XZ Huali as a result of the any event of
default (if any) on the part of the Registered Shareholder, Huali Investment or
each of the PRC Operating Entities and all expenses incurred by XZ Huali as a
result of enforcement of the obligations of the Registered Shareholder, Huali
Investment and/or each of the PRC Operating Entities under the Structured
Contracts (the “Secured Indebtedness”).

Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement, without the prior written consent of XZ
Huali, the Registered Shareholder shall not transfer its equity interest or create any
further pledge or encumbrance over the pledged equity interest. Any unauthorized
transfer shall be invalid, and the proceeds of any transfer of the equity interest
shall be first used in the payment of the Secured Indebtedness or deposited with
such third party as agreed by XZ Huali. The Registered Shareholder also waived
any pre-emptive rights upon enforcement and agreed to any transfer of the
pledged equity pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement.

The pledge under the Equity Pledge Agreement was registered with the
Guangzhou Administration for Industry and Commerce (now known as Guangzhou
Market Supervisory Authority) on September 13, 2018 and the Secured
Indebtedness became effective on the same date.
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(9) Registered Shareholder’s Rights Entrustment Agreement
and Registered Shareholder’s Power of Attorney
According to the Registered Shareholder’s Rights Entrustment Agreement and

Registered Shareholder’s Power of Attorney, Mr. Zhang and Mr. Zhang Zhifan,

as the Registered Shareholders, have executed a power of attorney irrevocably

entrusting and authorizing XZ Huali or its designated person as their agent to act

on their behalf to exercise all their rights as a shareholder of Huali Investment in

respect of the PRC Operating Entities under the articles of associations of Huali

Investment and pursuant to the relevant PRC laws and regulations, including but

not limited the rights to:

(a)

(b)

62

determine the business objectives and investment plans of Huali Investment;
elect and change non-staff representative directors and supervisors of Huali
Investment who are responsible for the operation of the PRC Operating
Entities and to fix their remuneration;

consider and approve the report of directors of Huali Investment;

consider and approve the report of supervisors of Huali Investment;

consider and approve the annual financial budget and final accounts of

Huali Investment;

consider and approve plans for profit sharing and loss recovery of Huali
Investment;

increase or decrease the registered capital of Huali Investment;

issue bonds of Huali Investment;

merge, subdivide, dissolve, wind-up or change the form of corporate
organization of Huali Investment;

amend the articles of association of Huali Investment; and

conduct any other matters that are empowered by the articles of association
of Huali Investment.

China Vocational Education Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report

(5 1

(9) B RREFNZTHZEREL
BRREZ

REFERRENEEHERBERRER
& REERNRSNEEEABRERIE
TEAREETEEE  ZERBRAAE
VHEEEALHERARE  REBEIREN
BEERANRAMNTEEEEN KA
ARETIEAETREARRAWNTELER

BOMAEREN BERESRR

(@) REEIRENEB I RRETS

(b) BERFHETREAETEZERR
EBNEEERRESRESTEER
FHHH

(0 BHREIREBZIRSE

d) FHETREEEWRSE:

() BUBEUREFEMREHAIRE

() FBHREIRENNESERERMHED

() MDD ETIRENTMER

(hy BOTEIRERS

() A DI B FRAFEFTR
B ARABTER

() EREFEIRBEMLABEIZMAI K

k) BEEREEZEVREAMSIEMAIRERRE

MEREMLEER -



Business activities of the PRC Operating Entities
The PRC Operating Entities are, namely, Huali College, Huali Vocational College
and Huali Technician College. Their business activities are primarily engaged in

higher education services and vocational education services.

Significance and financial contributions of the PRC
Operating Entities to the Group

Pursuant to the Structured Contracts, the Group obtains control over and derives
the economic benefits from the PRC Operating Entities and School Sponsors. The
table below sets out the financial contribution of the PRC Operating Entities and

the School Sponsors to the Group:
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Significance and financial
contribution to the Group

HASENEZE MR U B EM
Revenue Total assets
A BEE
For the year For the year
ended ended
August 31, 2022 August 31, 2022
HZ20224 5 Z2022%F

8A31HILFE B8A31TBLFE

Significance and financial contribution HASENEEZEHERTBER (%)
to the Group (%)

100.0% 75.0%

Revenue and assets involved in the Structured Contracts

FRUESHIRNBAREE

Revenue Total assets
A REE
For the year For the year
ended ended
August 31, 2022 August 31, 2022
BZE2022F HZE2022%F
8A3MHLFE 8A3MHLFE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AR®T T
PRC Operating Entities and FEZEERRERENE
the School Sponsors 907,762 7,581,986
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Regulatory Framework
Pursuant to the Foreign Investment Industries Guidance Catalogue (as amended
in 2017) ( HMHREEZXREHE) (2017FE

Industries Guidance Catalogue”), the provision of higher education in the

%])) (the “Foreign Investment

PRC falls within the “restricted” category. In particular, the Foreign Investment
Industries Guidance Catalogue explicitly restricts higher education institutions to
Sino-foreign cooperation, meaning that foreign investors may only operate higher
education institutions through cooperating with PRC-incorporated entities that are
in compliance with the Regulations on Sino-foreign Cooperative Education of the
PRC ( {h#E ARFFMBE IS EPEEH) ) (the “Sino-Foreign Regulations”). In
addition, the Foreign Investment Industries Guidance Catalogue provides that the
domestic party shall play a dominant role in the Sino-foreign cooperation, meaning
that (a) the principal or other chief executive officer of the schools or education
institutions shall be a PRC national, and (b) the representatives of the domestic
party shall account for no less than 50% of the total number of the members of
the board of directors, the executive council or the joint administration committee

of the Sino-foreign school.

On December 27, 2021, the National Development and Reform Commission of the
PRC and the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC jointly promulgated the Foreign
Investment Access Special Management Measures (Negative List) (2021 Version)

(COMERE AR RIE R H (B E)20216F0) ) ) (the

which became effective on January 1, 2022 and replaced the Foreign Investment

“Negative List"),

Industries Guidance Catalogue. Pursuant to the Negative List, the restrictions on
foreign investments in higher education remain unchanged.

In relation to the interpretation of Sino-foreign cooperation, pursuant to the
Sino-Foreign Regulations, the foreign investor in a Sino-foreign school (whether
a kindergarten, high school or higher education institution) (a “Sino-Foreign
School”) must be a foreign educational institution with relevant qualification and
high quality of education (the “Higher Education Qualification Requirement”).
Pursuant to the Administrative Measures for the Sino-Foreign Cooperative

((RIMEIERE BRI MR E IR

7A) ), the foreign investor in a Sino-foreign technical school must be a foreign

Education on Vocational Skills Training (

education institution or a foreign vocational skills training institution with
relevant qualification and high quality of education (the “Vocational Education
Qualification Requirement”, together with the Higher Education Qualification
Requirement, the “Qualification Requirement”). Furthermore, pursuant to the
Implementation Opinions of the MOE on Encouraging and Guiding the Entry of
Private Capital in the Fields of Education and Promoting the Healthy Development
of Private Education ( (HE AN S| G REE & AHE BHRERPH
EfEEERMERER) ), the foreign portion of the total investment in a Sino
Foreign School should be below 50% and the establishment of these schools is
subject to approval of education authorities at the provincial or national level.
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The Company’s PRC legal adviser has advised that the laws and regulations are
currently uncertain as to what specific criteria must be met by a foreign investor
(such as length of experience and form and extent of ownership in the foreign
jurisdiction) in order to demonstrate to the relevant authority that it meets
the Qualification Requirement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company is
committed to working towards meeting the Qualification Requirement and has
implemented a business plan to ensure our compliance with the Qualification
Requirement and with a view to expanding our education operations overseas.
In 2017, the Company established a wholly-owned subsidiary in the State of
California, the United States, for the operation and management of our education
business in the State of California. The Company also engaged an independent
education consultant with extensive experience and background in private post-
secondary education to advise on and assist the Company in the establishment of
our institution in the State of California. We have submitted a licensing application
to the Bureau for Private Post-secondary Education in the State of California. As
at the date of this annual report, we had not yet obtained the relevant licence.
We will continue to disclose our progress in the implementation of our overseas
expansion plans and updates to the Qualification Requirement in our annual and

interim reports.

Risks associated with the Structured Contracts and the
actions taken to mitigate the risks

The PRC government may find that the contracts that establish the structure for
operating our business in China do not comply with applicable PRC laws and
regulations, which may subject us to severe penalties and our business may be
materially and adversely affected. The Contractual Arrangements may be subject to
the scrutiny of the PRC tax authorities and additional tax may be imposed, which
may materially and adversely affect our results of operations.

The Structured Contracts may not be as effective in providing us with control over
our consolidated affiliated entities as direct ownership. The beneficial owners of
our consolidated affiliated entities may have conflicts of interest with us, which
may materially and adversely affect our business and financial condition. The
sponsor interests in our all three schools held by Huali Investment are not capable
of being pledged in favour of our WFOE under the PRC laws. Our Structured
Contracts with respect to these schools contain alternative arrangements that may
not achieve the level of protection equivalent to typical structured contracts with
equity pledge arrangements.
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Our exercise of the option to acquire the sponsor interests or equity interests of
our consolidated affiliated entities may be subject to certain limitations and we
may incur substantial costs. Any failure by our consolidated affiliated entities or
their respective School Sponsors/shareholders to perform their obligations under
our Structured Contracts would potentially lead to the incurrence of additional
costs and the expending of substantial resources on our part to enforce such
arrangements, temporary or permanent loss of control over our primary operations

or loss of access to our primary sources of revenue.

We rely on dividend and other payments from WFOE to pay dividends and
other cash distributions to our Shareholders and any limitation on the ability of
WEFOE to pay dividends to us would materially and adversely limit our ability to
pay dividends to our Shareholders. If any of our consolidated affiliated entities
becomes subject to winding up or liquidation proceedings, we may lose the ability
to use and enjoy certain important assets held by our consolidated affiliated
entities, which could negatively impact our business and materially and adversely
affect our ability to generate revenue.

The Board will review the Structured Contracts at least once a year to ensure the
effective implementation of the Structured Contracts and compliance with the
relevant terms.

Material changes

Huali Investment is a one-person limited liability company. According to the
PRC Company Law, one-person limited liability company cannot invest in the
establishment of a new one-person limited liability company, and Huali Investment
is required to establish different subsidiaries in order to facilitate its business.
Therefore, Huali Investment is required to increase its shareholders to achieve
such purpose. On December 7, 2021, Mr. Zhang Zhifan, a brother of Mr. Zhang
Zhifeng, agreed to subscribe for 0.001% of the registered capital of Guangzhou
Huali Investment Company Limited by contributing RMB4,000 in proportion to
the registered capital of Huali Investment immediately before such subscription
(the “Subscription”). As of the date of this annual report, there was no material
change in the Structured Contracts and/or the circumstances under which they
were adopted as a result of the Subscription, save for the necessary changes made
to the addition of Mr. Zhang Zhifan to the new Shareholder of Huali Investment.
For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated December 7,
2021 and the EGM circular dated March 29, 2022.
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Unwinding of the Structured Contracts

As of the date of this annual report, there has not been any unwinding of any
Structured Contracts, nor has there been any failure to unwind any Structured
Contracts when the restrictions that led to the adoption of the Structured
Contracts are removed. In the event that the PRC regulatory environment changes
and all of the Qualification Requirement, the Foreign Ownership Restriction and
the Foreign Control Restriction are removed (and assuming there are no other
changes in the relevant PRC laws and regulations), XZ Huali will exercise the
relevant call option in full to unwind the Contractual Arrangements so that the
Company will be able to directly operate the schools without using the Structured

Contracts.

Confirmation of independent non-executive Directors
The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Structured Contracts
and confirmed that during the year ended August 31, 2022:

(i) the transactions carried out during such year have been entered into in
accordance with the relevant provisions of the Structured Contracts and had
been operated so that the profit generated by the PRC Operating Entities
had been substantially retained by the Group;

(i) no dividends or other distributions have been made by the PRC Operating
Entities to the holders of the equity interests of School Sponsor which are
not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group; and

(i) any new contracts entered into, renewed or reproduced between the Group
and the PRC Operating Entities, the legal owner of the PRC Operating
Entities during the year ended August 31, 2022 are fair and reasonable, or
advantageous to the Shareholders of the Company, so far as the Group is
concerned and in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders of the
Company as a whole.

Confirmation of the Company’s auditor

The auditor of the Company has confirmed in a letter to the Board that, with
respect to the aforesaid Continuing Connected Transactions entered into in the
year ended August 31, 2022:

(@  nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to believe that
the disclosed Continuing Connected Transactions have not been approved
by the Board;

(b)  for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the Group,
nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to believe that
the transactions were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the Group;
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(©)  nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to believe
that the transactions were not entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing such transactions;

(d)  with respect to the aggregate amount of the Continuing Connected
Transactions (other than those transactions with the PRC Operating
Entities, the legal owner of the PRC Operating Entities and XZ Huali under
the contractual arrangements) set out in the attached list of Continuing
Connected Transactions, nothing has come to their attention that causes
the auditor to believe that the disclosed Continuing Connected Transactions
have exceeded the annual cap as set by the Company; and

(e)  with respect of the disclosed Continuing Connected Transactions with
the PRC Operating Entities, the legal owner of the PRC Operating Entities
and XZ Huali under the contractual arrangements, nothing has come to
their attention that causes the auditor to believe that dividends or other
distributions have been made by the PRC Operating Entities to the holder
of the equity interest of its School Sponsor which are not otherwise
subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions entered into by the Group during the
year ended August 31, 2022 are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements. The transactions as set out therein fall under the definition of
“connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” in Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules and the Company confirmed that it has complied with the
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or any of their respective associates has engaged in any
business that competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the business of the Group or has any other conflict of interests with the Group
during the year ended August 31, 2022.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

Recruitment

We strictly comply with the PRC Labor Law, the PRC Labor Contract Law, the PRC
Employment Promotion Law, the PRC Labor Dispute Mediation and Arbitration Law
as well as other applicable provincial and local labor laws and regulations in our
recruitment process.

We prohibit discrimination of staff by age, sex, race, nationality, religion or
disability to ensure that everyone has equal employment opportunities and
prospects.
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We recruit teachers based on the size of our current student enrolment and the
number of newly admitted students at the beginning of each academic year.
We primarily seek to recruit (i) high quality and experienced teachers who are
knowledgeable in both theory and practice and hold the necessary academic
credentials and professional qualifications (i.e. diplomas and professional
certificates); and (ii) teachers who have work experience in the relevant industries.
We also invite industry experts from entities with which we have cooperative
relationships to give lectures or teach classes as adjunct faculty members of our
schools.

Our schools carry out their recruitment works based on our employee manual
and our teachers’ recruitment policy, and continuously improve and refine their
recruitment processes. We actively approach talents through participating in
talent recruitment fairs and industry conferences, and encourage our staff to take
advantage of social media to refer and recommend talented candidates to join
us. In addition, we provide continuing trainings to our teachers so that they can
stay abreast of the changes in market demand, new teaching theories and/or
methodologies, changing teaching and testing standards.

Remuneration

As at August 31, 2022, the Group had 2,131 employees (as at August 31, 2021:
2,157). The remuneration packages of the employees of the Group are determined
with reference to individual qualification, experience and performance, contribution
to the Group, prevailing market rate and our remuneration policy.

The remuneration policy of our schools is formulated under the guidance of PRC
laws and is based on industry characteristics as well as various market factors. The
staff congress, president’s office and board of directors of our schools collectively
approve the compensation range of their employees. Our schools determine their
respective compensation standards based on employment by function (teachers
and administrative personnel) and position. Our schools pay a fixed annual salary
to senior management and top talents such as directors, deans/department heads,
administrative heads and professors. Our schools participate in social insurance
plans (pension, medical, unemployment, work injury and maternity insurance)
under the guidance of the relevant national, provincial and municipalities policies,
and provide a variety of benefits for their employees.
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RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS SCHEME

Employees of the Group’s subsidiaries operating in the PRC participate in a central
pension scheme (the “Central Pension Scheme”), which is a defined contribution
plan administered by the PRC government. The subsidiaries are required to
contribute a specified percentage of the employees’ salaries to the Central Pension
Scheme to fund the benefits. Once the specified annual contributions are made,
the Group will not have any further payment obligations in respect of the Central
Pension Scheme. An amount of approximately RMB11.31 million was recorded in
the statement of profit or loss of the Group for the year ended August 31, 2022
(year ended August 31, 2021: approximately RMB9.06 million), representing the
contributions made to the Central Pension Scheme at rates specified in the rules
of the pension scheme by the Group. The Group has no other material obligation
for payment of pension benefits beyond the annual contributions.

Details of the retirement and employee benefits scheme of the Company are set
out in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at August 31, 2021 and 2022, there were no forfeited contributions in
relation to pension plans (by employers on behalf of employees who leave the
scheme prior to vesting fully in such contributions) in the Group. Hence, there
is no forfeited contribution available for the Group to reduce its existing level of

contributions to the pension plans in future years.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making recommendations to the
Board on the Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of all Directors
and senior management, having regard to their relevant experience, duties and
responsibilities, performance and achievement, and market rate. None of the
Directors will determine their own remuneration. Details of the remuneration of
the Directors and the five highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in note
35 and note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, based on the information publicly available
to the Company and to the knowledge of the Directors, the Company continues
to meet the prescribed minimum percentage of public float under the Listing Rules
(i.e. at least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital are held by the
public at all times as of the date of this report).
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

The Company issued 300,000,000 new Shares with a par value of US$0.0001
at an issue price of HK$3.26 per Share in connection with the Listing. The net

proceeds from the Listing, after deducting underwriting commission and other

expenses, were approximately HK$946.0 million (equivalent to approximately

RMB850.9 million).

The following table sets forth a summary of the utilization of the net proceeds

from the Listing:

%

%
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FBRETFE CHAEE F<DALHE

RMB’ million RMB’ million RMB’ million

Purpose Jizkzs AR¥BELT AR¥BERT AR¥BER

Expansion of existing schools by constructing %32 %E 37 £2p53 K 27 53.0% 451.0 (451.0) —
additional buildings for Huali College and BB EF
Huali Vocational College LAERIRBER

Establishment of a new junior college in EEREIMMHE 37.0% 314.8 (314.8) —
Jiangmen City, Guangdong Province ERIER

Working capital and general corporate EEEe N —MDEEAR 10.0% 85.1 (85.1) =
purposes

Total et 100.0% 850.9 (850.9) —

SIGNIFICANT LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND
COMPLIANCE

During the Reporting Period, the Company was not engaged in any litigation or

arbitration of material importance and no litigation or claim of material importance

is known to the Directors to be pending or threatening against the Company.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, to the best

knowledge of the Directors, the Group had complied with all applicable laws and

regulations in all material aspects.
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SIGNIFICANT EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

There was no significant event affecting the Company nor any of it subsidiaries
after the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company had reviewed the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended August 31, 2022, and
reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group with
the management of the Group, and discussed the internal controls and financial
reporting matters with them.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance
practices. Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended August 31,
2022 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers. A resolution will be proposed
at the forthcoming AGM for the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as the
independent auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Zhang Zhifeng
Chairman

Hong Kong, November 29, 2022
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report in the
Company’s annual report for the year ended August 31, 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has applied the principles of the code provisions set out in the
CG Code. During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, the
Company had complied with all the code provisions set out in the CG Code,
except for the deviation from the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, which is
explained in the relevant paragraph of this Corporate Governance Report.

The Board believes that good corporate governance is essential in enhancing the
confidence of the Shareholders, potential investors and business partners and
is consistent with the Board’'s pursuit of value creation for the Shareholders.
The Company is committed to enhancing its corporate governance practices
appropriate to the conduct and growth of its business and to reviewing such
practices from time to time to ensure that the Company complies with the
statutory and professional standards and is aligned with the latest development.

THE RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, overseeing
strategic decisions of the Group and monitoring business and performance. The
Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for the daily management
and operations of the Group to the senior management of the Group. In order
to supervise specific aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has set up three
Board committees, including the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee

and the Nomination Committee.

The Board has delegated the responsibilities stipulated in their respective terms
of reference to the Board committees. All Directors perform their duties in good
faith, comply with applicable laws and regulations, and act in the interests of the

Company and the Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance for legal proceedings
against Directors. The coverage will be reviewed on an annual basis.
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Board Composition

Our Board consists of seven Directors, including four executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Directors. The following table sets out certain

information of the Directors:

Name

g

EEgdAMX

ENENER

Position

B35

Zhang Zhifeng

Chairman of the Board, executive Director, chief executive officer and chairman of the

Nomination Committee

ARBEEZEHLRESFAN  BETIEH
TEER=ZBBIFRTES - TRIITE

REIE EFEeIR HTES AFATERREREZESTRE

Ye Yaming Executive Director and member of the Remuneration Committee
£y HITEENFMEEGKE

Zhang Yude Executive Director and chief operating officer

SRR WTEENEFELR

Zou Kang Executive Director

BER MITES

Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna, M.H., J.P.

HEREEIE - MLH. - J.P. BNIFERTESREREZESER

Independent non-executive Director and chairman of the Audit Committee

Yang Ying Independent non-executive Director, chairman of the Remuneration Committee and
member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee

CES BIFPITEF FWLESIERERZEQHRREEGNKE

Ding Yi Independent non-executive Director and member of the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee

ik BN TESREREZES FHEESHREAZTEGKE

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section headed “Directors
and Senior Management” of this annual report.

From the date of Listing to the date of publication of this annual report, the
Board has always complied with the provisions of Rules 3.10 (1) and 3.10 (2) of
the Listing Rules for the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
directors with at least one possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has met all the requirements under Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules
for the appointment of independent non-executive Directors who account for at
least one-third of the Board. Since each independent non-executive Director has
confirmed his/her independence during the Reporting Period in accordance with
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Company considers all these Directors to be
independent parties.
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Save as disclosed in the Directors’ biographies set out in the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report, no Directors have any
personal relationship (including financial, business, family or other material or
related relationships) with any other Director.

The Board has adopted a diversity policy, which sets out objectives and stipulates
that all appointments to the Board should be based on the qualities, skills and
experience required by the Board as a whole. The Nomination Committee will
review and assess the composition of the Board and make recommendations
to the Board on the appointment of Board members. At the same time, the
Nomination Committee will take into account all aspects of diversity, including,
but not limited to, professional experience, skills, knowledge, educational
background, age, gender, culture and ethnicity, and length of service, in order
to maintain the appropriate range and balance of talents, skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives on the Board.

As at the date of this report, our Board consists of seven directors, one of whom
is a woman. Accordingly, the Company believes that we have achieved gender
diversity at Board level.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed such board diversity policies for the year
ended August 31, 2022. During the Reporting Period, the composition of the
Company’s existing independent non-executive Directors and senior management
team vary greatly in terms of age, educational background and professional

experience.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have brought a wide
range of valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the
efficient and effective operation of the Board. Independent non-executive Directors
are invited to serve as members of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee.

With regard to the CG Code, which requires Directors to disclose the number
and nature of offices held in a public company or organization and other material
commitments, as well as the identity of the public company or organization
and the time involved to the issuer, the Directors have agreed to disclose their
commitments and any subsequent changes to the Company in a timely manner.

Induction and Continuous Professional Development

Each newly appointed Director is provided with the necessary induction training
and information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the business
and operations of the Company and his/her responsibilities under the relevant
statues, laws, rules and regulations. The Company also arranges regular seminars
to provide the Directors with the latest development of the Listing Rules and other
relevant legal and regulatory requirements. The Board also regularly informs the
Company’s performance, position and prospects of Directors so that the Board as
a whole and each of the Directors can perform their respective duties.

/\_J.LL/\-/\—\

IExEE ﬂﬁm

BAFHEERSRERE| —HMBES
BEHREEN BEEFETMEMESS
EAEAABRBESE B REIEM
ME L AR R)

EFECRMES IR  ZBEBIAFE
VTHRETEFEMERELZERARESTGE
BRFENRE RELRR -ERZEEH
M RAHESSHEN ITHREEEREE
TRAEESELERE -RAE REZEEH

EEZTLOAALTE(BERETRREXL

BoREEAE OHEESR  FR MR X
fEMERAERBEFR)  UWEFREFETAA
TR KREBHEZEUENEERER
e

RAREAH EFCHLLEFTER  H
h—EZRLE At ARARBBEMEE
NEEGXEERNZ T -

RZZESCENAE2022F8A318ILEE
MZEESZ LK - HEHBR - AQ
ARABYINTEERESAEEBKY

WM EFER HEEELRIFELRIEAS
RRER o
PREF(PREBEIIIDNTES)FREZR
EEMNEBLR NMELRER FEEgH
W FEIITE BRI

=M B M E M -
2B FMEZREERREEZEENK

HREEBEARTR(EREEMETARELEL
MABRABEENBRBEHRE RIEEME
BARAE AR EWABSBEN S 08D
ROEE)ME EFERBERERANR AR
BRENAERREZL -

ABESFHEERER

SRNEEMEFEREL B OABE IR
BH O ARREEETRAAANESRE
EAREREBER ER  RBIRAT
MEE - ARRATLHEARAR  AES
%ﬁiﬁﬁ%&ﬁmm@ﬁ@&%Mﬁim

BFERE -ETCNTCHRAESTAEAR
mﬁﬁ\#&&m?'ﬁéigﬁk&%i
HABITSENBE -

FEBEREERERA A 75
2022 FE | L



Corporate Governance Report
TrEERWME

The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and update their knowledge and skills. The Company’s
joint company secretaries update and provide training materials relating to the
roles, functions and responsibilities of Directors from time to time.

All Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Zhifeng, Mr. Ye Yaming, Mr. Zou Kang, Mr.
Zhang Yude, Ms. Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna, M.H., J.P., Mr. Yang Ying and Mr. Ding
Yi, have been updated with the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules
and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and enhance
their awareness of good corporate governance practices. In addition, continuing
briefing and professional development to Directors will be arranged whenever

necessary.

Prior to the Listing, each of the Directors has attended the training conducted
by the legal adviser of the Company. The content of such training related to the
duties of directors and on-going obligations of listed companies.

The Directors shall submit a signed training record to the Company each year.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.
Mr. Zhang Zhifeng is the chairman of the Board and chief executive officer of
the Company. The Board considers that Mr. Zhang Zhifeng is the founder of the
Group and has extensive experience in the private higher education industry in the
PRC and is responsible for the overall strategic planning and business development
of the Group. The Board believes that vesting the roles of both chairman of the
Board and chief executive officer in Mr. Zhang Zhifeng provides the Group with
strong and consistent leadership to improve the Company’s efficiency in decision-
making and execution, and effectively capture business opportunities. The Board
believes that the balance of power and authority is adequately ensured by the
operations of the Board which comprises highly experienced individuals. There
are three independent non-executive Directors in the Board. All of them possess
adequate independence and therefore the Board considers the Company has
achieved balance and provided sufficient protection of its interests.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Subject to the Articles of Association, the Board may from time to time and at
any time to appoint any person to be a Director to fill a casual vacancy or to
supplement the Board. Any Director so appointed shall hold office only before the
next following annual general meeting of the Company and may be re-elected at
that meeting.
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At every annual general meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors shall
retire temporarily (or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, or close
to but not less than one-third), shall retire by rotation provided that each Director
(including Directors that appointed for a specified term) shall rotate at least once
every three years.

None of the Directors has entered into or intends to enter into a service contract
with the Company or any of our subsidiaries (except for contracts which are
due or determinable by the employer within one year without payment of
compensation) (other than statutory compensation).

The Articles of Association stipulates the procedures and process of appointment,
re-election and removal of Directors. The Nomination Committee is responsible
for reviewing the composition of the Board and making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-election of Directors and the succession planning
of Directors.

Nomination Policy

The Director Nomination Policy (the “Nomination Policy”) adopted by the Board
aims to improve the transparency and accountability of the nomination process
of Directors, and to enable the Company to ensure that the Board has a balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company’s

business requirements.

According to the Nomination Policy, the Nomination Committee is responsible
for selecting suitable candidates and offering recommendations to the Board
when appointing Directors. The selection criteria that shall be considered by
the Nomination Committee to assess the suitability of a proposed candidate
includes: character and integrity, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and
experience that are relevant to the Company's business and strategy, the potential
contribution to the Board in terms of diversity, and any other factors considered
appropriate by the Nomination Committee to be in the best interests of the
Company and its Shareholders. The above selection criteria are not exhaustive
and conclusive, and the Nomination Committee may nominate any person as it
considers appropriate at its discretion.

Subject to the Nomination Policy, the Nomination Committee shall hold a meeting
after obtaining the required information from the candidates to discuss and
consider the candidate’s recommendation to the Board for appointment as a
Director. The Nomination Committee shall, in accordance with the relevant Listing
Rules and the Company’s policies, examine whether the candidates are eligible for
appointment, election or re-election to the Board. In particular, the Nomination
Committee should consider the potential contribution of candidates that can
bring to the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and
gender diversity.
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Nomination Process of the Appointment of New Director

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall, after receiving the proposal for
the appointment of a new Director and the biographical information (or relevant
details) of the candidate, evaluate the candidate in accordance with the above
criteria to determine whether the candidate is qualified for the office of director.
The Nomination Committee shall then recommend to the Board the appointment
of appropriate candidates for Directors (if applicable).

For any person nominated by a Shareholder to elect a Director at a general
meeting of the Company shall be evaluated by the Nomination Committee and/
or the Board in accordance with the above criteria and, as appropriate, make
recommendations to the Shareholders on the proposed election of Directors at the
general meeting.

Board Meetings

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings regularly, which
are held at least four times a year and about once a quarter. All regular Board
meetings shall be given not less than 14 days’ notice, so as to provide all
Directors with the opportunity to attend the meeting and put the matters in the
agenda of the regular meeting.

For other Board and Board Committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally
given. The agenda and accompanying board papers are sent to Directors or Board
Committee members at least three days before the meetings to ensure that they
have sufficient time to review the documents and to prepare for the meetings.
When Directors or Board Committee members are unable to attend the meeting,
they will be informed of the matters to be discussed and have the opportunity
to inform the chairman of their opinions before the meeting. The minutes of the
meetings are kept by the company secretary and copies distributed to all Directors
for reference and records.

The minutes of the Board meetings and the Board Committee meetings are
recorded in sufficient detail about the matters considered by the Board and the
Board Committee and decisions made, including any concerns raised by the
Directors. The draft minutes of each Board meeting and Board Committee meeting
shall be sent to the Directors for comments within a reasonable time after the
date of the Board meeting. The minutes of the Board meetings are open for
inspection by the Directors.
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During the Reporting Period, the four Board meetings were held and the
attendance of each Director at the meetings is set out in the table below:
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i&iﬁﬁfﬁﬁ\] ERTAREFEER SES

FeZNEH&HI R TE:

Attended/Eligible
Attendance of to attend annual
Board meeting(s) general meeting

EXgeERR CSHE FEKREUE

Name of Directors EEpE BREEAFAE
Executive Directors HITES
Zhang Zhifeng SRS & 4/4 1
Ye Yaming i3 4/4 1
Zhang Yude (re-designated from a RE (R2021F11 519 4/4 1
non-executive Director to an executive HPTEEFERNTESE)
Director on November 19, 2021)
Zou Kang (appointed on November 19, 2021) BE (R2021F11H19HEZ(T) 4/4 1
Independent Non-executive Directors BYEHTES
Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna, M.H., J.P. HERERIE - MH. )P 4/4 1
Yang Ying oEY 4/4 1
Ding Vi T 4/4 0

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the Group's code of conduct to
regulate the securities transactions of the Directors and the relevant employees
of the Group who, because of his/her office or employment, is likely to possess
inside information in relation to the Group or the Company's securities. Having
made specific enquiries, all Directors confirmed that they had complied with the
required standards set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended August
31, 2022. In addition, the Company is not aware of any non-compliance of the
Model Code by the relevant employees of the Group during the year ended
August 31, 2022.

Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves the right to decide on all material matters of the Company,
including: approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies and
budgets, internal control and risk management systems, major transactions
(especially those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and business matters.
Directors may seek independent professional advice in performing their duties at
the expense of the Company and are encouraged to independently approach and
consult with the senior management of the Company.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are delegated
to senior management. The delegated functions and responsibilities are periodically
reviewed by the Board. The approval of the Board is required before any
significant transaction entered into by the management.
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Corporate Governance Function
The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the collective
responsibility of the Directors, including:

° reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

o reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

° developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and compliance
manual applicable to employees and Directors;

o developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and making recommendations to the Board and reporting to the

Board on matters;

o reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosing in
the corporate governance report; and

o reviewing and monitoring the Company’s compliance with the Company’s

whistle-blowing policy.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee in accordance with Rule 3.21
of the Listing Rules and has set out the written terms of reference in accordance
with paragraph C.4.1 of the CG Code. The main responsibilities of the Audit
Committee are to review and supervise the financial reporting process, risk
management and internal control system of the Group, and to supervise the audit
process and financial statements of the Group.

The Audit Committee consists of Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna, M.H., J.P., Mr. Yang
Ying and Mr. Ding Yi and is chaired by Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna, M.H., J.P. who
has the appropriate and extensive professional experience as required under the

Listing Rules.
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The main responsibilities of the Audit Committee include the following:

o to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to the Board on
the appointment, reappointment and removal of the external auditor, and to
approve the remuneration and other terms of engagement of the external
auditor, and any questions of its resignation or dismissal;

o to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standards.

o to discuss with the auditor the nature and scope of the audit and reporting

obligations before the audit commences;

o where more than one audit firm is engaged, ensure coordination between
them; and
. to develop and implement policy on engaging an external auditor to supply

non-audit services. For this purpose, “external auditor” includes any entity
that is under common control, ownership or management with the audit
firm or any entity that a reasonable and informed third party knowing all
relevant information would reasonably conclude to be part of the audit firm
nationally or internationally.

The Audit Committee should report to the Board, identifying and making
recommendations on any matters where action or improvement is needed. The
written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available for review on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held two meetings and the
attendance of the Audit Committee members at these meetings is set out below:
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Attendance of

meeting(s)
Name of Directors EEHEZ EBLHERER
Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna, M.H., J.P. (Chairperson) HERBIE  MH. - JP. (F/E) 2/2
Yang Ying CES 2/2
Ding Vi T 2/2
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During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee reviewed the annual results
and report for the year ended August 31, 2022 and the interim results and report
for the six months ended February 28, 2022, significant issues on the financial
reporting and compliance procedures, internal control and risk management
systems, range of work and the appointment of external auditor. After reviewing
the effectiveness and independence of the external audit process, the Audit
Committee was satisfied with its work.

The Group’s audited annual results for the year ended August 31, 2022 have
been reviewed by the Audit Committee on November 16 and November 28, 2022.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee with written terms of
reference in accordance with paragraph B.3.1 of the CG Code. The main functions
of the Nomination Committee are to make recommendations to our Board on
candidates to fill vacancies of the Board.

The Nomination Committee consists of Mr. Zhang Zhifeng, Mr. Yang Ying and Mr.
Ding Vi, and is chaired by Mr. Zhang Zhifeng.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include the following:

o to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge, experience and diversity of perspectives) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

o to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members of the Board
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorships;

o to assess the independence of the independent non-executive Directors;
o to make recommendations to the Board on succession planning for Directors

(in particular the chairman and the chief executive) and the appointment or
reappointment of Directors.

82 China Vocational Education Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report

SEL R

WMEMHEA - BERLZESEEHEE20229F8
A3MAILFENFEERERREHEEE2022
F2R28AIEANERMFEBAEERKRE - B
MBREREHEANERNEE  APEE
REBEE RS - TIEHE L RINEZEA
ZE T HNDEFT RN RE
M BERZESHETERIIME -

ANEEEHE2022F8A31B I FEENRENE
EHEEDN2022F 11 B16H R11828H AR
“EEEER -

REZEY
AARERELEEATUFEBIIRALR
AERRYHEREAMEGE - RAERE
MEBWEARRERRAARESES
MEFEEHERS -

REZEemMREERE HELEERT &

FEMEAK  ERAREELE -

REZEEMNIEZEMERENTRE

s ELEFRIEFENRE  ABLA
(2 %& CHE - BBREBEZE

£) XM EMBEE ARBHAFEK
BMRHESSELNESHFELRER

s YVEAREEERKAREEEMEMNE
A ERYRBEEESAMEASR I
MERGEHERS

o HMEBYFANTEEMNEILM
s HEFT(LEREIRFRITHREZ)EFT

REUREETFREENESTSELE
o



Corporate Governance Report

The Nomination Committee assesses the candidates or incumbents based on
criteria such as integrity, experience, skills and competence to invest time and
energy in performing their duties and responsibilities. The recommendations of the
Nomination Committee will then be submitted to the Board for decision.

The Company recognizes and accepts the benefits of having a diverse Board
to improve its performance and has adopted a board diversity policy aimed at
developing ways to achieve board diversity. The implementation of the policy
is supervised by the Nominating Committee. In designing the composition of
the Board, the diversity of the Board is taken into account among a number
of measurable objectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. The Nomination Committee will continue to monitor the
implementation of the board’s diversity policy and will regularly review the board’s
diversity policy to ensure its continued effectiveness.

The written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available for
review on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held one meeting to
review the nomination process and the composition and diversity of the Board and
was satisfied with the current process and composition. The attendance of the
Nomination Committee members at this meeting is set out in the table below:
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Attendance of

meeting(s)
Name of Directors EEHRE ERHEBR
Zhang Zzhifeng (Chairman) REE (£/E) 1”71
Yang Ying T 11
Ding Vi T 1/1
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Remuneration Committee

The C

ompany has established the Remuneration Committee in accordance with

Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and has stipulated the written terms of reference

in compliance with paragraph C.4.1 of the CG Code. The main responsibilities of

the Remuneration Committee are to review, determine and recommend to our

Board

on the policy and structure of the remuneration payable to our Directors

and senior management, and to make recommendations on employee benefit

arrangements.

The Remuneration Committee consists of Mr. Yang Ying, Mr. Ye Yaming and Mr.

Ding Vi, and is chaired by Mr. Yang Ying.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include the following:

84

to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all Directors’ and senior management remuneration and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy;

to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals with
reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management. This should include
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment;

to consider the salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment

and responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group;

to review and approve the compensation payable to executive Directors and
senior management for any loss or termination of office or appointment to
ensure that it is consistent with the contractual terms and is otherwise fair

and not excessive;
to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or
removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that they are consistent with

the contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved in deciding his
own remuneration;

to assess performance of executive Directors;
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. to consider and approve the terms of the executive Directors’ service

contracts; and

o to consider and implement other matters, as defined or assigned by the
Board or otherwise required by the Listing Rules from time to time.

The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available for
review on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting
to review and discuss the company’s remuneration policy and structure, as well
as the remuneration package for the company’s executive Directors and senior
management and other related matters. The Remuneration Committee ensured
that no individual or any of his associates was involved in determining his own
remuneration. It also ensured that remuneration awards were based on the
performance of individuals and companies and were consistent with market
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practices and conditions, and with the Company’s goals and strategies. No BEgTEEBHZBRRETEME
changes on the policy were recommended by the Remuneration Committee.
The attendance of each Remuneration Committee members at this meeting is set FTHEEESKERFEZSRNBRAEIR
out in the table below: T :
Attendance of
meeting(s)
Name of Directors BEERE BREHERBR
Yang Ying (Chairman) & (FE) 171
Ye Yaming it 3ef] 1/1
Ding Vi T 1/1
Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management EERENEEEHMH

Details of the remuneration by band of the members of the Board and senior

HE2022F8A3MALFE - EFGKEMA

management of the Company for the year ended August 31, 2022 are set out NEEREBERBRANE S HEFHMFBEHT
below: I
Number of
individuals
Remuneration band Fr B A% 1 AH
RMB2 million to RMB3 million ARB2EETZEARK3IEET 1
RMBO to RMB1 million ARBOTEARBIBET 9
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibility to prepare the financial
statements for the year ended August 31, 2022 in order to give a true and fair
view of the affairs of the Company and the Group and the results and cash flows
of the Group.

The management has provided the necessary explanations and information to the
Board to enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the Company’s

financial statements and submit them to the Board for approval.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

The statement by the auditor regarding their reporting duties on the consolidated
financial statements of the Company is set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report on pages 137 to 145 of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board recognizes that it is the responsibility of the Board to maintain
appropriate risk management and internal control systems to protect shareholders’
investment and the Company’s assets, and to review the effectiveness of these

systems on an annual basis.

The Group's internal audit department plays a major role in monitoring the
internal governance of the Company. The major tasks of the internal audit
department are reviewing the internal control of the Company and conducting
comprehensive audits of all branches and subsidiaries of the Company on a

regular basis.

Under the Company’s risk management and internal control structure, the
management is responsible for designing, implementing and maintaining
risk management and internal control systems to ensure, amongst others, (i)
developing and establishing appropriate policies and control procedures to protect
the Group's assets from improper use or disposal; (i) complying with relevant
laws, rules and regulations; and (iii) keep reliable financial and accounting records
in accordance with relevant accounting standards and regulatory reporting
requirements.
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The main features of risk management and internal control structure of the
Company are as follows:

o the heads of major business units or departments manage risks by
identifying and mitigating risks in accordance with the internal standards
approved by the Board and the Audit Committee;

o the management ensures appropriate actions are taken on significant risks
affecting the Group’s businesses and operations; and

o the internal auditors provide independent assurance to the Board, the
Audit Committee and the management concerning the effectiveness of risk

management and internal control systems.

During the Reporting Period, each major business unit or department was
responsible for daily risk management activities, including identifying major risks
that may affect the Group’s performance, assessing and evaluating the identified
risks according to their possible impacts and the possibility of occurrence, and
formulating and implementing measures, controls and response plans to manage
and mitigate such risks. The management continuously monitored and reviewed
the risk management and internal control systems on an ongoing basis and
reported to the Audit Committee regarding the status of the systems.

The Company’s internal audit function monitored the Company’s internal
governance and provided independent assurance on the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control system.
The senior executives responsible for the internal audit function report directly
to the Audit Committee. The internal audit reports on the effectiveness of
control were submitted to the Audit Committee in accordance with the agreed
audit plan approved by the Board. All Directors were informed of the results of
the internal audit assignments. During the Reporting Period, the internal audit
function conducted an analysis and independent assessment of the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control systems
through, amongst others, examination of risk-related documentation prepared by
operation units and the management and conducting interviews with employees at
all levels. The senior executives of the internal audit function attended the Audit
Committee meeting to explain the results of the internal audit and responded to
the questions of the members of the Audit Committee.
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The Company has internal guidelines to ensure that inside information is equally
and timely disseminated to the public in accordance with applicable laws and
regulations. The senior executives of the Group's investor’s relation, corporate
affairs and financial control functions are empowered to control and monitor
appropriate procedures to be followed for inside information disclosure. Access
to inside information is limited to the relevant senior executives at all times and
on a “need to know" basis. Relevant personnel and other professional parties
involved are reminded to maintain the confidentiality of the inside information
until it is publicly disclosed. Other procedures, such as pre-clearance on dealing in
Company'’s securities by Directors and designated members, notification of periodic
blackouts and restrictions on securities trading for Directors and employees,
and identification of project by code name have also been implemented by the
Company to prevent possible improper handling of inside information within the
Group.

The Company has adopted arrangements to facilitate employees and other
stakeholders to raise concerns about possible misconducts in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters. The Audit Committee regularly reviewed
such arrangements and ensured that appropriate arrangements are in place to
investigate these matters fairly and independently and to take appropriate follow
up action.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee reviewed the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems of the Company. The
annual review included works such as (i) review of reports submitted by
heads of operation units or departments and the management regarding the
implementation of the risk management and internal control systems; (ii) periodic
discussions with the management and senior executives regarding the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems and the works of the
internal audit function. Such discussions include the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions; (iii) evaluation on the
scope and quality of management’'s ongoing monitoring of the risks management
and internal control systems; (iv) review of the effectiveness of the internal audit
function to ensure coordination within the Group and between the Company’s
internal and external auditors and to ensure the internal audit function is
adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the Group; and (v)
making recommendations to the Board and the management on the scope and
quality of the management’s ongoing monitoring of the risk management and
internal control systems.

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group and considered such systems to be
effective and adequate. Such systems, however, are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss.

88 China Vocational Education Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report

SEL R

RRAREANHLES] - AERARZHE SRR
BERAERERTERRMAREM - KK
BB EBE - AT E R R A R
EREBABEEREZNREEANSHES K
BRAETHEERN - RAHRBESREREA
EHEIFEMNBINBERAT  THREBIAE
HE - HEAABREMPRNERATERE
ERABEHREARBBEMRE - ARAFBNER
HEMmER (MBEFAIEEREEKEEE
ARBES BEFMEEEEIFSFNTHE
ERREIBHM - ARBEBRIEHBIER)
APTIEATREEI R ER B AR B SN T EEE o

AABERMRE e ERE R EMA G
HEEALREAEBM GRS  ABEERE
MEENARETETROEIT EREES
TN ZERY BEREAEERHLQF
B FEZEFRLRIEENRETH o

BEMBA ERZESCRIARARR
EERAMBEERGNERE - FERSTE
FBATIE: (VEHEEEMMPITENE
BERIXMNEMEREREMAIEZE RGN
R RS (NEMREREERSREEAR
AwmEREE RN EERSNA R RA
MEABENTIE -ZETHEELARAE
iHOAHEFRYBHRERENER BT
BAE N A& Wl R EEE TR M ¢ (i)
HEEEEHRREERANBEE RGN
BEEBNREREE (VR ABTE B
BB MM - NERAEEAKEAR BN
KON Z BB 2 MW 8 - R AR A
BEAERACERREASERNAEEE
i RV EERESEREELABEER
BOFEEENEENEENEFTERER
IR -

EXgEHASERRERBRAMBEERR
BMBERMEETRY  URRZEFERBRE
R AWM ZEZXRORFTEELEE(M
IEHBR)RBEEEREBARNRAR - ReEsh
LTERRERMKBRIBESEM LYW
Re& -



Corporate Governance Report

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers as the independent auditor
for the year ended August 31, 2022. For the year ended August 31, 2022, the
total fees paid/payable in respect of the audit service provided by the Group's

independent auditor are set out below:
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RN

Amount/RMB’000
B ARETR

Fee for audit services (including Hong Kong Standard on  #%EUREER (BERESEEMEZEELE24105%
Review Engagements 2410 review on interim results) ERTEES) 2,550
Total st 2,550

The Group also appointed another external auditor in respect of the statutory
audit services during the Reporting Period. For the year ended August 31, 2022,
the total fees paid/payable in respect of the audit service provided by the Group's
other external auditor are RMB140,000.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Lei Yingran is one of the joint company secretaries of the Company, whose
biographical details are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior

Management” of this annual report.

Mr. Cheung Kai Cheong, Willie is the other joint company secretary of the
Company.

Mr. Cheung Kai Cheong, Willie, a Hong Kong resident, has been a senior
manager of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited since April 5,
2017 and is responsible for assisting listed companies in professional company
secretarial works. Mr. Cheung has more than 10 years of professional experience
in the company secretarial field and has extensive knowledge and experience in
dealing with corporate governance, regulatory and compliance affairs of listed
companies. Mr. Cheung has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since January 2009, and a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants since October 2008. Mr. Cheung
received his bachelor’s degree in arts (with honours), majoring in accounting and
finance from University of Glamorgan, the United Kingdom, in June 1996.

During the Reporting Period, Ms. Lei Yingran and Mr. Cheung Kai Cheong,
Willie have undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
respectively in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that effective communication with Shareholders is essential
to strengthening investor relations and understanding the Group’s business,
performance and strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance of
timely and non-selective disclosure of information, which will enable Shareholders

and investors to make the informed investment decisions.

In order to promote effective communication, the Company adopts a shareholder’s
communication policy which aims to establish a two-way relationship and
communication between the Company and the Shareholders, and maintain
the Company’s website (www.cveduholdings.com), where provides up-to-date
information of the Company’s business operations and developments, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information for public
access.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has disclosed information on the
business, performance and strategies of the Group on the Company’s website,
onto which contact information for shareholders to contact the Company’s
investor relations department at any time (including email address and telephone/
fax numbers) is uploaded. Accordingly, the Board considers that the shareholder’s
communication policy is implemented effectively during the year ended August 31,
2022.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

In order to safeguard the interests and rights of Shareholders, a separate
resolution will be proposed for each issue at the general meetings including the
election of individual Directors.

All resolutions proposed at the general meeting will be voted pursuant to the
Listing Rules and the voting results will be posted on the website of the Company
and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner after each general meeting.

CONVENING OF EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING AND PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, a general meeting shall be convened by
the Company on the written requisition of any two or more members deposited
at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the
Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office specifying
the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided that such
requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company. General meetings may also be convened on
the written requisition of any one member which is a recognised clearing house
(or its nominee(s)) deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong

20 China Vocational Education Holdings Limited
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or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered
office specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist,
provided that such requisitionist held as at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company. If the Board does not within
21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the
meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any
of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them,
may convene the general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as
that in which meetings may be convened by the Board provided that any meeting
so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the
date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them
by the Company.

ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about the Company to
the Board could send their enquiries to the headquarters of the Company at The
Administration Building of Guangzhou Huali Science and Technology Town, No.
11 Huali Road, Zengcheng District, Guangzhou, Guangdong Province, PRC (email
address: ir@hltz.net).

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company has adopted the amended and restated memorandum and articles
of association of the Company by special resolution passed on August 16, 2019
and effective on November 25, 2019. During the Reporting Period, there was no
change in the memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

China Vocational Education Holdings Limited (formerly known as “Huali
University Group Limited”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
“Group” or “we") are pleased to publish our fourth Environmental, Social,
and Governance (“ESG") Report (the “Report”). The Group expects to
provide the stakeholders with objective and reliable non-financial information
in the form of annual reports, so as to promote stakeholders’ understanding
and participation in the process of the Group’s sustainable development.

Reporting Standards

The Report is prepared based on the Environmental, Social, and Governance
Reporting Guide (the "ESG Reporting Guide”) under Appendix 27 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The preparation process of the
Report has complied with the “comply or explain” provisions and reporting
principles in the ESG Reporting Guide, which includes:

Materiality:

The Group conducted materiality assessment to identify material issues
during the Reporting Period, thereby determining the material issues as the
focus for the preparation of the ESG Report. The materiality of these issues
was reviewed and confirmed by the ESG Committee. Please refer to the
sections headed “Stakeholder Engagement” and “Materiality Assessment”
for more details.

Quantitative:

The Group has disclosed the statistical standards, methodologies, calculation
tools as well as sources of conversion factors to all information in the
Report. Our key performance indicators are sourced from the statistics of its
relevant departments.

Balance:
The Report impartially describes the Group’s performance during the
Reporting Period, to avoid selections, omissions, or presentation formats that

may inappropriately influence a decision or judgment by the report reader.

Consistency:

The statistical methods and standards for data disclosed in the Report,
unless otherwise specified, are consistent with previous years. If there are
any changes to the methodologies, calculations, or any other factors that
affect meaningful comparison, we will make a clear explanation.

Please refer to the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” set out
on pages 73 to 91 in the 2022 Annual Report for the corporate governance
practices of the Group.
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Scope of the Report
The Report describes the overall performance of the Group on sustainable
development relating to its core business, and the fulfillment of our

corporate social responsibility during the Reporting Period.
Unless otherwise stated, the scope of the Report included:
—  Guangzhou Huali College (“Huali College”)

—  Guangzhou Huali Science and Technology Vocational College (“Huali

Vocational College”)

—  Guangdong Province Huali Technician College (“Huali Technician
College”)

The scope above is all located in Guangdong Province. The scope of the

Report is consistent with the ESG Report last year.

Reporting Languages
The Report is published in English and Chinese. In case of any discrepancy,
the English version shall prevail.

Approval of the Report
The Report has been approved by the board of Directors (the “Board”) of
the Group on November 29, 2022.

Report Feedback

The feedback of stakeholders can help the group establish a more detailed
and sound sustainability strategy. Should you have any enquiries or
suggestions, please contact us via email address: hlu@hltz.net.
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SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT

2.1

2.2

Board Statement

To create long-term value, the Group is committed to operating in
an environmentally and socially-responsible manner. An effective
governance structure has been established to manage and assess
ESG performance and the relevant policies. The Board develops
strategic directions in relation to ESG, and oversees environmental
management, personnel management, teaching quality and health
and safety. Under the authorization of the Board, the ESG committee
actively participates in ESG strategies and important work, and
each department is responsible for the implementation of ESG-
related policies in the daily operation process. The Group determines
the relative materiality of different sustainability indicators through
materiality assessments and internal discussions. Business risk
management is identified and prioritized based on the likelihood
of ESG occurrence relevant to the Group, which is then assessed
and approved by the Board. The Board regularly reviews the
progress in achieving the environmental objectives to ensure that
the management policies effectively reduce the impact of company
operations on the environment.

ESG Governance Structure

The Group has established an ESG governance structure, and
internally established an ESG work management structure that
integrates “top-down” and “bottom-up” sustainable development
governance strategies. The Board formulates the strategic plans for
corporate sustainable development, and is ultimately responsible
for the Group’s ESG strategy, decision-making on ESG and the
effectiveness of ESG risk management, and implements the concept
of sustainable development into its daily work. The structure consists
of three parts: decision-making level, organisation level ("ESG

committee”) and execution level.
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2.3

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Decision-making level: Board of the Group

The Board is the highest decision-making level of the Group which
takes full responsibility for ESG strategy and reporting. The Board
monitors sustainable development performance and progress of
the Group. It reviews and approves the Group’'s ESG management
policies, strategies, goals, and annual work, including assessment,
prioritization, and management of material ESG issues, risks, and
opportunities. It also regularly reviews the ESG performance of the
Group and its progress in achieving related objectives.

Organisation level: ESG committee

The Group’s ESG committee is the second level of the governance
structure. The ESG committee is delegated by the Board and led by
executive director and senior management. Other members include
representatives from various departments. The ESG committee is
responsible for formulating ESG management policies, strategies,
goals, and annual work and promoting related implementation. They
also identify, evaluate, review, and manage material ESG issues, risks
and opportunities. All working status and related recommendations
will be reported to the Board of the Group regularly.

Execution level: Relevant departments of the Group
The execution level is the third level of the governance structure,
which includes all relevant departments of the Group. This level is
responsible for organizing, promoting, and implementing various
ESG related tasks under the Group’s ESG management policies and
strategies. All tasks will be reported to the ESG committee regularly.

Stakeholder Engagement

The Group values stakeholders and their opinions on the Group’s
business and ESG matters. In order to understand and respond
to the concerns of stakeholders, the Group uses various channels
and methods to understand the requirements and suggestions of
all parties and fulfill various responsibilities. The Group emphasizes
communication with stakeholders, and fully considers the interests and
expectations of stakeholders when making decisions, which helps the
Group to formulate appropriate sustainable development policies and

fulfill corporate social responsibilities.
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When formulating operational and environmental, social, and
governance strategies, the Group considers the expectations
of stakeholders through various engagement methods and
communication channels, as shown in the table below:
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Main methods for

Major stakeholders Expectations and demands communication and response
TENSDHEES M EEFR TEBBEREELSRX
Investors/shareholders — Investment return — Meetings and interviews

— Business growth

REE/BR — KREO®
—$BRE

Government/industry associations — Compliant and reasonable
operation

— Business growth

— Quality of teaching

— Information transparency
Eﬁﬁ/fi’%ﬁ%@ *%%ﬁéiﬁﬁfﬁ

— XBER

—HEEE

—EREHE

Regulators — Compliant and reasonable
operation
— Business growth
— Employee benefits

EEHRE —AHREIEER
— XBER
—HBIFE
Employees — Quality of teaching

— Career development

— Compensation and benefit
packages

— Healthy and safe working
environment

— Fair treatment

— Value demonstration

B E —HEEE
—BELEHER
— F R B
—REZRENTHERE
— RFYHRF
—EERR

96 China Vocational Education Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report

(Research and analysis)
— Annual general meetings
— Interim and annual reports
— gREK(ARRDN)
—RFEBAFAE
— PR FERS
— Consultations
— Lectures
— School ratings
— School visits
— Organization of industry activities

kY
=
Al A

— B

— BRFS

—BREER

—HBITERS

— Compliance reports

— Consultations

— Audits and annual inspections of
private colleges and universities

—aRmE

— R

— Fit R e RER

— Channels for employees to express

their opinions (questionnaires,
suggestion boxes, symposiums)

— Work performance appraisals
and interviews

— Meetings and interviews
(Teacher’s forum)

— Seminars/workshops/lectures

— Staff communication meetings

— Staff Intranet

—BIXRESAMNREGIEHS -
BERME B#Hg

— TERIRA R RAEHK

— GHE® (HARE)

— e, T HRE

—BIEBAKRE

— BTN



Major stakeholders

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Expectations and demands

Main methods for

communication and response

R -HENERWRE

FTENBHEES P EFR FTEBEREELSRX
Students/parents — Quality of teaching — Satisfaction survey
— Corporate governance — Supervision feedback
— Sound operation — Education expo
— Healthy and safe campus — Online platforms
— Protection of student information — Telephone
— Mailbox
BERE —HEES —mEEMSERE
—EER — BEERE&
—REge —HERESZ
—RBREZERE —®EFA
— 2AEERE — &
— B FH

Former students

Ex

Business partners

EBRH

Suppliers
e

Community/non-governmental
organizations

tti& BT e
Public
N

— School ranking
— Quality of teaching
— Teaching reform

— BREA
—HREE
—HERE

— Teaching quality and effectiveness

— Teaching reform
— Business growth

— BEHBARR
—BENE
—%BHEE

— Fair and just procurement
— Anti-corruption

— AFRAERE
—REB

— Promoting community development
— Participating in public welfare and

charity
— Environmental protection
— M EER
— 2HNGREE
— RIBRE
— Quality of teaching
— Teacher qualifications
— Investment return
— Information transparency
—HEEE
— HEN A E
— 1R & [ ¥
— ERBERE

— Former student activities held by

the school
— Former student reunions
— School website
— Media reports
— BRBPHELEEH
—E4EEe
— B Ak

—REMER

— Exchange activities and visits
— Meetings (Industry-University

Research seminar)
— Education expo
— Lectures

— Strategic cooperation projects

— RmIEEBMER
—eg=(E2WSg)
—HERES

— B

— HREA(FAERE

— Supplier management procedures

— Field inspections
—HERERRERF

— B R

— Volunteers and community activities

— Seminars/workshops/lectures
— Donations

—HILRHEFEE

— e EES TS
— AR

— School websites

— School activities

— Education expo

— Media reports

— BRI

— BRERNED
—HERE®

—RENES
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2.4 Materiality Assessment
During the Reporting Period, the Group conducted a materiality
assessment through online questionnaires to collect opinions from
key stakeholders such as investors, employees and students to assess
the materiality of different ESG issues. The Group took the average
score of all feedbacks to sort out and prioritize material ESG issues to
ensure that the assessment results are accurate and objective.

The Group analyzed the results of the materiality survey into a
materiality matrix. The identified material issues and concerns
raised by stakeholders would be reviewed and discussed with the
management, and disclosed in the Report. In 2022, the Group’s
materiality matrix is as follows:

ESG Materiality Matrix
ESGEREE BB

General Moderate materiality High materiality
materiality FEEE BEEE
—REE

24

Materiality to the stakeholders
HAFEETNEES
°

2.4 EEHFMGE

RERER  AEBEERET
ERHEEHEETTEZHEN
i MREE BEIRBELEEH
RAMNBEETWERR - AFTHE
TRARE HEREREENE
B ARERERERENF
B8 ERESGH B AT D BN
o AR HERERTE

AEBKEZMHFHENHEROMN
REEMNEE DEINEESR
BENGHETRIEESERE
BN S E R ETA - WRA

Materiality to the Group
HAREENEEY
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ESG issues of high materiality

Corresponding sections in ESG report

ESGHEHEEH

1.

B EEZESGEE
Health and safety of students
BHERRREZR
Health and safety of employees
BIRERZSR
Teacher qualifications and professional conduct of
employees
BMEERETIEERST
Control of teaching quality
BEE ST
Student employment rate
BEREX

Excellent Quality Education
EHEEHE
Excellent Quality Education
SEWEEHE

Excellent Quality Education

EWREHE

Protection and Development of Employees
8 TR 3R

Excellent Quality Education

SEUWEEHE

ESG issues of moderate materiality

Corresponding sections in ESG report

FEEEESGEE ESGI HHEE &

6. Anti-corruption Compliant and Responsible Governance
RERE aHREMELER

7. Green campus and office Building a Green Campus Together
HEREEPAE HEHERE

8. Employment rights and welfare protection Protection and Development of Employees
HERELBANRE BETREMER

9. Diversity of employees and equal opportunities Protection and Development of Employees
EIZHKUERTEHRS BETREMERE

10.  Air pollutant emissions and management Building a Green Campus Together
ZERGRMIFER I E R HEFERE

11.  Compliance operations Compliant and Responsible Governance
&R EE aHREMLER

12.  Protection on information and privacy Compliant and Responsible Governance
= ERALRE EREEER

13.  Training and development of employees Protection and Development of Employees
8 T 313 & B T {R& 3R

14.  Water management Building a Green Campus Together
RKER e E

15. Compliant handling and responding mechanism Compliant and Responsible Governance
& R BE 38 % [0 JE EHREREER

16.  Greenhouse gas emissions and management Building a Green Campus Together
mERBHRLERE HEgERE

17.  Brand promotion management Building a Green Campus Together
an b T R B IR e E

18.  Environmental education Building a Green Campus Together
BRIEHE HEgeRE

19. Waste management Building a Green Campus Together
BEEYE R HEgeRE

REBEREERERA R
2022 FERE

99



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE g lkERwmE

100

ESG issues of general materiality
— R E EESGHE

Corresponding sections in ESG report
ESGH EHEEH

20.

Protection of intellectual property right

REABERE

Compliant and Responsible Governance
EHREEER

Building a Green Campus Together
Compliant and Responsible Governance
Building a Green Campus Together

Building a Green Campus Together

Community Contribution

2.5

21. Tackling climate change

JEH A IR E b fEseiE
22.  Supply chain management

e aREMEER
23.  Use of materials

% F# # fEgeiE
24.  Energy management

BEIRE 12 HERERE
25.  Community investment and involvement

HERERSH 12 5 B

The Group reviewed the results of the materiality assessment and
believed that the above results still apply to the Group. The Group
will regularly monitor the Group’s business operations and its

environmental, social, and governance performance.

Risk Management

We have a robust risk management system, and have already
implemented the Risk Management System ( (EBEEH|E) ). Risk
management is an ongoing process, so our Board, Compliance and
Risk Management Department, Audit Committee, and all departments
are responsible for identifying, evaluating, and managing the risks of
the Group. We constantly monitor the latest laws, regulations, and
industry trends, and combine the Group’s own situation and strategic

objectives to identify ESG risks and respective levels.

We continuously identify and assess corresponding ESG and climate
change risks, such as energy crisis, anti-corruption, occupational
health and safety, which may affect the Group’s business strategy and
stakeholders.

The Group manages the above risks comprehensively with five
procedures: risk management concept establishment and risk
acceptance, target setting, risk identification, risk analysis and risk
response.
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According to the risk response, the Group formulates risk
management solutions for various risks in the monthly convened
risk assessment meeting. The solution generally includes the specific
objectives, the required organizational leadership, the management
and business processes involved, the required resources, the specific
response measures taken before, during and after the risk event, and
a risk management tool. After the meeting, a “Risk assessment and
response table” ( EEFT(AFIFEE K ) ) will be drafted for approval
by the Audit Committee and the Board.

EXCELLENT QUALITY EDUCATION

The Group is a pioneer in the private education industry in China and
top-ranked private higher education institutions and private vocational
educations institutions in South China.

3.1 Education Concept

The Group’s teaching philosophy is, based on offering high-quality
applied science-focused higher education, as well as emphasizing
social responsibility and human development, adopting the talent
training model of “work-study combination and school-enterprise
cooperation” to cultivate high-quality talent with high-moral character,
and pragmatic innovative characteristics, to create value for the
education services provided by our “Huali” schools.

The Group offers private higher education and private vocational
education in a wide range of fields in applied sciences to prepare
our students with the necessary knowledge base, skill sets and
accreditations to secure jobs and pursue careers in particular
professions, trades and industries.

We have designed our curricula with a distinct emphasis on practical,
job-oriented conduct for a variety of majors that are in demand and
potential employers in the Pearl Delta. We believe our market-focused
major offerings, practical job-oriented curricula and practical training
help our students to become more marketable to potential employers.
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3.2 Teaching Quality Management

33

The Group believes high-quality teaching and a good school
reputation are the key to cultivating young talents and ensuring the
continuous development of the school. We have built a relatively
comprehensive educational and practical teaching system and ensure
teaching quality is to “promote teaching and learning by evaluation,
learn from each other, and improve teaching quality”.

In order to continuously improve the teaching management team and
improve the school teaching supervision system, the teaching quality
management is continuously overseen by the teaching supervision
office and academic affairs office of the university, which focuses on
strengthening the interactive communication among schools, teachers,
and students.

Teaching standards and systems such as Teaching Work Standards
( (2T {E#£ &) ), Standards for Teaching Management ( (ZREE
BT {ER4E) ), Code of Professional Ethics for Teachers ( (ZATEEZE
JE=RE) ), Treatment Methods for Teaching Accidents ( (M EE#
REREHE) ), and Teaching Quality Monitoring and Management
Measures ( (Z2ESETEHERIIE) ) are implemented to manage

teaching methods and ensure the quality of teaching.

Student Awards and Financial Aids

In order to encourage students to study hard and take initiatives,
and achieve comprehensive development in aspects such as morality,
intelligence, sports and aesthetics, as well as fully reflecting the care
of China and schools to students with financial difficulties in their
families, the school has been established national scholarships (BIZX
#EE2$), national inspirational scholarships (BB #2E24), national
bursaries (BZRBIE ), tuition-free subsidies (FRE2EB#BIE), temporary
hardship subsidies (F&Es R £ 8)), compulsory military service tuition
compensations (fREB LK EEHE), and national student loan
compensation (BAXBZEFK(E), etc. The Group directly provides
scholarships, special subsidies for freshmen, tuition waiver subsidies,
bursaries, work-study subsidies, etc. All scholarships or aids are used
to reward or subsidize Huali students to complete their studies and
become talents in society. In the academic year of 2021-2022, 8,188

students received scholarships or aids.
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3.4 Students’ Career Development

3.5

Our curricula is to combine theoretical study with practical training to
enhance our students’ ability to apply knowledge and skills to real-life
situations and increase their employment rate. A career development
team led by the headmaster and the Board, which is responsible for
formulating career development policies and building connections with
other companies. Our schools have established an extensive school-
enterprise cooperation network. Up to the Reporting Period, we have
connected approximately 300 companies to offer professional training
to students.

Meanwhile, the school organizes large-scale campus job fairs with
different companies, and it helps students contact companies to
observe and practise. The career development activities have received

positive feedback from our students.

To provide more job opportunities for our graduates, the Group
actively promotes different online career platforms to our graduates,
such as 24365 Campus Recruitment (24365 EBIEES) ") and
Guangdong Universities Graduates Career and Entrepreneurship (“&
RABAFEAIE") online platforms and applications. Moreover, by
offering startup funding, we encourage students to establish their
own businesses, so that they can have an opportunity to pursue their
dreams.

Healthy and Safe Campus

The health and safety of our staff and students are still our top
priority. The Group strictly complied with the laws and regulations
relating to health and safety protection of schools, teachers and
students, such as the Law on Prevention and Control of Occupational
Diseases of the PRC ((HFEARKMBEBERG AE) ), the
Regulation on Sanitary Work of Schools ( (2R &4 THEMEHI) ), the
Fire Prevention Law of the PRC ( (A #E AR EFEEBHE) ) and the
Food Safety Law of the PRC ( (FFEARLMBERMELEE) ). We
have also formulated internal policies and regulations to maintain a
healthy and safe campus and organized health and safety education
activities for our students and employees. During the Reporting
Period, the Group had not violated any law or regulation relating to
health and safety, and there were also no work-related fatalities and

lost working days due to work injury.
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Prevention and Control of COVID-19

To cope with the pandemic and to protect our employees and
students, we implement prevention and control work, such as
Emergency Plan for Prevention and Control of COVID-19 Infection
( CGREYTEAR R B BRI A TR 12 B2 782 ) ), Emergency Plan for
Handling Public Health Emergencies ((REARFEEHEEESTE
22)), Implementation Work Plan for Nucleic Acid Testing (xB#%
BIE T YEJ E) and Management Plan for Campus Lockdown and
Control ({(REFHEAFIEEIETEZR) ) in accordance with the Law on
Prevention and Control of Communicable Diseases of the PRC ( (%

ARKMBEREEE) ).

To strengthen the effectiveness of pandemic prevention and control,
our employees and students who are eligible for vaccination actively
participated in the vaccination programme.

To ensure safe operation from the pandemic after the commencement
of classes, we set up a nucleic acid testing service in September 2021,
and volunteers provided pandemic prevention and control volunteer
services, including order maintenance and code verification, for
nucleic acid testing sites. In addition, we organized emergency drills
for prevention and control in August 2022, to improve emergency
response systems and measures. Morning and afternoon inspections
were arranged to monitor the health conditions of our employees
and students, to prevent the spread of virus and disease. Promotion
and education were also in place throughout the year to raise the
awareness of employees and students.
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Fire Safety

In order to strengthen the fire safety awareness of the teachers and
students in school and to popularize their fire safety knowledge, we
invited professionals from professional organizations to conduct fire
safety lectures and practical exercises for all freshmen in September
2021. In May 2022, Shenzhen Zhengan Fire Education Consultation
Center was invited to hold fire safety education lectures, so that
teachers and students could profoundly recognize the danger of fire
and the importance of early prevention.

Food Safety

Our catering service complies with relevant laws and regulations.
We have a comprehensive internal control system such as Food
Management Policy ( (BEREEHIE) ), to maintain the hygiene
and safety of the food provided to our employees and students. We
have regularly conducted internal inspections to monitor the canteen
environment and the hygiene conditions of tableware and equipment.

Physical Health and Mental Wellbeing

We are committed to protecting the physical and mental health of
teachers and students, we established Health Management Policy
((EEEIEHE) ) and Mental Crisis Precautions and Intervention
Policy ( (DEEMIEELEMFIESIE) ). Meanwhile, we conduct a
physical examination for teachers and students every year to keep
abreast of their health status in time.
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3.6

Laboratory Safety

In order to maintain the safety of teachers and students in various
laboratories, we have implemented laboratory safety management
protocol ( (EBZEL2EIRYE) ). We held a laboratory safety
training in April 2022 to enhance the safety awareness of the
teachers and students. We carried out a safety inspection of the
laboratories in the whole school in August 2022 to ensure that the
laboratory equipment was safe and that there were sufficient safety

warnings before the school commenced.

Continuous Review of Teaching Quality

The high education quality of the Group and steadfast in the original
intention of “education of nurturing talents” drive us to continuously
improve the quality of education. We have actively enabled students
to express their opinions towards the teaching arrangements through
various communication platforms, such as WeChat groups, the
mailbox of the Chairman of Board and the petitioning office so that
the management team can feedback and respond to students’ needs
effectively. Face-to-face student forums were hosted in the middle
and at the end of each semester to encourage direct communications
between students and teachers and review the performance of the

past semester.

Besides expressing concern in public channels, students can also file
complaints to school under the Administrative Measures for Student
Complaints ( (BARFEEIIE) ). The complaints will then be
transferred to the Committee for Student Complaints’ Handling (£
ERFRIZZ B E). Members of such committee consist of school
leaders, teachers and student representatives. The diversity of the
committee members protects the rights of students and ensures fair
investigation and treatment of the complaint. After the investigation,
if the complaint is found to be valid, disciplinary actions will be taken
against the respondent. During the Reporting Period, we received
five complaints about educational and teaching services, all of the
complaints have been dealt properly after timely communication and
feedback.
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PROTECTION AND DEVELOPMENT OF
EMPLOYEES

The Group recognizes every employee is our important assets. We are
committed to safeguarding their rights and interests and care about their
well-being. Moreover, we provide comprehensive continuous training to

support our employees’ professional development.

4.1 Protection of Employment Rights
It is our duty to provide an equal working environment for our
employees and protect their rights at the same time. We have
formulated the Recruitment Guide ( { AEFREET{E3ER ) ), Employees’
Manual ( (ZB T F M) ) and other relevant management rules
to standardize the recruitment process of employees and provide
employment guidelines for them.

During the Reporting Period, the Group strictly complied with the
relevant laws and regulations including the Labour Law of the PRC
((REARLMBELEL) ), the Labour Law of the PRC ( {FFEA
REMBELESFE) ) and the Implementation Regulations for the
Labour Contract Law of the PRC ( (REARKFMBELEERIEE
f&B1) ), etc.. We had not violated any law or regulation relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment, and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, benefit packages, equal opportunity, diversity and

anti-discrimination.
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RE -HE )SZ’W aHE

The Group strictly prohibits any discrimination based on gender, AEBEBRZTBE - FHH - 15
ethnicity, race, religious belief, nationality, age, and other factors in B MBEZFEmAERAM
recruitment, remuneration, training, promotion and dismissal, and Al Rk Bk REEMD B
respects multicultural and religious beliefs. Potential talents were E FREAZENKE EEH%
recruited through the internet, job fair and universities, and will be XA RN - KEBE BB
assessed based on their educational background, qualifications and DA FHEeNaRBERE
relevant work experiences. During the Reporting Period, we have a AT URBEHEESR -
total of 2,131 employees. The statistics on the Group’s employment BRI RREITE -
data are as follows: RmEBHER - RMIEF2131

HET - AEBEBRELIESF W

T

Employees distribution by gender Employees distribution by age
RERIEPNETI DM REREIDPNETI S
684 621
(32%) (29%)
1,072
(50%) 1,059
(50%)
826
(39%)
We strictly comply with the Law of the PRC on the Protection of BAPIERAE B F(REARLME R
Minors ( (R ZE AR FKMBIARKE ARFEE) ) and the Provisions on BF ANREE)FCKEILERET
the Prohibition Against the Use of Child Labour ( (ZEIHEFRZET HE) - BMERERERZER
#¥7E) ). The personal information of the applicant will be verified BANFEAEE  UBERIT2E
during the recruitment process to ensure no child labour will be BEI WMEREIRHEERE
employed. The employment will promptly be terminated according B B BIECER IE R IBRAR o
to the law if the employee is revealed to provide false information. R|EMNBEAR AEEREEA
During the Reporting Period, there was no child labour nor forced ERETIHRGSBHMER -
labour in the Group.
108 China Vocational Education Holdings Limited
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Based on the laws and regulations including the Education Law of
the PRC ( (HZEARKFIEZE L) ), the Higher Education Law of
the PRC ( (REARKMBEFGEHE L) ) and the Law for Promoting
Private Education of the PRC ( (REARKMBIRPHB REE) ),
a Performance Appraisal Scheme ( (M E#% %) ) has been
developed for different levels and positions of employees to enhance
their work initiative and efficiency. Teachers are being assessed by
teaching supervisors using appraisal indicators such as professional
ethics and morality, class preparation, teaching quality and class
effectiveness. The assessment results are aligned with the adjustment
of salary and bonus, which motivates teachers to strive for their best
to maintain a high level of teaching quality.

Employees distribution by
employment type

RIECHENERRE

BREB(PEARKMBEHE E)
(hEARAXMBGSHE E)H
(R ARAMBRBHE RE
EVEERER BHMARTRAK
AMELEE THE TCERE
BHE) NiReETHEREEKE
MR - HEMAEEE R ®A
BERBETMER BR HBEE
ENMRERRSFBRTELETE
%o Bz REF N E S FHE
e B A B DR R K
MHUEEE -

RERERESNETISM
163 (8%)
102 (5%
%) 23 (1%)
1,843
(94%)
Short-term contract/part-time employees - Junior employees
EHARTI FRHMET AH/ET
Middle management Senior management
PREEE BREERE

4.2 Providing Care to Employees 42 BIEET

We are striving to expand talent education services. We also
understand that compensation and benefits serve as a motivation for
employees to strive for improvement. Therefore, we offer competitive
compensation and welfare packages to our employees. Apart from
basic salary and the national statutory five insurances and one fund,
we also provide variable salary, living allowance, housing allowance
and other allowances, and bonuses in recognition of their outstanding
performance.
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e kERRE

In addition to the statutory holidays and summer and winter breaks,

our employees are entitled to marriage leave, sick leave, and funeral

leave. Female employees are also entitled to maternity leave and

breastfeeding leave according to regulations.

We also care about the educational development of the children of

our employees. Educational subsidies are provided to the children and

grandchildren of our employees who study at our schools.

4.3

Continuous Education for Employees

We have developed a series of talent development plans, based on

our three-level study training system, which comprised of

training”,

been provided to our employees.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group arranged various types of REEHEAN  NEERHMBI LT
trainings for teaching staff, including: BREEFI - B

Main type of training
FTEZIER

Training content

EIAR

Training for new employees

8 T
Professional skills enhancement
training

EE R R IE

Online teaching method training
ERHB TR

Counselor training

548 5l

Academic exchange

B 2R

Health and safety training

fi2 Bz Ko 22 2357

Professional ethics and morality for teachers, school rules and regulations,
knowledge related to high education, job promotion path, etc.
HEBERTHER SZREAZHE SSHEHBANZ ITESARESE
Informatization ability improvement for higher education teachers, training on
the use of multimedia devices, cloud computing development and operation
and maintenance

DEHEHRAME S NRA - ZEBREFEAIE
Training on how to conduct online teaching

B AR el E AT E AR 2 Y 35 5

Psychological review for freshmen and application of review system
MELEBLE LTERMESD

Knowledge exchange within teaching units, and with other organizations
%22 5 9 EB LA Ko B HL i 4B 4 B A B3

Online training in knowledge on pandemic prevention and control

EEEMEAERERE

CEHERRRES
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COMPLIANT AND RESPONSIBLE GOVERNANCE

The Group strictly abides by laws and regulations. We are committed to
clean and compliant operations, and striving to protect campus’ health and
safety, information and privacy security, and intellectual property rights.
Various measures implemented by the Group have established a good
foundation for ensuring the steady development and operation of our
business.

5.1 Compliant Management and Operation
The Group places emphasis on a corporate culture of integrity and
ethics. We operate our business based on the principles of honesty,
ethics and integrity, and persists in the principles of sustainable
development, working with stakeholders and business partners to
create value for society. We uphold compliance governance as our
core values.

The Board has overall responsibility for the compliance operation
of the Group and supervises the implementation of our compliance
policies. We have established the Compliance Management System
((BREBFIE) ). It is applicable for the prevention, handling and
management of compliance risks within the scope of the company
and the organization. We have clearly defined the duty of every
member in the Group on compliance operation, from the Board,
senior management, compliance person in charge to each employee,
to ensure compliance operation of the Group.
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We strictly implement all relevant requirements of laws and
regulations and operate in accordance with the relevant standards.
During the Reporting Period, we had not violated any relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group in core
business and material tasks.

We respect intellectual property rights, and strictly comply with
the relevant laws and regulations, such as the Patent Law of the
PRC ((HPEAREFMBEEFL) ) and the Detailed Rules for the
Implementation of the Patent Law of the PRC ( (FPZE A RLMEE
FEEREMHE) ). We also encourage our teachers and students to
obtain patents and copyrights in order to protect their intellectual
property rights. During the Reporting Period, we have maintained 457
existing registered patents and obtained 99 new patents.

To strengthen external publicity and communication, the Group will
publish information regularly via a different platform. We strictly
abide by the laws and regulations including the Law for Promoting
Private Education of the PRC ( (FZEARKMERMHKE REL) )
and the Advertising Law of the PRC ( (FEARLMBEEE) ).
To guarantee the information’s truthfulness, reliability, and accuracy,
we require to state the source, author, responsible editor, and other
elements in our published material. Our Rules on Information Release
Management ( {{z BE A EIE4HA]) ) regulate school’s publication
of information on the internet to prevent the dissemination of
inappropriate and false information. No laws or regulations relating
to advertisements and information on the educational services are
violated during the Reporting Period.

Zero Tolerance to Corruption

We strictly adhere to the laws and regulations relating to
anticorruption, such as the Company Law of the PRC ( {F#E AR
MEIARE) ), the Anti-unfair Competition Law of the PRC ( (A ZE A
REMBIRFIEEBFEE) ) and the Interim Provisions on Prohibiting
Commercial Bribery ( (BARZIFEERBBITANYGITHEE) ). To
effectively enhance corporate compliance control, facilitate prevention
and monitoring of any corruption, bribery or any other related
malpractice, we established Anti-corruption and Anti-bribery Control
Procedure ( {RE)S - REBIRIEHIFZF) ). This control procedure
strengthens our supervision over key procedures and staff. It applies
to all our employees and the relevant stakeholders of the Group,
such as customers, suppliers, and service providers. Meanwhile, our
compliance and risk control department is responsible for monitoring
corruption or related malpractice of the Group.
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The requirement to sign an Anti-Bribery/Anti-Corruption Undertaking

(=M RIBBAFEE) ) by all employees engaged in materials
and equipment procurement, outsourcing processing, facilities and
engineering, sales, equipment maintenance and quality supervision
proves the Group’'s commitment to the prevention of commercial
bribery. Besides our employees, all our customers, suppliers, service
providers and contractors are also required to sign an Anti-Bribery/
Anti-Corruption Undertaking for Suppliers ( (H£EE R, RE
BUEFEE ) ) to ensure that all relevant stakeholders doing business
with us are law-abiding and of high integrity. During the bidding and
tendering process, we require all staff responsible for bidding and
tendering to sign an Integrity and Self-discipline Undertaking ( {5&Z
BEEAEE) ), promising to act impartially and fairly in the bidding
and tendering process.

In order to instill the corporate culture of integrity and ethics
into the mind of our employees, during the Reporting Period, we
have provided a total of 42 hours of anti-corruption training to
21 management staff, which can strengthen the management’s
supervision and management of anti-corruption and anti-bribery
by explaining the procedures and cases of fraud prevention in the
business. Besides, the Group has also provided Directors with updates

on anti-corruption measures.

Our Whistleblowing Management System ( (ZEREIZHIE) ) guides
and encourages employees and business partners to report and
expose illegal acts such as corruption and bribery. To protect the
whistle-blowers, we keep the identity and written information of
the whistle-blowers strictly confidential. Any department or person
can inform the Group through various channels including letters,
telephone and email about illegal acts, such as corruption, bribery,
and related malpractice within school’s operation, enrolment and
recruitment activities. The designated personnel assigned by the
Director of the Group will conduct an independent investigation.
Once the violation of laws and regulations are validated, we will
conduct sanctions with relevant regulations or transfer them to judicial
authorities.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had no cases involving
corruption litigation, which fully reflected the effectiveness of our

anti-corruption work.
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5.3 Privacy and Cyber Security

Data privacy and cyber security have become issues of concern to
stakeholders. The Group strictly abides by the Law of the PRC on
Guarding State Secrets ( (A ZEARLFMBEREX) ) and other relevant
laws and regulations in the PRC. We have established the relevant
regulations and systems, such as Regulations on Student Information
Security Management ( (24£EEEZ2EEMRE) ), Regulations on
Student File Management ( (2 4EEREEME) ) and Prevention
(BIEfERHBEEME) )

safeguard the information of students. The important |nformat|on

of Information Leakage Statement (

of students is kept in high confidentiality to prevent leakage. Any
transfer or access is forbidden without the permission of relevant
department heads.

The Group strictly abides by the Regulations on Security Protection of
((hzEARATB S

1&f51) ), the Interim Provisions on the Administration

Computer Information Systems of the PRC
BERELZ2RE
of Computer Information Network with International Connections
of the PRC ((FEARAMBGFERE R EREEBEATEEITR
JE) ) and other relevant laws and we have established Regulations
on Information Network Security Management ( {{Z B84 T2 E IR
fE) ) and Regulations on Website Management ( (L EIREE) ) to

ensure information and network security.

In order to strengthen cyber security, alertness is of utmost
importance. We require the employees in relevant positions have
to pass the qualification vetting, background check and sign the
confidential agreements. Regular inspection of information systems
and networks will be conducted to ensure the Group is protected
from viruses, hackers, and malicious codes. For information and
network security, we have set up the Password Management System

((ETBERGIED )

every sensitive information.

to list out the security requirements and encrypt

During the Reporting Period, the Group had not violated any laws or
regulations relating to privacy matters.
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5.4 Sustainable Supply Chain Management

We are committed to developing long-term and mutually beneficial
business relationships with our partners and suppliers. The Group
has formulated the Supplier Evaluation Standard ( ({/EmEFEIZ
#) ) and the Supplier Management System ( (tEEEE®ER) )
to ensure fair competition among suppliers and responsible supply
chain management. We lay out the selection process of suppliers and
procurement responsibilities of different departments. When selecting
suppliers, we consider criteria such as a company’s background,
quality of goods or services, price, delivery of service and corporate
social responsibility performance. including the prohibition on the
recruitment of child and forced labour, eliminating discrimination
to employees, providing a safe working environment, considering if
the products and services provided are beneficial to environmental
protection and fulfilling the Group’s internal environmental
requirement while minimizing the negative impact to natural
environment, and strictly obeying the law. Our procurement personnel
will conduct on-site investigations if necessary.

An annual review is conducted to ensure suppliers on the approved
list are performing at a satisfactory level. The Administrative Measures
for the Supervision of Suppliers ( (HEFEEEEIE) ) outlines
the Supplier Regular Evaluation Report ( (&R EEFFATRE) ) and
Supplier Assessment Form ( {(#tfERZ %% ) ). The annual Supplier
Assessment Form ( (R Z %K) ) grades suppliers to four different
levels and evaluation reports are carried out monthly to evaluate our
long-term suppliers. After the assessment, we inform the suppliers of
their results and suggest improvement if necessary. For suppliers who
continuously fail the comprehensive assessment, we will terminate the
cooperation with them after reporting and obtaining management
approval to ensure the quality of our suppliers.
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During the Reporting Period, we have 203 suppliers for providing RS BHEA - KM E203K #
products and services. Products include furniture, teaching equipment, EERERHERTIRS ERERE
consumables, office supplies while services include network services, XE  HEBEZH BM BAA
repair and maintenance services, etc. The table below shows our mc MREBERERY - #(E
suppliers respectively by geographical location: RERBE - TRDAIZHIEN

EIREER

b B e
Guangdong 177
BER
Beijing 7
=
Zhejiang 6
AT
Jiangxi 3
pANyic)
Shandong 2
TS
Chengdu 1
B D
Guangxi 1
E
Hunan 1
W
Jiangsu 1
AN
Shanghai 1
i
Tianjin 1
N2
Tibet 1
g
Xiamen 1
=P
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BUILDING A GREEN CAMPUS TOGETHER

The Group’s main campus is located in Huali College, Huali Vocational
College, Huali Technician College. The Group is committed to building a
green campus as a responsible educational institution, in order to protect
the environment, maximize the use of resources, reduce the emission and
waste generation, and mitigate the impact on biodiversity. The Group has
implemented a series of measures to reduce greenhouse gas emissions,
water pollution, and the generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes. We strictly abide by the Environmental Protection Law of the
PRC ( (hEAREFIBEREREZL) ), the Water Pollution Prevention and
Control Law of the PRC ( {HZEEARKMEBEIKFEFEE) ), the Energy
Conservation Law of the PRC ( (R #E ARKMEIELIELIRE) ), and the
relevant laws and regulations on environmental protection.

The Group took practical actions to integrate green elements to campus,
employees and students. We hope to extend the concept of sustainable

development to daily life to attain the sustainable target.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not (i) violate any laws and
regulations relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste; (ii)
have any major accidents affecting the environment and natural resources;

or (iii) receive any environmental penalties and litigation notices.

6.1 Energy Conservation
We recognise that our operations emit greenhouse gases that
contribute to climate change. Accordingly, the Group focused on
energy conservation in daily office and campus operations. The
employees and students are advised to use high-efficiency energy-
saving lamps and energy-saving heaters in dormitories. All lightings,
computers, air conditioners and other electrical appliances should be
turned off once they are not in use. In our offices, there are different
divisions where each has an independently controllable lighting system

to allow flexible and efficient usage of the lightings.
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We strictly follow the “Regulations on the Use of Air Conditioning
in Office” ((MAEZ=FHEHAEERBRE) ).
conditioners can be turned on when the temperature is on or above

Energy efficient air

29 degrees Celsius. The temperature of the air conditioner should not
be adjusted to lower than 26 degrees Celsius.

Students are encouraged to have low usage of the air-conditioner and
minimize the indoor electronic entertainment time, and participate in
physical exercise more to reduce the demand for energy systems.

The office is responsible for selective checking the use of air
conditioners in various departments at any time. Specific actions
will be taken if any man-made damaged or refusal comply with
regulations.

We monitor our electricity consumption during business operations
on a regular basis. During the Reporting Period, the total electricity
consumption of the Group was 19,013.17 MWh, and the electricity
consumption intensity was 0.39 MWh per capita. The total electricity
consumption decreased compared to last year, which is due to the
effectiveness on energy conservation through the foregoing measures.

Water Conservation
The Group makes a strong effort to use the water we consume
more efficiently in our operations. The Group manages water
usage from the source, saved water from the process to carry out
water management and supervision work effectively to improve the
efficiency of water usage.

Our employees and students are advised to use energy-saving
airenergy water heaters in student dormitories, and posted water-
saving slogans on our campus. All damaged water appliances will
be repaired or replaced in time to improve the awareness of water-
saving of teachers and students. Moreover, the Group performs
routine maintenance work and regularly conducts leakage tests on
concealed water pipes to arrange timely maintenance work and

reduce wastage.
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6.3

6.4

During the Reporting Period, the total water consumption of the
Group was 1,546,493.35 tonnes and the water consumption intensity
was 31.39 tonnes per capita. The total water consumption decreased
compared to last year, which is due to the effectiveness on water
conservation through the foregoing measures. Our tap water comes
from qualified tap water suppliers in Guangzhou, and we did not
have any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose.

Paperless Operation

The Group advocates paperless campus and office. We have
formulated the Paperless Office Management Measures ( (ZE#(L
WAEEPE) ). We use an electronic office system to replace
the traditional paper-based system. All essential printings should
use double-sided printing and avoid colour printing. We encourage
employees and students to reuse the blank pages of wastepaper.
Teachers and students are required to reduce the use of ball pens and
pencils and prepare their water cups to avoid using paper cups. We
encourage employees to communicate through online media such as
WeChat, QQ and e-mail to reduce paper consumption.

During the Reporting Period, the total paper consumption of the
Group was 2,066.00 kg, and the intensity of paper used was 41.94 g
per capita. The total paper consumption decreased compared to last
year, which is due to the effectiveness on conservation through the
foregoing measures.

Waste Disposal Management

The waste generated mainly includes office paper, lighting tubes,
toner cartridges, ink cartridges, and other domestic waste generated
by the daily operation of the campus. We have established internal
management measures to implement waste treatment and disposal
proactively. The campus uses recyclable toner cartridges and ink
cartridges, reuses office stationery, and avoid using disposable and
non-recyclable products.
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The Group strives to reduce waste we generate and recycle or
reuse to the fullest extent. We are equipped with waste sorting and
recycling facilities on campus. In order to reduce the generation and
discharge of domestic garbage, we do not encourage students and
canteens to use and provide plastic bags and disposable tableware. In
September 2021, young volunteers on campus carried out publicity,
education and advocacy work on waste sorting, so that students
could establish environmental awareness of waste sorting. We also
regularly invite dedicated recycling service providers to collect and
recycle various used products, food waste.

During the Reporting Period, the Group generated a total of 264.00
tonnes of non-hazardous waste, and the non-hazardous waste
generation intensity was 5.36 kg per capita. We also recycled 158.00
tonnes of non-hazardous waste. For hazardous waste, we had not
generated any hazardous waste during the Reporting Period.

Emission Management

To echo with the climate change initiatives from the National Energy
Commission — The “Revolutionary Strategy for Energy Production and
Consumption (2016-2030)" ( BEREEFIEEF A $EE (2016-2030)) )
and the “2020 Annual Report on China’s Policies and Actions on
Climate Change” ( (R EIEL R IR BRI TE)2020F 8| E) )
issued by The Information Office of the State Council, we manage
greenhouse gases emission and promote climate change mitigation.
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In accordance with the “Greenhouse Gas Protocol” issued by

the World Resources Institute and the World Business Council
on Sustainable Development and the “ISO14064-1" set by the
International Organisation for Standardisation, the Group carried out

greenhouse gas emission inspections. A summary of the greenhouse

gas emissions during the Reporting Period is as follows:

Lay i L

1B 4% th 5 & R B 95 By B2t SR AT 4
BERIEBESSEMANCAER
B 8 & % 7F £ )(Greenhouse Gas
Protocol) [z B B 12 (L 4 4 5] &
#15014064-1] « NEBEET T
BERBHENRE - WEHFHER
BERBHERBZNOT :

Greenhouse gas emissions and removals” 2022 2021
B B8 HE B OR BRA 2022 20214
Direct greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1) tonne of CO,e 1,131.81 1,143.64
HEAERBHM(EE) A _RILIRES
Greenhouse gas removals (Scope 1) tonne of CO,e 92.62 83.15
BE R (8BE) AW R LiRE =
Indirect greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 2) tonne of CO,e 15,290.39 17,410.41
MEZEAERBYM(BE2) DAL RE 2
Total greenhouse gas emissions tonne of CO,e 16,329.58 18,470.91
(Scope 1 and 2)
BERBHREE (SEE1KR2) AW R LIRE 2
Greenhouse gas emission intensity* tonne of CO,e/capita 0.33 0.39
(Scope 1 and 2)
BERBHREE (HE1KR2) AW —ELHEE A
A There may be a slight discrepancy between the sum of individual items and A BREEEARER - ERIEE S
the total as shown in the table owing to rounding. HFE MR EBHEEF B
A ©
* Calculated based on the number of employees and students as of August * RIER2022F8 A31H/ME T
31, 2022. BEAHGTE

Scope 1 Direct greenhouse gas emissions from sources owned and controlled by the

Group.

Scope 2 Indirect greenhouse gas emissions from electricity generation, heating and

cooling, or steam purchased by the Group.
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In addition to greenhouse gas emissions, the Group is aware of the
exhaust gas emissions from our vehicles. We arrange inspections and
maintenance for our fleet to ensure all parts are functioning properly
to maintain fuel consumption efficiency, in order to reduce exhaust
gas emissions. During the Reporting Period, our fleet’s emissions of
nitrogen oxides, sulphur oxides and particulate matter were 358.40
kg, 1.28 kg and 34.34 kg respectively.

Tackling Climate Change

In terms of transitioning to a low-carbon economy, we understand
the risks associated with climate change and develop responses in our
businesses to identify and mitigate climate change issues that may
have a significant impact. At the same time, we should adjust the
use of resources and energy. In response to disasters and accidents
that are easily induced by extreme weather, we always enhance the
capability to the disaster response of teachers and students.

Physical Acute Risk

The Group has identified extreme weather such as typhoons, heavy
rain and flooding that can cause physical acute risk. The potential
consequences include damage to documents, equipment and
buildings, water and a power outage on campus and the education
schedule being left behind. The above potential consequences will
cause major economic losses and increase operating costs to the
Group.

The Group has established different measures to minimize the
negative effect of extreme weather. We will check regularly whether
existing buildings meet the latest local building standards and make
necessary repairs. The important documents should be kept in
electronic versions for backup while the backup data storage center
should be located in a remote location. The Group has increased
the amount of backup power storage equipment, such as backup
generators.
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6.7

Once the extreme weather happens, measures for emergency
prevention, such as “Typhoon and Rainstorm Emergency Plan” ( (¢
EMTEMEZTEZR) ), and control should be made in advance. Online
teaching will be carried out to keep students’ study schedules in
progress.

Physical Chronic Risk

The Group has identified extreme weather such as extremely
hot weather that can cause physical chronic risk. The potential
consequences include an increased chance of getting heatstroke for
employees working outdoor, increasing turnover rate and work-related
injuries. The demand for cooling for the working environment will
be increased, which may lead to an increase in power demand and
operating costs to the Group.

The Group will optimize the operating efficiency of ventilation and
air conditioning to reduce power consumption when the temperature
rises. Arrangements for emergency prevention and control are also
made. For example, under continuous high-temperature weather
conditions, employees who work outdoor are required to find a
suitable place to rest regularly, etc.

Sustainability Target Plan

During the Reporting Period, we have set preliminary directional
targets in terms of energy saving, water saving, waste reduction
and greenhouse gas reduction, in order to better achieve sustainable
development goals. We will review the progress and explore more
opportunities for various environmental protection goals. In the future,
we will set more specific quantitative environmental goals to reduce
harm to the environment and natural resources.

Environmental aspects Targets
RIEE B

6.7

SEL R

—BEEBHmAR > BIRAHIE
JE X TR RN 42 Il 45 e (A< g L =
MEHESER)) - HABHE
ERHE URBEBENSZEE
& o

W18 1 a2

AEERR BRXASEHR
WA B AR IB A o A R
BEPHTIEHE IR EMHESE
B BWE EARLE - i
P EERS ey
S 5 0 B ) 7 SR FOIE A
210 -

AEE B SR BRMNZEFHNET
ME - URDBETRENE D
HFE - (R I ) E FE = TR B A0
ZH Pl BERPIHTENE
IERESRRESKAEN
THEEMKRES -

ARERRE R E
REBEA - RIEEHEE -
KORDEMIREREERS
ERERETHNSOFAAER
DEFHERTHEERAS
BRAERTESEAENER ¥
RREZAREEROBE - A
% BEHEEABYELR
RSN E R SRS HERAEM
BABRNGE

o

Energy Conservation
£ BE

Water Conservation

Waste Reduction
WA REREY
Greenhouse Gas Emissions

B ER BN

The Group will actively implement the electricity-saving plan and measures to maintain or
reduce the intensity of electricity consumption.
REBEBEBEEGHEAENER  UEFIRPBETE -

The Group will actively implement the water-saving plan and measures to maintain or
reduce the intensity of water consumption.
REBKEBEEHKGEMNER  LWERFIRDRAKERE ©

The Group will actively implement the material-saving plan and measures to maintain or
reduce the intensity of waste production.

AEBEBBEHEZEMRBAOASME]  NEFIRPERMELEE -

The Group will actively implement the electricity-saving plan and measures to maintain or
reduce the intensity of greenhouse gas emissions.
AEEBEBEEHEAEMNER UKD RERBHEREE -
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COMMUNITY CONTRIBUTION

We are a company that cares about the community and shoulders social
responsibilities. We have always been committed to contributing to the
communities we serve and creating long-term value for the society. We
understand the needs of the communities in which we operate and design

events to suit local needs.

As a caring and socially responsible company, we believe in contributing
to the communities. We serve and creating long-lasting value for society.
We are able to understand the needs of local communities better
and develop programmes that are appropriate to local needs. During the
Reporting Period, through the means of self-funding and social fundraising,
the Group donated over RMB100,000 in public welfare; the Group’s
volunteer team spent more than 24,325 hours in charitable activities.

7.1 Dedication to Helping the Elderlies, Children, and

the Disadvantage Group

The Group carried out several volunteer service activities to help the
elderly, children and disadvantaged groups. In November 2021, young
volunteers from the campus visited the nursing homes, expressing
condolences to the elderly in Sanjiang Nursing Home (= T &%)
and offering love and warmth, bringing them happiness. In addition,
from December 2021 to August 2022, during the campus-led “Happy
Hedong” (@) &) volunteer service project, the Youth Volunteer
Association (EFEFEE®E) of the campus regularly carried out
various themed activities in the Hedong community on weekends to
serve the residents in the community. The young volunteers from the
campus also organized visits to the elderly and children in the Hedong

community during the Spring Festival and Mid-Autumn Festival.
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7.2 Donation to the Community

Various donation events occurred in the Reporting Period, including
blood and supplies donation. In May 2022, Guangzhou Huali Youth
e

Volunteer Association (BM# 5F EFEEHE) organized a two-day
voluntary blood donation event to donate blood for the needed.

The Group actively helps the poor, lends a helping hand, and
undertakes its social responsibilities. In January 2022, the students of
the school raised a total of more than RMB2,000 in donations. The
proceeds from this donation will be handed over to the Guangdong
Provincial Education Foundation (ER&A#EEEE) by the school to
help poor students through donations.
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APPENDIX I:

Environmental,

SUSTAINABILITY DATA STATEMENT

Social and Governance Report

IR g -

o 85—

Zi& k\A#&D

IRHERRBBRE

2022 2021
Environmental BRI Unit B 20224 20214F
Air pollutant emissions* ZERTRY BN
Nitrogen oxides (NO,) AL PNO,) kg TR 358.40 297.02
Sulphur oxides (SO,) i AL ¥1(SO,) kg TR 1.28 1.20
Particulate matter (PM) FERLY)(PM) kg Fr 34.34 28.46
Greenhouse gas emissions B RO B R OR R A
and removals "+
Direct greenhouse gas HERERBHN tonne of CO,e RE—FREE 1,131.81 1,143.64
emissions (Scope 1) (#E1)
Greenhouse gas removals B E R R tonne of CO,e AE—EIREE 92.62 83.15
(Scope 1) (#[E1)
Indirect greenhouse gas F#ZREREHMN tonne of CO,e AP —ALIREE 15,290.39 17,410.41
emissions (Scope 2) (83 E2)
Total greenhouse gas mERBHRES tonne of CO,e A AR EE 16,329.58 18,470.91
emissions (Scope 1 and 2) (BE1R2)
Greenhouse gas emission BERBHNEE tonne of CO,e/ AME = &bk 0.33 0.39
intensity* (Scope 1 and 2) (& E1&%2) capita g2/ A
Energy consumption BERFEMA
Natural gas consumption AARFERE m3 AVAD I/ 65,202.64" 67,303.84%
Natural gas consumption RKARFERETE m3/capita SHKSA 1.32 1.43
intensity*
Gasoline consumption AHEFERE litre NI 81,419.04 76,523.65
Gasoline consumption intensity 5 ¥ B % € litre/employee AH/ BT 38.21 35.48
Diesel consumption LHFEAE litre nF 5,384.06 8,900.00
Diesel consumption intensity KMERTE litre/employee AFSET 2.53 413
Purchased electricity INBENFERE MWh JK LB 19,013.17 28,536.98
consumption
Purchased electricity INEBHERTE* MWh/capita KR A 0.39 0.61
consumption intensity*
Water consumption KIEFEA
Total water consumption BiEKE tonne NI 1,546,493.35 1,698,345.00
Water consumption intensity* FEKREE tonne/capita NN 31.39 36.01
Paper consumption HERFER
Total paper consumption RAREE kg Fr 2,066.00 2,134.10
Paper consumption intensity* BE=EE* g/capita N 41.94 45.25

FEBEREERERA A 127
2022 FE | L



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE g lkERwmE

SEL R

2022 2021
Environmental RIE Unit B 20224 20214F
Waste generation and BEYEERBWY
recycling
Non-hazardous waste BEEEMELS tonne N 264.00 270.00
generation
Non-hazardous waste BEEZYELTE*  kog/capita Fr/A 5.36 5.72
generation intensity*
Non-hazardous waste recycling #EZEREZ YK E tonne N 158.00 161.00
Hazardous waste generation BEEEMELS kg Tz 0 270.00
Hazardous waste generation EEBEREMELZE*  ko/capita Fm/A (] 0.01
intensity*
+ We refer to “How to Prepare an ESG Report — Appendix II: Reporting Guidance on + BM2EMIMNAFREERSR  HEREAR

Environmental KPIs” from the Stock Exchange to calculate our Group's air pollutant emissions

and greenhouse gas emissions.

A may be a slight discrepancy between the sum of individual items and the total as shown in A

the table owing to rounding.

& — R RBMBABUERERIES IFTE
AEBNERSRAYBEREBEREHN -

BAME T ARR - E5I78 B &9 8F hfe sR A a2

HABEBEALA -

* Calculated based on the number of employees and students as of August 31, 2022 * BAEN2022F8A31MHME TMEBE AHHE
2022 2021

Social e Unit B 20224 20214
Total number of employees BIAY person A 2,131 2,157
Total number of employees ETIAE(RMERED)

(by gender)
Female = person A 1,072 1,055
Male Es person A 1,059 1,102
Total number of employees BIHAY

(by age group) (REHRARE D)
Below 30 308K A T person A 621 621
Aged 30-50 30-5073% person A 826 862
Above 50 50B% A £ person A 684 674
Total number of employees ETHAY

(by employment type) (REEERES)
Short-term contract/Part-time employees B EiAR T, FHBE T person A 163 185
Junior employees JHET person A 1,843 1,879
Middle management FRERE person A 102 69
Senior management =R E R person A 23 24
Total number of employees EIRHM(RHESD)

(by region)
Guangdong Province ERE person A 2,131 2,157
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2022 2021
Social HE Unit B 20225 20214F
Total turnover rate of employees BI#RKLEE percent Btk 11.54 12.54
Turnover rate (by gender) RAE(RMERE D)
Female z percent ERals 11.85 7.36
Male 3 percent BHtk 11.24 5.18
Turnover rate (by age group) TR =
(RERARE )
Below 30 30 AT percent Btk 15.46 5.53
Aged 30-50 30-5073% percent Btk 12.95 5.37
Above 50 505% A £ percent Bk 6.29 1.64
Turnover rate (by region) RAR(RHWEE 5)
Guangdong Province ERE percent Bk 11.54 12.54
Percentage of employees trained to ZHEIHEET percent ERaNd 78.23 49.98
total number of employees AOk
Percentage of employees trained FIEITEDL
(by gender)? (RHERE D)
Female z percent Btk 83.30 50.17
Male e percent Bk 73.09 49.82
Percentage of employees trained FTHETEDL
(by employment type)* (REEERE D)
Short-term contract/Part-time employees  HIAR T 3% B 8T percent ERaNsd NA 8.36
FEA
Junior employees THET percent BA 76.67 86.75
Middle management hPRERE percent ERald 100.00 3.76
Senior management SRERE percent Aot 86.96 1.12
FEBEREERERA A 129
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2022 2021
Social HE Unit B 2022 20214F
Average training hours per employee & %8 I T3 H
(by gender) (RHRIE5)
Average training hours per FHRLZBIFEHEI hours AN 60.02 51.04
female employee A &L
Average training hours per BHBEETFHEHEY hours INEE 55.92 45.15
male employee I 2
Average training hours per employee &8 T FiEIIKH
(by employment type) (RERERE D)
Short-term contract/Part-time employees %8 HiAR T #FBE T hours N NA 11.92
~EA
Junior employees MHET hours NS 57.33 46.60
Middle management R E IR B hours NEF 76.54 85.83
Senior management EREEE hours /N 26.60 22.23
Occupational health and safety BERERZZ2
Number of work-related fatalities 2022F AT T A& no. of people A% 0 0
in 2022
Number of work-related fatalities 2021TF A TR T A no. of people A% (] 0
in 2021
Number of work-related fatalities 2020F A LOE - A B no. of people A% 0 0
in 2020
Lost working days due to work injury EATLEBEAXIERH days =] 0 0
A There may be a slight discrepancy between the sum of individual items and the total as A RRIME R AR - @518 B & 20T hn e 2K a] g

shown in the table owing to rounding.
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APPENDIX II:
REPORTING GUIDE INDEX

Index content

THE STOCK EXCHANGE ESG B8 = : B
RERKE KRR

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BB

Zi &Hr \Affi& =

BMX(RE - &g

Relevant sections

EERR HEEH
A. Environmental Area
A. REHE
A1 Emissions General Disclosure  Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance 6. Building a Green Campus
with relevant laws and regulations that have a together
significant impact on the issuer relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water
and land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste.
Al BERRY) — R EE BREERMOAEREBHR - MK R EeEES 6. HEHFERE
EELEEEMNELSHN  @QBE - Mb)EST
HETABEAZENHBEZERAONER -
A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. 6.5 Emission Management
Appendix I: Sustainability Data
Statement
Al1.1 e iE R R AR R R o 6.5 A E 2
figg— : AIRERRBERE
A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) 6.5 Emission Management
greenhouse gas emissions in total and intensity. Appendix I: Sustainability Data
Statement
A1.2 ER(BEDREREZ(BE2D)REREZEHEME 65 HKNEE
NBEE o fisg— : AIRERRBERE
A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and intensity. 6.4 Waste Disposal Management
Appendix I: Sustainability Data
Statement
A13 FMELEEBEZENRERTE - 64BEEYREER
e — : AIRERRBBHE
Al1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and intensity. Not applicable to the business
of the Group
Al.4 FELAEREERNEERTE - REBENEBKTER
A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken 6.5 Emission Management
to achieve them. 6.7 Sustainability Target Plan
A1.5 RIRPFEI OB ERBERAEINELAFEMER 65 FHERE
BB o 6.7 Al EHREE5E
A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous 6.3 Paperless Operation
wastes are handled, and a description of reduction 6.4 Waste Disposal Management
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. 6.7 Sustainability Target Plan
A1.6 HAEEEERBEEERENN L  REAMIYL 63 EALES

HREE B R MR E R E L AR IRE 28R -

64BEREYEEER
6.7 I EHERE ETE
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Index content

e )SZ"* B

Relevant sections

EERE HH B =
A2:  Use of Resources  General Disclosure  Policies on the efficient use of resources, including 6. Building a Green Campus
energy, water and other raw materials. together
A2 BIREMA —RIEE BRERER(BIERIR  KEEMRMEDBEE - 6. HEZERE
A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. 6.1 Energy Conservation
electricity, gas, or oil) in total and intensity. Appendix I: Sustainability Data
Statement
A2.1 BENE S OEERSEEER(E Raloh) 6.1 68
BRERTE - figr— : AIREERBBHE
A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. 6.2 Water Conservation
Appendix I: Sustainability Data
Statement
A2.2 HIEKEREE - 6.2 #iK
fiég— : AIEERBBHE
A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and 6.1 Energy Conservation
steps taken to achieve them. 6.7 Sustainability Target Plan
Appendix I: Sustainability Data
Statement
A2.3 BT IR REAUGEERRESEEAT 6.1 68
B ER B 25 B o 6.7 AJ B ERE B RAE
figr— : AIHEERBEHE
A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing 6.2 Water Conservation
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency 6.7 Sustainability Target Plan
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
A2.4 Sk EGE B KR ERI B R B E - A RATETZE 6.2 #iK
AKSEEERAENELAEMRDALRE - 67 AIHEEREB R
A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products Not applicable to the business
and with reference to per unit produced. of the Group
A2.5 BEmTAEEMHNBEERTEESMUGE - RNEE RGN E R
A3:  The Environment  General Disclosure  Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on 6. Building a Green Campus
and Natural the environment and natural resources. together
Resources
A3: BRERKAZR —MHEE RMEBITAHRERAAERENEATZENRE - 6. HEZKERE
A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on 6. Building a Green Campus
the environment and natural resources and the together
actions taken to manage them.
A3.1 R EBEHERERRAERNEATER 6. HRGZERE
KREBEBATZENTY -
A4: Climate Change General Disclosure  Policies on identification and mitigation of significant 6.6 Tackling Climate Change
climate-related issues which have impacted, and
those which may impact, the issuer.
Ad: EAREAE —RRILEE BRIREHELRAIEGHETAEETLENEKR 66 BHRIKEL
RIXMERMEENBEE
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BBIE

e kERRE

Relevant sections

HEEH

ERAE

B. Social Area
B. HEHE
B1:  Employment

B1:

B2:

B2 :

Health and Safety

e
S
i
it
ki

A4

A4

General Disclosure

—RIKE

General Disclosure

—RIKE

B2.1

B2.1
B2.2
B2.2

B2.3

B2.3

Description of the significant climate-related issues
which have impacted, and those which may impact,
the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

RRERRAIEEHETAEEYENEARR
HEASE REHTH -

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance
with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits and welfare.

EURFMERE BREERS  TERE KRB
FEHE  Falb REK|UREMBESERETR
B (R ROBETFTHETABERATZED
HEEE RO ER -

Total workforce by gender, employment type, age
group and geographical region.

ZIER  BEEE  FRAEANKERESNES
BB

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

TR FRARN RIS NEERKLE o

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance
with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to providing
a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.

FRARELZEIHERERREEEREBELRSE
B @EEK  RO)ETHETATEAZENHERA
ERRBROINER

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in
each of the past three years including the Reporting
Period.

BE=F(BREKRFE)SFRAITHH AR
[H5ER o

Lost working days due to work injury.

ETIGERTERSE -

Description of occupational health and safety measures
adopted, how they are implemented and monitored.

R FTER M B R E R R 215 - ARMBBERITR
BERAIE

6.6 Tackling Climate Change

6.6 & 4 mAx 21t

4.1 Protection of Employment
Rights

4.2 Providing Care to Our
Employees

4V REEEITHD
42EBEET

Appendix I: Sustainability Data

figs— AHERREERE

Appendix I: Sustainability Data

fier— : AINEERBERE

3.5 Healthy and Safe Campus

35 @FERERE

Appendix I: Sustainability Data

figg— : AIRERRBBHE
Appendix I: Sustainability Data

Migi—  AISERREBRHE
3.5 Healthy and Safe Campus

35 @FERERE

REBEREERERA R
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IRIE -

Index content

Zi& k\AfFEIZl

Relevant sections

EERE HH B =
B3: Development and General Disclosure  Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and 4.3 Continuous Education for

B3:

B4:

B4 :

B5:

B5:

134

Training

R NIE

Labour Standards

Supply Chain
Management

HEgER

— IR

B3.1

B3.1

B3.2

B3.2

General Disclosure

—RRE

B4.1

B4.1
B4.2

B4.2

General Disclosure

— IR
B5.1

B5.1
B5.2

B5.2

China Vocational Education Holdings Limited
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BRI E

skills for discharging duties at work. Description of

training activities.

R EEE -

BETIFREOMENRENERE

The percentage of employees trained by gender and

BRI R

The average training hours completed per employee by

%R &

employee category (e.g. senior management, middle

management).

ol

8RN -

gender and employee category.

BFE -

E BRI »

BREERT

REFN(NERERE HRERES

I8 T

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance

OB IVE R IE R B R A B IS AT R R o

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of

i & 5

1

with relevant laws and regulations that have

a significant impact on the issuer relating to

preventing child and forced labour.

BRAMIEE Takoa k4 TH :

(B R(b)&E T4

BTANBERZENHBEIRELRONER -

Description of measures to review employment

practices to avoid child and forced labour.
it BB EE AR R ET RAH ST -
Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices

when discovered.

the supply chain.
BT PE B ) IR IR Nt & R B R R

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

Mt EEHE -

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,

number of suppliers where the practices are being

implemented, how they are implemented and

monitored.
MEARERHEERNEDN  mERITERBEIEGND
HEFMHE URBEHEBHOBMITRERTE -

Employees

A3 BIHEHRE

Appendix I: Sustainability Data

g — ASERRBERE

Appendix I: Sustainability Data

Miég— : AIREERBBHE

4.1 Protection of Employment
Rights

41 REB TH#=

4.1 Protection of Employment
Rights

AT REETRER

4.1 Protection of Employment
Rights

41 REE TRER

5.4 Sustainable Supply Chain
Management

5.4 A RRAE (L EE R IR

5.4 Sustainable Supply Chain
Management

54T EMRERER

5.4 Sustainable Supply Chain
Management

S54RI EHEHEERE
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Index content Relevant sections
EERE HH B =
B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental 5.4 Sustainable Supply Chain

and social risks along the supply chain, and how they =~ Management

are implemented and monitored.

B5.3 B EEBPIHERGTERANRERE SRR 54 HEHEEER
B ARHEBRITRERFIE -

B5.4 Description of practices used to promote 5.4 Sustainable Supply Chain
environmentally preferable products and services Management

when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

B5.4 Ml EREHEEREESZARRER LRED 5.4 Al R AEHLEHEE T
B ARMEBERITRERTGA -

B6:  Product General Disclosure  Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance 3.5 Healthy and Safe Campus
Responsibility with relevant laws and regulations that have a 5. Compliant and Responsible
significant impact on the issuer relating to health Governance

and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and
methods of redress.
B6: EmEE —BEE ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁfﬁé%ﬂﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ‘ﬂﬁ%ﬁ%éﬁiﬁ% CBECBER 35 RERERE
g$ﬁ%&%ﬁﬂ(ﬁi£ﬁ”} (@K RO)ESFH S5 AHEEEAR
TABERZENHBEIERAONER -

B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to Not applicable to the business
recalls for safety and health reasons. of the Group

B6.1 EENEREXERRHT AR HEREHMA REBENEBKTER
BB E DL ©

B6.2 Number of products and service-related complaints 3.6 Continuous Review of
received and how they are dealt with. Teaching Quality

B6.2 RERPRERERENIRFHE AREEH 7L - 36 FHBERAUEEE

B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and 5.1 Compliant Management
protecting intellectual property rights. and Operation

B6.3 g ERRENAEEGBNED - 51 ARERMES

B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall Not applicable to the business
procedures. of the Group

B6.4 HIEERTBRERERQWRER - REBMEKTER

B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy 5.3 Privacy and Cyber Security

policies how they are implemented and monitored.
B6.5 HMUHBEEERRBERLBESE  UREBERNTRE S3BANMEKLS
%%{sﬁ;ﬁ °
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Index content Relevant sections

EERE HH B =

B7:  Anti-corruption General Disclosure  Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance 5.2 Zero Tolerance to
with relevant laws and regulations that have a Corruption

significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery,

extortion, fraud and money laundering.

B7: RER — R E BRI I-EE B8R  BEFRAREN - @QBE: & 52 BHTERR
bLEFHETABEAZENABEZLRHG
BH o
B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt 5.2 Zero Tolerance to
practices brought against the issuer or its employees Corruption
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the
cases.
B7.1 RERPAHBTANIEEERLDIEELANET 52BHERR
FRERGOHA RFRER -
B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistleblowing 5.2 Zero Tolerance to
procedures, how they are implemented and Corruption
monitored.
B7.2 P EEEREBREF - A RBBRRTRER 52BEHMERR
FE e
B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to 5.2 Zero Tolerance to
directors and staff. Corruption
B7.3 MAmMEERETRHENREIGTEI - 52BREAR
B8: Community General Disclosure  Policies on community engagement to understand the 7. Community Contribution
Investment needs of the communities where the issuer operates
and to ensure its activities take into consideration
the communities’ interests.
B8: ftmIkE — R E AN R2ERTREEMTLRETEMER 7.1 @B R
HEBEYEERLEMENOBR -
B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, 7. Community Contribution
environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sport).
B8.1 EIERERB(IHRE REFH HIFTR - 7. B E B
f@E -k - 8B85) °
B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area. 7. Community Contribution
B8.2 EEIRBMHAER - 7. i@ BB
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of China Vocational Education Holdings
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

i
pwc

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of China Vocational Education Holdings (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on pages 146
to 244, comprise:

3 the consolidated balance sheet as at August 31, 2022;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then
ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include significant

accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at August 31, 2022, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

8 3 12 B R

FTEBERBFERERAADIMGRER
(MASREEMAZNERAR)

=
EMEHEANRR

FPEBEXREERARART(ATHBEEA
ANDEHEMBRARI(ATHE I EEE]) T
RE146E244BENEHPT B REK - B1F ¢

. MR2022F8A3THMAHEEARBE ;

s BEZRALFEMAHBZEHK:
s HEZRALFEMNAHRESRER R

© AOMBWENE  AEIDeHRE
BERE L RRBIEER -

EMWER

BMRE ZEAHUBRRAEREESS
SR A S EMACEBMHBHREENEEM
FEMRET BEER2022F8A31HME
HEBRRAREHEZZALEEENE HUH
XERAHBESRE YD HBEBS(RAIE
BIYE 5B R E & AR -

RRNAER

B REBBSAMAGRMAOCE BT
ERDETE - RAEZFENTAENR
FEEEARREZBENBREFT A FH B RERA
EENEMEIMD P IEE— M -

HPHEE RAMESHBRAESERZRER
HEWRERMANE RIREER -
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BREFESHMAGRMAOCEXSAER
SRDATEBEISFAD - BHABLZY B
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FEBEREERERA A 137
2022 FE | L



Independent Auditor’s Report
Ja N 1% BRED R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,

FRESTSE

MREHFRESRERMOTEAE  BRY
FHEHUBHRRNEARAREENEE -
FLERTERMEBEFERSHVBTRERLRK
HABREETREN HMTEHELE

and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

HARHEEBNER -

BB R EAINERES FEBRNOT

. Revenue recognition of tuition and boarding fees . BBENTEEHRARER
. Assessment of control over the Consolidated Affiliated Entities through e MBANLTHYEAANRBETEIZES
Contractual Arrangements TR TS

Key Audit Matter
HREESEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ESNAEERRETSE

Revenue recognition of tuition and boarding fees

BERTHEENRAER

Refer to notes 2.21 and 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

HLHA M BIRRME2.21%5 -

Revenue mainly comprised tuition and boarding fees
from students, amounting to RMB908 million for the
year ended August 31, 2022. These fees are generally
received in advance prior to the beginning of each
academic year and are recognized proportionately over
each academic year.

WAZTEBHEBENBERFREE @ 21520229831
HIEFERARKBIBEETT - FHERBATNEEF
FIaATTEN - RSB F IR HIHER -

We focused on revenue recognition due to its
magnitude and the large volume of transactions, such
that we have incurred significant time and resources in
carrying out our work in this area.
HREEREAERZEXN RZMEFRNKRARER -
WEEETZERTERRAKRERHER -
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In response to this key audit matter, we have performed the following
procedures:

U ZBERETER RMRTTATER

We understood, evaluated and tested the key controls over the revenue
recognition of tuition and boarding fees.

BT FERAABERTEERARROBERIZES -

We checked on a sample basis the student names, academic subjects and
student grades in the student records of the relevant universities to the
official student records registered with relevant education authorities and
reconciled the total number of enrolled students in the current academic year
from the student records of the relevant universities to the official student
records registered with the relevant education authorities of the People’s
Republic of China.
BMBBEEPEARANBEEBAESNELNE N RELEME A
ABEEDFPNBEAE  SRREBEFR WK HEBASEEZHET
REFHRNBLEREEERARERMELNE TS ERHEETRE -

We checked the tuition and boarding fees on a sample basis to student
enrolment forms, student payment records, program price shown on the
enrolment guide and online course attendance records.
HMBBEEERERR  SEINEH BEERATREBEBRE LR
BHELHMERERTEE -



Key Audit Matter
HRETEE

Independent Auditor’s Report
Ja N 1% BRED R

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNESNANEERRETSE

Assessment of control over the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities through Contractual Arrangements
BRBEANRHYHAE AN REESBERZENTME

Refer to 2.2.1(a) and 4.1(a) to the consolidated
financial statements regarding the accounting policy,
critical judgement and related disclosure note of the
control over the Consolidated Affiliated Entities through
Contractual Arrangements.

BRASEHE  BRANRBRBSOREHES AR
BEEREHENEERENT  F2HEHUHR
®22.21@)k4.1(@) °

We recalculated tuition and boarding fees based on student names, academic
subjects, student grades, program price shown on the enrolment guides.
BPREEEME 28 2458 HEGEREBEEARMRKER
EEHAELERTEE -

We checked on a sample basis the existence of the students by interviewing
students and agreed the student information in relevant official student
records including the student names, their personal identity card numbers,
student identification numbers and academic subjects to the student’s
identity card and student cards provided by the students.
BMBAET2ERBEBE 2R ETNELEEN (BEEEMLS -
BASFHER SEBIRRER) BSERENBEFNHERBERK
O HMEREERFE -

Based on the procedures performed, we found the Group’s tuition and
boarding fees tested were supported by available evidence.
BB AR - HRMER RN BEXEZ2BERFTEEAEEX

# -

In response to this key audit matter, we have performed the following
procedures:

HYZBBRETER  BMARTTATER

We discussed with management to understand the latest regulatory
development and whether there were any changes in facts and circumstances
which might have an impact on the Contractual Arrangements;
BHMEEREET Tam TREFNEEERAREEEEENER
HIREE AR HeNTEEETE

We evaluated Company’s assessment and judgements on the validity and
enforceability of the Contractual Arrangements with the assistance of
our internal legal expert and the assessment of the Group’s control over
Consolidated Affiliated Entities through the Contractual Arrangements;
ERNFEREROBE T - HMAFET SERAESORERRIERMA
HITHERNFERALE - Ak EEERBANLHYEE ARBEEER
2 ) Y AT A
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Key Audit Matter
HRETEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNESNANEERRETSE

A substantial portion of the Group’s business is
conducted through the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
in the PRC due to the regulatory requirements
that restrict foreign ownership in higher education
service industry in the PRC. The Group does not
have any direct legal ownership of equity interest
in the Consolidated Affiliated Entities. Nonetheless,
through the establishment and implementation of
a series of contractual agreements (“Contractual
Arrangements”), the Group has rights to exercise
power over the Consolidated Affiliated Entities,
has exposure, or rights to variable returns from its
involvement with the Consolidated Affiliated Entities,
and has ability to affect those returns through its
power over the Consolidated Affiliated Entities. The
directors of the Company concluded that the Group
has control over the Consolidated Affiliated Entities,
consequently, the Company regards the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities as controlled structure entities under
HKFRSs and consolidates the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities in the consolidated financial statements of the
Group.
HRPRESEHERBITERINTERENEER
H . EEEBBERAEARAETEENPBETRE
DHER - BEEBEUGEARBEERBORAER
WAEEEREEMAE -BEWOW BRI ZNE
—RIERHANTENRE]) X BEEEEREL
AANRHEEERTEEN  S2HEGEAREEERM
EFRA ZE R ERS B EREGATZEH  ARER
BARGEEARHEERNE NS EZS R HRMNE
h BERARESRHTE ESEEGEARBEETRR
HEEEGE -Bit - BARBRBEBHBRSEAD
BMEa \NREHEEBR AT REERUEER UKES
ARHAEERAA ESENSHMB®RE -

140

China Vocational Education Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report

We obtained the written opinion from the Company’s PRC external legal
counsel and discussed with them to understand their analysis and views
as to the validity and enforceability of the Contractual Arrangements with
respect to all relevant PRC laws and regulations officially promulgated,
publicly available and publicly known, and evaluated whether these evidences
support the relevant judgements made by the Company;

HMESKE BRARAFEIISEIABRNEEE R WRKEZETR -
RNTREERSEXEM  AFAIESERASRRAT M A BAF X
BEHUENTHEERNERAATENITIREE  URZERIRS
B BRAMIEAE

We assessed the competency, capabilities and objectivity of the Company’s
PRC external legal counsel; and

BMIET BERAFEIMEEZERNERS AREGNE &

We assessed the adequacy of related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.

HAMFETAHABRERPEARENR S -

Based on the procedures performed, we found the judgements made by
Company to continue to control over the Consolidated Affiliated Entities and
therefore consolidate these entities in the consolidated financial statements
were supported by the evidence obtained.

EREHITNRER - MR A ERAMEHMEEZGGE ARAER
BUYBLEZEEREHMASHUBERENAE BB -
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
HRETEE EMNESNANEERRETSE
During the year ended August 31, 2022, the directors

reassessed, with the involvement of an external legal
counsel appointed by the Company, whether there
were any changes in facts and circumstances that
may impact the validity and enforceability of the
Contractual Arrangements. Based on the results of
the assessment, it was concluded that the Contractual
Arrangements among the Group’'s wholly-owned
entities, the Consolidated Affiliated Entities and their
equity shareholders continue to be in compliance
with all relevant PRC laws and regulations officially
promulgated, publicly available and publicly known, and
are legally enforceable.

HE2022648A31BIEFE ' £ ﬁ“ﬂﬁﬁﬁégﬁ\\%ﬂ
EREEOBY T  EFEHTEREBEETENS
HEEE %Qﬁéﬁtﬁ%ﬁ&&ﬂTﬁﬁﬁ?
EVE -ERTHER EFHTE EEBEAZEER
B me \RHREEEREREREAZRBITLNG
WZHFDHAEENEM  RFEATESERASRARTM
B FT A BB BOEEIER - WA EOEIAT ©

Accordingly, the directors are of the view that
Company continues to control over the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities and therefore consolidate the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group as at and for the
year ended August 31, 2022.

Hit  EEZRR - BRREEZRGIGE AKRKBEEE
B Em&gRe  ARAEERaHAA EEER
202258 A3 A RBEZ B LFENA M BRE -

We focus on this area due to the complexity, high level
of judgements involved in determining the validity and
enforceability of the Contractual Arrangements in order
to evaluate whether it is appropriate for the Company
to consolidate the Consolidated Affiliated Entities under
HKFRSs, which could have significant and pervasive
implications to the consolidated financial statements.

HRENTHERERENMATRTENBEE  BSR
=ARFRHE - AR M ESETZESE - UFTE &
Qﬂﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁmkaA%%LE g & O

2HEENRE  EREHAHUBERRELESAAE
BRI E -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all of the information included in the annual report other
than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting

process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

3 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Group's internal control.

3 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

8 3 12 B R
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the

planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied

with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate

with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought

to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s

report is Au Chi Ho.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, November 29, 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

iR e s

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E202268A31HILLFE
(b= BB HTEEEAARERT)

Year ended August 31,
B E8A3MHLEE

2022 2021
20225 20214
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR®ET T AREEF T
Revenue LN 5 907,762 881,656
Cost of sales 85 & A AR 8 (425,611) (411,143)
Gross profit ER 482,151 470,513
Selling expenses HER X 8 (19,919) (26,066)
Administrative expenses TER R & 8 (115,200) (103,200)
Other income =N 6 35,929 35,120
Other gains/(losses) — net Hith oz (E18) F 58 7 1,077 (151,928)
Operating profit KER B 384,038 224,439
Finance income B 75 WA 6,050 8,735
Finance expenses MBHE X (111,144) (63,543)
Finance expenses — net MRS FRE 10 (105,094) (54,808)
Profit before income tax Fr 18 % AT R0 H 278,944 169,631
Income tax expenses 5 &M x 11 (19,160) (26,172)
Profit for the year F R A E 259,784 143,459
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

'_\_|
Fira la R
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BZE202268A31HILFE
(B ZE15HI) B BUAREZRT)

Year ended August 31,
B ZE8A3MHLEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
Note RMB’000 RMB’'000
Bt 5 AR TR ARETT
Other comprehensive income Hihir & W=
Item that will not be reclassified subsequently to BETSEF DEE B
profit or loss EH
Revaluation gains arising from transfer of E s - BE & E AR E
property, plant and equipment and FREEEEAKREMEM
corresponding right-of-use assets to EdmEHKaE(BHH)
investment properties, net of tax 534 2,408
Other comprehensive income for the year, FREMGE RE(EHNH)
net of tax 534 2,408
Total comprehensive income for the year FRAGREWEEE 260,318 145,867
Total comprehensive income attributable to: UTATEEGRERZEE
— Owners of the Company — AREHEE A 260,318 145,867
Earnings per share for profit attributable to AATEBEAEGFEN
owners of the Company BREMUABRARE T
(expressed in RMB per share) £ 7R)
Basic and diluted ER RS 12 0.216 0.120

The above consolidated statements of comprehensive income should be read in ot & D4R A Uk 2 3% FE A B BE B A9 B 5E — O
conjunction with the accompanying notes. FE -
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

EHEERER

AS AT AUGUST 31, 2022

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

0202258 H31H

(b= BB HTEEEAARERT)

As at August 31,

HA8A31H
2022 2021
202245 20214
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 5 ARB TR AR T T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets RBEE
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 14 1,394,089 1,438,565
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEKZE 15 4,152,634 3,708,910
Investment properties "EME 16 183,570 179,400
Intangible assets EREE 17 19,416 21,609
Deferred income tax assets BELEFRSMEE 120 =
Prepayments TE T RRIE 19 67,865 37,387
5,817,694 5,385,871
Current assets RENEE
Prepayments TE T RIE 19 5,856 1,482
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H b FE W R IE 20 28,712 16,526
Amounts due from related parties JE Wz B8 Bt 75 SR IE 33 10,999 25,900
Financial assets at amortized cost RESRKEAARNE/REE — 6,450
Restricted cash ZRER S 21 1,443 12,246
Cash and cash equivalents He R EEY 22 803,845 880,752
850,855 943,356
Total assets BEE 6,668,549 6,329,227
EQUITY R
Share capital and share premium IR AR K B 19 4 (B 23 603,188 652,296
Statutory surplus reserves 5 TE B AR 24 128,817 125,568
Other reserves H o 7 8 24 339,060 338,526
Retained earnings 1R 28 &7 24 1,825,550 1,569,015
Total equity wmER 2,896,615 2,685,405
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

EHEERER

AS AT AUGUST 31, 2022

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

0202268 H31H

(= HIEHI  HTEELELARERT)

As at August 31,

HA8A31H
2022 2021
20225 20214
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 5 AR® TR AR T
LIABILITIES =K
Non-current liabilities FRBEEF
Borrowings & 3 28 2,169,701 2,096,850
Accruals and other payables FEGHE A K& H fth FE A 5RIR 26 183,496 217,369
Amounts due to related parties FE 1 B8 75 5RIE 26 — 50,864
Deferred income tax liabilities BEFISHEAE 29 47,290 43,832
2,400,487 2,408,915
Current liabilities REEE
Accruals and other payables FEET B A & H M FE 7 5IE 26 314,619 377,189
Amounts due to related parties JE 1< B8 B 5 K08 26 60,648 45,415
Contract liabilities aHEE 27 689,157 567,766
Current income tax liabilities EHFEHAE 20,066 20,748
Borrowings EE 28 279,718 223,535
Deferred revenue iR E WA 7,239 254
1,371,447 1,234,907
Total liabilities weE 3,771,934 3,643,822
Total equity and liabilities EaRkEEEE 6,668,549 6,329,227

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the

accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 146 to 244 were approved by the
Board of Directors on November 29, 2022 and were signed on its behalf.

Zhang Zhifeng
R g

Director

EF

Lt & 6F & E B B R R E R BE KT A0 M 5 — 6

FBIUAE2MENEHTBHRERCHESTERN
2022F 11 A29B AT REESTSEE -

Ye Yam

ing

i

Director

EBEF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

A GHERBBE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGU

ST 31, 2022

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B ZE202268A31HILLFE

(b= BB HTEEEAARERT)

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARRHEEARE
Statutory
Share Share surplus Other Retained
capital premium reserves reserves earnings Total
EE
R & R %8 BaRE Hitt e REEF @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR%Trn AR®Tr AR%Frn AR%Tn AR%Txn
(Note 23) (Note 23)
(Hi=£23) (GEZE)
For the year ended HZ2022F8A318
August 31, 2022 tFEE
As at September 1, 2021 H202159H1H 820 651,476 125,568 338,526 1,569,015 2,685,405
Comprehensive income el s
Profit for the year FRHHE — — - — 259,784 259,784
Other comprehensive income HitGR & W s
Revaluation gains of investment REMESHE
properties & — — — 534 — 534
Total comprehensive income for F£ XRG4 W
the year B — — — 534 259,784 260,318
Dividends (Note 13) R 5 (FH3E13) - (49,108) - - - (49,108)
Appropriation to statutory reserves & # %% E @ - - 28,272 - (28,272) -
Utilization of school development FRERERE
funds ¢ - - (25,023) - 25,023 -
As at August 31, 2022 R202248A31H 820 602,368 128,817 339,060 1,825,550 2,896,615
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
SRR B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BZE202268A31HILFE
(B ZE15HI) B BUAREZRT)

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARABEAER
Statutory
Share surplus Other Retained
Share capital premium reserves reserves earnings Total
ETE
N &7 % B REGE Hitv e RE AT @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
ARBTT ARETT ARBTn ARETR ARBTT ARETx
(Note 23) (Note 23)
(fy=E23) (FE23)
For the year ended HZ2021F8A318
August 31, 2021 LtEE
As at September 1, 2020 20209810 820 788,756 123,186 336,118 1,427,938 2,676,818
Comprehensive income REWE
Profit for the year FRFE — — — — 143,459 143,459
Other comprehensive income HitiZ & W
Revaluation gains of investment REMESH
properties g — — — 2,408 — 2,408
Total comprehensive income for FR%LA K
the year g8 — — — 2,408 143,459 145,867
Dividends (Note 13) & 8 (fifE13) = (137,280) — — — (137,280)
Appropriation to statutory reserves & % % f = = 38,794 = (38,794) =
Utilization of school development FRERERE
funds %3 — — (36,412) — 36,412 —
As at August 31, 2021 R202158A31H 820 651,476 125,568 338,526 1,569,015 2,685,405

The above consolidated statements of changes in equity should be read in bt A G R 25 B 2 E E (R BE T Y T S — F
conjunction with the accompanying notes. B o
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

AN aui ANy =g —1
SHBESRE=R
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E202268A31HILLFE
(b= BB HTEEEAARERT)

Year ended August 31,
BZE8AMALEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt 3 ARETR ARETT
Cash flows from operating activities RETHNRERE
Cash generated from operations KEMBHRS 30 633,417 809,953
Interest paid BARFIE (109,279) (95,366)
Income tax paid BB (16,682) (5,056)
Net cash generated from operating activities KETHMERSFE 507,456 709,531
Cash flows from investing activities RETBNEESRE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment, BEWME  WFE R&HHE

right-of-use assets and intangible assets BWAE (605,437) (1,148,482)
Disposal of investment of financial assets at HERRESRKARARD

amortized cost CREENRE 6,450 =
Repayment of cash advances from/(payment of B EERS®R

cash advances to) a related party (FIEEEE D X RS ER) 4,958 (4,958)
Interest income received from financial assets at B E RS 3 VN

amortized cost SREEZFEWA 218 427
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and LEWE BERZEN

equipment Fis 58 47 113
Net cash used in investing activities BEESMARESFE (593,764) (1,152,900)
Cash flows from financing activities RETBNEESRE
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITBRATERIE 30(a) 381,639 358,707
Repayments of bank borrowings BRRITER 30(a) (354,467) (145,417)
Proceeds from other borrowings due to FE AT B ESE 77 ) H A i A

a related party P15 3K IE 30(a) 123,000 337,000
Repayments of other borrowings due to B2 e B R 5 &

a related party Hib B3 30(a) (30,000) =
Dividends paid EARE (110,555) (75,120)
Net cash generated from financing activities MESTHMEREFHE 9.617 475,170
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and ReRBLEEYWORD)/

cash equivalents BEmEE (76,691) 31,801
Exchange losses on cash and cash equivalents RekReEEBYNERER (216) (16,111)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year FYReRAEEEY 880,752 865,062
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FRRERELZEEY 803,845 880,752

The above consolidated statements of cash flows should be read in conjunction

with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B F B 1% R Y &

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Vocational Education Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on May 24, 2016 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Act (as revised) of the
Cayman Islands. The address of the Company’s registered office is P.O.
Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, the Cayman Islands.
The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged
in providing private tertiary education services, including tuition services
and student accommodation services in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC").

The ultimate holding company of the Company is HL-Diamond Limited
("HL-Diamond”). The directors of the Company (“Directors”) consider the
ultimate controlling party to be Mr. Zhang Zhifeng, who is also an executive
director and the chairman of the Board of the Company (the “Owner”).

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange"”) since November
25, 2019.

The Company changed its name from Huali University Group Limited to
China Vocational Education Holdings Limited on February 2, 2022.

The outbreak of the 2019 Novel Coronavirus (the “COVID-19") had
brought unprecedented challenges and added uncertainties to the economy.
COVID-19 may affect the financial performance and position of the industry
of education. Since the outbreak of COVID-19, the Group kept continuous
attention on the situation of the COVID-19 and reacted actively to its
impact on the financial position and operating results of the Group. As at
the date that these consolidated financial statements are authorized for
issue, COVID-19 does not have any material adverse impact on the financial

position and operating result of the Group.
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B TE 2B UANREXRT)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies adopted in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
The consolidated financial statements are for the Group consisting of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

2.1 Basis of preparation
(i) Going concern assumption

As at August 31, 2022, the Group's current liabilities exceeded
its current assets by RMB520,592,000. The Group also had
significant capital commitment in relation to construction of
property, plant and equipment out of which RMB266,726,000
was expected to be incurred within the coming twelve months.
The Group’s total borrowings as at August 31, 2022 amounted
to RMB2,449,419,000, and RMB279,718,000 was repayable
within the coming twelve months (included in current liabilities)
and interest payable amounting to RMB103,595,000 is expected
to be accrued and paid within the coming twelve months.

In view of such circumstances, the Directors have given careful
consideration of the future liquidity and operating performance
of the Group and its available source of financing in assessing
whether the Group will have sufficient financial resources to
continue as a going concern. The Directors have reviewed a
cash flow projection of the Group prepared by management
covering a period of not less than twelve months from August
31, 2022 taking into account the Group’s unutilised long-
term bank facilities of approximately RMB776,616,000 for its
capital expenditure and an unutilised long-term bank facility of
RMB30,000,000 for its working capital. The Group maintains
regular communication with its banks and the Directors are
confident that the Group is able to comply with the bank
covenants of its existing bank facilities and such bank facilities

will continue to be available to the Group.

China Vocational Education Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report

TEEHHERBE

AW EREREL S G F B REFR
MOETRSFARRBE - RFREREY
PEZIFENERER  SAEXTRER
Sh o B BTSRRI MR AR A K B
BARMEKNAEE -

21 REEXE
(i) FEEZZER

R2022F8A31H * A& E
RBEBEBLETHEEA
R #520,592,000 ¢ ° 7K &
ENEEAERVE  BE
BB EAEIE - Hp A
R ¥ 266,726,000 7T T8 5t
RKRTZEEAESE - K&
B R2022F8A31 B AE
A AN R ¥ 2,449,419,000
7T+ AR #279,718,000 7T
BRARRT+-—BARNEER
(FFARB AR  BHF
B A B # 103,595,000 7T &
R AR+ @A RHER

SZN I

ENBREN  BESETH
AEEREBETWE SN
FECEBEREZSEAE
ERARRREBDES REEE
RUREREEUTANES
BR - it RASERAEL
BARMY AR ARAERT
EE#H AR #776,616,000
TRRAEEEEESN—1A
ABARPRITEEARE
30,000,000t * EEE%EH
REEERRRE 52022
F8AZNBRBATLR+ =
BAAHEANAERESRE
TR - AEEEHERITHSR
EHBEA c MEBHRELA
SEEHETHREFRTE
EMRITR# RZERTE
BB EHAEEFER -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’'d)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Cont’d)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Going concern assumption (Cont’d)

The Directors are of the opinion that, taking into account
the Group’s available internal financial resources, the Group’s
expected net cash inflows from its operating activities and the
continuous availability of the Group’s bank facilities, the Group
will have sufficient financial resources to fulfil its financial
obligations as and when they fall due in the coming twelve
months from August 31, 2022. Accordingly, these consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis.

Compliance with HKFRSs and HKCO

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) and requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“HKCO") Cap. 622.

Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a historical cost basis as modified by the revaluation of
investment properties which are carried at fair value.

New and amended standards adopted by the

Group

(@) New and amended standards adopted by the
Group:

No new standard or amendment has been applied by
the Group for the first time for the reporting period
commencing September 1, 2021.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2

POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Cont'd)

Group (Cont'd)

TEETRERBE(A)

21 REEE(E)
(iv) New and amended standards adopted by the (iv)

(b) Certain new accounting standards and
interpretations have been published that
are not mandatory for application for the
year ended Auqust 31, 2022 and have not
been early adopted by the Group. These
standards are not expected to have a material
impact on the Group in the current or future
reporting periods and on foreseeable future

transactions:

K& B R B FET R
Fig’ s ‘T R (&)
(b) ETFEEiEA
R EEHEMGE
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H31HIFFE
KE G EH - A
14 K B K 55 B AE
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B4 A &£ 5
# 7] 78 5 /K 2K
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Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on

or after

RIAT B R

sk &R

2 HARM A

Accounting Guideline 5 (revised)

BETHESIFESH (RER])

HKFRS 3 (Amendments)

BRI RELAEIR (BFTA)

HKAS 16 (Amendments)

EEGRTERE 1658 (BRIA)

HKAS 37 (Amendments)

BEETERIEI7R (18

Annual Improvements

FREBGE

HKAS 1 (Amendments)

EBGRTERIE R (BRIA)

HKFRS 17

BERUBIMELRE175R
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Revised Accounting
Guideline 5 Merger Accounting
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Reference to the Conceptual Framework

B IEZRSE |

Property, plant and equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use

W% - BB MERE — BUE RS PSR

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract

BEAH — BIT—MAaKZiA

Annual Improvements to HKFRS standards
2018-2020 (Amendments)
B IR EAER20185F £ 202068
FEBE (BFTAR)

Presentation of financial statements’ on
classification of liabilities

BEDRR2FIBMERRK

Insurance contracts

R A 4

January 1, 2022

20221 818

January 1, 2022
202241 R18

January 1, 2022

20221 A1H

January 1, 2022

202291818

January 1, 2022

20221 R18

January 1, 2023

20231 H1H

January 1, 2023
20231 A1H



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

261 B 15 K I 3

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2

POLICIES (Cont’d)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Cont'd)

(iv) New and amended standards adopted by the

Group (Cont'd)

(= B #5855

B2 BUNREXT)

TEETRERBE(A)

21 mMAREE(AE)

(iv) 75 B R 93 5T R

ABIEETER ()

(b) Certain new accounting standards and

interpretations have been published that
are not mandatory for application for the
year ended August 31, 2022 and have not
been early adopted by the Group. These
standards are not expected to have a material
impact on the Group in the current or future
reporting periods and on foreseeable future

(b) ETFFesEL
ﬁ?ﬁfﬁﬂﬁgﬁﬁfﬁ
FLE E2022F 8
H31H IFFE
KEBHIEA A
18] 7k B 7K E 1E
BRWG - ZEE

BIF8 5 R &

transactions: (Cont’d)

7 5 e 7 2
ISEN Y

2 7 2 9 £ K
ST EERE

AZE (&)

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on

or after

RIAT B R

sk Z 1R FIAH

SR EAR AR

HK Interpretation 5
(Amendments)

ERREBESE (BFIA)

HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2

SE S ERE 15K R BB ERE
ERIE B EFE25%

HKAS 8 (Amendments)

FETERIESSE (BFTA)

HKAS 12 (Amendments)

ER G ERE125% (BRTA)

HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (Amendments)

ERUBIMELERF 1098 K
S G ERIE285E ((BRIA)

Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause
ERAEHBERERERIEROE
kA

HIER

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

BETREHE

Definition of Accounting Estimates

BRHERTAER

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

HE-RSELNEE R A BRBORENA

Sale or contribution of assets between
an investor and its associate or joint
venture

A& & EAR S N RS
BELEXHE

R ZHEH

January 1, 2023

2023F1H1H

January 1, 2023

2023F1 818

January 1, 2023
20231718

January 1, 2023

2023F1H1H

To be determined

&
it

The Group has already commenced an assessment of the
impact of these new or revised standards, interpretation
and amendments, certain of which are relevant to the
Group's operations.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Cont’'d)

158

2.2 Subsidiaries
2.2.1 Consolidation
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over

which

when

the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable

returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability

to affect those returns through its power over the entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which

control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated

from the date that control ceases.

(@)

Subsidiaries controlled through contractual
arrangements

The wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Xizang
Huali Shengda Information Technology Limited (”XZ
Huali”), entered into the contractual arrangements
with the Guangzhou Huali College (“Huali College”),
Guangzhou Huali Science and Technology Vocational
College (“Huali Vocational College”) and Guangdong
Province Huali Technician College (“Huali Technician
College”), (collectively the “PRC Operating Entities”),
and the legal owner of the PRC Operating Entities,
on March 23, 2017 and entered into supplemental
contractual agreements on August 30, 2018 (collectively
referred to as the Contractual Arrangements), which

enable XZ Huali and the Group to:

—  exercise effective control over the PRC Operating
Entities and Huali Investment;
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FEENHERBEAE
POLICIES (Cont'd)
2.2 Subsidiaries (Cont’d) 22 B AT (&)
2.2.1 Consolidation (Cont’d) 221 A AR (4E)

(a) Subsidiaries controlled through contractual (a) BBEHZTHE

arrangements (Cont’d) #l &y K & 2 A]
(&

—  receive substantially all of the economic interest — SBEABELR

returns generated by the PRC Operating Entities Tt EER

and Huali Investment in consideration for the K2 B R

corporate management and educational services, Bl B 2 7S 2

as well as technical and business support services ¥ Bk 7 Y BX

provided by XZ Huali. Such services include
development, design, upgrade and ordinary
maintenance on educational software and website;
design on college course and major; compilation
and selection and/or recommendation on college
course materials; recruitment and training
supporting on teachers and other employees;
admission and enrolment supporting services; public
relation services; market research and development
services; management and marketing consulting
and related services; and other additional services
as the parties may mutually agree from time to
time;
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
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B Z BEUAREXT)

(b= B 75 839)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)
2.2 Subsidiaries (Cont’d)
2.2.1 Consolidation (Cont’d)
(@) Subsidiaries controlled through contractual
arrangements (Cont’d)

obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right to
purchase all equity interests in the PRC Operating
Entities and Huali Investment from the respective
equity holders at nil consideration or a minimum
purchase price permitted under PRC laws and
regulations. XZ Huali may exercise such options at
any time until it has acquired all equity interests
in and/or all assets of the PRC Operating Entities
and Huali Investment permitted under PRC laws
and regulations. In addition, the PRC Operating
Entities and Huali Investment are not allowed to
sell, transfer, or dispose any assets, or make any
distributions to their equity holders without prior
consent of XZ Huali; and

obtain a pledge over the entire equity interest of
the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment
from their equity holders to secure performance
of the obligations of the PRC Operating Entities
and Huali Investment under the Contractual

Arrangements.

160 China Vocational Education Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report

2

22 MEBLATR(E&)

TEETRREE(A)

221 A AR (4E)
(a) BBEAZHE
# B K B L Al

(&

& 15 1 Al A
B R B A
RAE B
A R B A
HEEEERM
EERERS
ABEREZ
EEREREY
®ER 2 PR
W o 7 EE L
A AR & B
BIEHBE R AT
i 5% 8 Ak # -
BEEZESHH
EEERBRE
T RE 2 BR
R SR E
BE - Uk
R4S 78 R L
FERAE P
HEEEER
BEYRERNE
& - B8RO
REEMEE
oA 1 AR
BEAELE
fAInik : &

BIRERE A
BEEPBEREE
BERRETR
& 2 & AR B
A AR P
Bl & & H B
EVRERT
ERNEHENE
-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

YA ans = =
& OF B 7 2k Y 5

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BZE202268A31HILFE
(B ZE15HI) B BUAREZRT)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FEETHERBEE
POLICIES (Cont'd)
2.2 Subsidiaries (Cont’d) 22 MEBLATR(E&)
2.2.1 Consolidation (Cont’d) 221 A AR (4E)
(a) Subsidiaries controlled through contractual (a) EBE LT
arrangements (Cont’d) # By B B L Al
(#&

=

The Group does not have any equity interest in
the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment.
However, as a result of the Contractual
Arrangements, the Group has rights to variable
returns from its involvement with the PRC
Operating Entities and Huali Investment and
has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the PRC Operating Entities and
Huali Investment, and is considered to control
the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment.
Consequently, the Company regards the PRC
Operating Entities and Huali Investment as the
indirect subsidiaries under HKFRSs. The Group has
included the financial position and results of the
PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment in the
consolidated financial statements.
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162

SUMMARY

OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Cont’'d)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Cont’d)
2.2.1 Consolidation (Cont’d)

(@)

(b)

Subsidiaries controlled through contractual
arrangements (Cont’d)

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not
be as effective as direct legal ownership in providing
the Group with direct control over the PRC Operating
Entities and Huali Investment, due to the uncertainties
presented by the PRC legal system to impede the Group's
beneficiary rights of the results, assets and liabilities
of the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment.
The Directors, based on the advice of its legal counsel,
consider that the Contractual Arrangements among the
PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment and their
equity shareholders are in compliance with the relevant
PRC laws and regulations and are legally enforceable.

Business combination

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations. The consideration transferred for
the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the
assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former
owner of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair
value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’'d)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Cont’d)
2.2.1 Consolidation (Cont’d)

(b)

Business combination (Cont’d)

The Group recognizes any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event
of liquidation are measured at either fair value or the
present ownership interests’ proportionate share in the
recognized amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRSs.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair
value at the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising
from such re-measurement are recognized in profit or

loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
Group is recognized at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is
recognized in accordance with HKAS 39 in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.
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SUMMARY

OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Cont’'d)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Cont’d)
2.2.1 Consolidation (Cont’d)

(b)

Business combination (Cont’d)

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total
of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest
recognized and previously held interest measured is less
than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference
is recognized directly in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealized
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the transferred asset. When necessary, amounts reported
by subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with the
Group’s accounting policies.
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v == S

B 15 R R B A
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B E202268A31HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’'d)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Cont’d)
2.2.1 Consolidation (Cont’d)

(©

(d)

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions — that is, as transactions with the owners of
the subsidiary in their capacity as owners. The difference
between fair value of any consideration paid and the
relevant share acquired of the carrying amount of net
assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or
losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also
recorded in equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained
interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value at
the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying
amount recognized in profit or loss. The fair value is the
initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate,
joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognized in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
It means the amounts previously recognized in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’'d)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Cont’d)
2.2.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including

goodwill.

2.3 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the

24

internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker

("CODM"). The CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources

and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been

identified as the executive directors that makes strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation

(a)

Functional and presentation currency

Iltems included in the financial statements of each of the
entities within the Group are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). Since the majority of
the assets and operations of the Group are located in the PRC,
the consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB,
which is the Company’s functional currency and the Group’s
presentation currency.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESTHHREHME(E)
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (Cont’d)

24 HNEBRE(E)

(b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the

transactions or valuation where items are re-measured.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the translation at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are recognized in the consolidated statements

of comprehensive income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings
are presented in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income within ‘finance expenses — net’. All other foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income within ‘other gains/

(losses) — net'.

2.5 Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less
depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated statements
of comprehensive income during the financial year in which they are
incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using
the straight-line method to allocate their costs, net of their residual
values, over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 40-50 years
Vehicles 5-10 years
Electronic equipment 5-10 years
Furniture and fixtures 5-20 years
Interior decoration 3-5 years
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’'d)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment (Cont‘d)

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted
if appropriate, at the end of each reporting year.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.8).

Gains or losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognized within ‘other
gains/(losses) — net’ in the consolidated statements of comprehensive

income.

Construction in progress represents buildings, electronic equipment,
furniture and fixtures and interior decoration under construction and
is stated at cost less impairment losses. Historical expenditure that is
directly attributable to the construction comprises construction costs,
the cost of plant and machineries and applicable borrowing costs
incurred during the construction year. No provision for depreciation
is made on construction in progress until such time as the relevant
assets are completed and ready for intended use. When the assets
concerned are brought into use, the costs are transferred to relevant
categories of property, plant and equipment and depreciated in
accordance with the policy as stated above.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’'d)

2.6

Investment property

Investment property, principally comprising leasehold land and
buildings, is held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation
or both, and that is not occupied by the Group. It also includes
properties that are being constructed or developed for future use
as investment properties. Land held under operating leases are
accounted for as investment properties when the rest of the definition
of an investment property is met. In such cases, the operating
leases concerned are accounted for as if they were finance leases.
Investment property is initially measured at cost, including related
transaction costs and where applicable borrowing costs. After
initial recognition, investment properties are carried at fair value,
representing open market value determined at each reporting date by
external valuers. Fair value is based on active market prices, adjusted,
if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or condition
of the specific asset. If the information is not available, the Group
uses alternative valuation methods such as recent prices on less active
markets or discounted cash flow projections. Changes in fair values
are recorded in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income
as part of a revaluation gain or loss in ‘other gains/(losses) — net'.

When an owner-occupied property becomes an investment property
carried at fair value, the Group applies HKAS 16 up to the date of
change in use. The Group treats any difference at that date between
the carrying amount of the property in and its fair value in as a
revaluation in accordance with HKAS 16. In other words, any resulting
increase in the carrying amount is treated as follows:

(i) to the extent that the increase reverses a previous impairment
loss for that property, the increase is recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

(i) any remaining part of the increase is recognised in other
comprehensive income and increases the revaluation surplus

within equity.

B E202268A31HILFE

(= HIEHI  HTEELELARERT)

TEETRREE(A)

26 REWE

BEMEDRFIERDNRAPES K
BAMEXMEREMIEAEER
iR EREREL
R IEF - IR HE R 2 ok B 3 A
HARARKAEREDENYE -
EREREAVENERERK
BIEEEREREH T 1 AR
EREYE -RILEEBERT A
AL HEZEREREAR -
REWMEVTEREAGTE - B
HER S AR (R0 E A ) & 3K
Ko VIRERE REMERD
FEZER - BIANEE i (B A 7E & 3

CHHEBEENARME - AFE
REBMBERET  VERR
BETEENMHEE - RNEIMN
ZEMAE - MEEHEER -

rEBSFEREMMEEE - Flm
RINERMISHABER KR
Ren=@Al c R FEZEHRE
iR A W kA HE s (8
B)— FHEIEASEFHRENERE
B — 29 HIBR ©

EXEFTERWEKRBUATET
EROREMER  ASERAR
BEHEHANERE A ST LS
1658 - AEBILRBE S SR
Bl EE B MEREMBEREAF
BErHENEZERERAEHGE- -8
= 2 v BRTE{E ) (R 38 00 5§ 4R A
TAREIE

() 0 A0 ELK 2 2 A1 3
R - R IR A B
HRWR -

(i) MO EMRSBTRIR
ARG WS TR - E N
NEEGE B -

r//

REBEREERERA R 169
2022 FE | L



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AN Gn /g =3

& 0F B 15 R R BT A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E202268A31HILLFE
(b= BB HTEEEAARERT)

170

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’'d)

2.7

2.8

2.9

Intangible assets

Intangible assets represent the computer software. Computer software
is stated at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated
impairment losses. Cost represents consideration paid for the rights
to use the computer software for 5 years. Amortization of computer
software is calculated on the straight-line method over 5 years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-
generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.

Financial assets

2.9.1 Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either
through other comprehensive income, or through profit
or loss), and

o those to be measured at amortized cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the
cash flows.

China Vocational Education Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report

2

TEETRREE(A)

2.7 EFREE

BVEEREME - EREMH
VAP AS R, R 512 85 & R EHRUE B
B - AR E MBI 5F
PR S 3 B9 B o B B

NS F NI EROEFTE -

28 FETRMEERME

FBMHCEERANBLEEHAE
B B RN HOBRTE (B T B2 R R
o] 85 3 1T OR BRI B o BB B R iR
EEREEBLTKROSENZE
BHER - AROSEREERT
EREEXRAREREENRS
EopfERENS @ BERS
A EBIR R 8 R REKTE (R
SELBMN)RE - BRENES
BMAEE(HERIMNREHS B

AHERTT

BB ERE -

tHMEE
291598

2.9

AEBREMEESRAUT

sHEET

e HRBREBEAFEGFE
(GtAEM AR & H s
HEFAEE) NS R

BE R

s REBKATENS

DERTEREESREE

MEBEARBRERES

R E ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

v == S
B 15 R R B A
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BZE202268A31HILFE
(B ZE15HI) B BUAREZRT)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESTHHREHME(E)
POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.9 Financial assets (Cont’d) 29 ERMEE(F)
2.9.1 Classification (Cont’d) 291 73 (&)

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either
be recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive income.
For investments in debt instruments, this will depend on the
business model in which the investment is held. For investments
in equity instruments, this will depend on whether the
Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value
through other comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its
business model for managing those assets changes.

2.9.2 Recognition and measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at
its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or
loss are recorded in profit or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the
Group's business model for managing the asset and the cash
flow characteristics of the asset. The Group classifies its debt
instruments into the following measurement category:

Amortized cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are measured at amortized
cost. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at amortized cost and is not part of a hedging
relationship is recognized in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognized or impaired. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using the effective interest
method.

The Group held trade and other receivables, amounts due from
related parties and other financial assets at amortized cost
during the years ended August 31, 2022 and 2021.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.10 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is
reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis or realize the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be contingent
on future events and must be enforceable in the normal course of
business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the

company or the counterparty.

2.11 Impairment of financial assets carried at amortized

cost

The Group’s significant financial assets, which are subject to the
new expected credit loss model, include trade and other receivables,
amounts due from related parties and other financial assets at
amortized cost. The Group was required to revise its impairment
methodology under HKFRS 9 for each of these classes of assets.

2.11.1 Trade receivables
The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits
the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade
receivables and requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognized from initial recognition of the receivables. See Note

3.1(b) for details of the impairment policy of trade receivables.

2.11.2 Other receivables and amounts due from
related parties
For other receivables and amounts due from related parties,
management considers that its credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial recognition with reference to the
counterparty historical default rate and current financial
position. The impairment provision is determined based on the
12-month expected credit losses which is close to zero.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESTHHREHME(E)
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.11 Impairment of financial assets carried at amortized

QNMRBREAEARNERME

cost (Cont’d)
2.11.3 Other financial assets at amortized cost

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at
amortized cost. Impairment losses are presented as separate line
item in the statement of profit or loss.

2.12 Contract assets and liabilities

Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the Group obtains
rights to receive consideration from the customer and assumes
performance obligations to transfer goods or services to the customer.
The combination of those rights and performance obligations gives
rise to a net asset or a net liability depending on the relationship
between the remaining rights and the performance obligations. The
contract is an asset and recognized as contract assets if the measure
of the remaining conditional rights to consideration exceeds the
satisfied performance obligations. Conversely, the contract is a liability
and recognized as contract liabilities if the measure of the remaining

performance obligations exceeds the measure of the remaining rights.

2.13 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated cash flow statements, cash and cash equivalents
include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and other
financial institutions and short-term bank deposits with original
maturities of three months or less. Bank deposits which are restricted
to use are included in “restricted cash”. Restricted cash is excluded
from cash and cash equivalents where preparing in the consolidated
statement of cash flows.

2.14 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity
as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.15 Accruals and other payables

Accruals and other payables and amounts due to related parties are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less
(or within the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not,
they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Other payables and amounts due to related parties are recognized
initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest method.

2.16 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortized cost;
any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and
the redemption value is recognized in the consolidated statements
of comprehensive income over the year of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognized as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee
is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalized as a pre-payment for liquidity
services and amortized over the period of the facility to which it
relates.

Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation
specified in the contract is discharged, canceled or expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that
has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the
consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or
liabilities assumed, is recognized in profit or loss as other income or
finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12

months after the end of the reporting year.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESTHHREHME(E)
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.17 Borrowing costs 217 R A

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets,
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalization.

All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in the year

in which they are incurred.

2.18 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax.
Tax is recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case the tax
is also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

(a) Current income tax
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date in the countries where the Company and its
subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the

basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (Cont’d)

(b)

Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognized, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognized if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill, the deferred income tax is not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that
at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using
tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply
when the related deferred income tax asset is realized or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilized.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable
temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint arrangements, except for deferred income
tax liability where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Generally, the Group is unable to control the reversal of
the temporary difference for associates. Only when there is an
agreement in place that gives the Group the ability to control
the reversal of the temporary difference in the foreseeable
future, deferred tax liability in relation to taxable temporary
differences arising from the associate’s undistributed profits is
not recognized.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized on deductible
temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries,
only to the extent that it is probable the temporary difference
will reverse in the future and there is sufficient taxable profit
available against which the temporary difference can be utilized.

China Vocational Education Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report

2

TEETRREE(A)

218 E M RIEFEFR S B (4)
ﬂv,fﬁ%F 3 #

A B8 E = R
EIEFF BRI A LR E
EANEENTEREEA G
B HRE 2 EEEN L

EEER o A %Lkﬁ

BEERENLSHERRE
%T%%m?%@k%ﬁ

HRBER S (TEEXEHR
SO P HEEXBEN
TR MEXZHITE
B BERERVIERS Al
TMELER « BEMSHAR
%ZEE%%Y?E%%W

R(EBER)EE L HE
%F“ﬁﬁ%kk%%ﬁé
EXEERELEREHEER
FEM -

2R R AT B2 H B R 2R FEER X
MEEET AR EREERE
B D ERRBRLERSHE
=3

S EEBEERE
HINRAWBAR - BEA
AR A e Y A Y B R

TR EE  SHREERE
MAERE  HHAEEE
B M = RE R EI R - B

i%%%ETi%%@T

g BB A IETEATSH
E%v%ﬁ%mo$gl
BRI B EE N B A B
MEZRERE B o BRET M Wk
DAL B BTE P R A R IE

TR EERDE e
ﬁ%”ﬂ% ﬁﬁﬁ%im
JE AR E B\ = B RE
MEEE -

ERE R Z R A B
REEE - TR E R
MEEE T AR EREERE
B e EARREE
AE B AT R R 1 R AR
BIEFSHEE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (Cont’d)

(c)

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets
and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable
entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a
net basis.

2.19 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

(c)

Pension obligations

The entities within the Group registered in the PRC make
employee benefit contributions base on certain percentage
of the salaries of the employees to a defined contribution
retirement benefit plan and medical benefit plan organized by
relevant government authorities in the PRC on a monthly basis.
The government authorities undertake to assume the retirement
benefit obligation payable to the existing and future retired
employees under these plans and the Group has no further
obligation for post-retirement benefits beyond the contributions
made. Contributions to these plans are expensed as incurred.
Assets of the plans are held and managed by government
authorities and are separate from those of the Group.

Housing funds

The PRC employees of the Group are also entitled to participate
in various government-sponsored housing funds. The Group
contributes on a monthly basis to those funds based on a
certain percentage of the employee’s salaries. The Group's
liabilities in respect of these funds is limited to the contributions
payable in each year. The non-PRC employees are not covered
by the housing funds.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognized when
they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date. Employee
entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognized until the time of leave.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.20 Provisions

Provisions are recognized when: the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and
the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognized
for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that
an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering
the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognized even if
the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in
the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognized as interest expense.

2.21 Revenue recognition

Revenue represents tuition fees and boarding fees from provision of
services by the universities of the Group.

Tuition and boarding fees are generally received in advance prior
to the beginning of each academic year and are initially recorded
as contract liabilities. Tuition and boarding fees are recognized
proportionately over the terms of the applicable program or the
beneficial period for the students, where applicable. The portion of
tuition and boarding payments received from students but not yet
earned is recorded as contract liabilities.

Rental income of property leasing under operating leases is recognized

on a straight-line basis over the lease terms.

2.22 Government grant

Grants from the government are recognized at their fair value where
there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and

the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognized in
the consolidated statements of comprehensive income over the year
necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESTHHREHME(E)
POLICIES (Cont'd)
2.23 Leases 223 &

Leases are recognized as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by
the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the lease and
non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a
present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of
the following lease payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any

lease incentives receivable

3 variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date

3 amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual
value guarantees

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

3 payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension

options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in
the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is generally
the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing
rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay/to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with

similar terms, security and conditions.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

2.23 Leases (Cont’d)
Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The
finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance
of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

3 the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received

3 any initial direct costs, and
o restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the

asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and vehicles
and all leases of low-value assets are recognized on a straight-line
basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with
a lease term of 12 months or less.

Rental income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor
is recognized in income on a straight-line basis over the lease term
(Note 6). Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the underlying asset and
recognized as expense over the lease term on the same basis as
rental income. The respective leased assets are included in the balance
sheet based on their nature. The Group did not need to make any
adjustments to the accounting for assets held as lessor as a result of
adopting the new leasing standard.

2.24 Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognized as
a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements in
the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s
shareholders or directors, where appropriate.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors
The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market
risk (including foreign exchange risk and cash flow and fair value
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The overall risk
management program of the Group focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on
financial performance of the Group.

(a) Market risk
()  Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates in the PRC with most transactions
being settled in RMB, which is the functional currency
of the Group’s companies. The Group has borrowings
denominated in HK$ amounting to RMB118,514,000 as
at August 31, 2022. The Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy, and manages its foreign
currency risk by closely monitoring the movement of the
foreign currency rates.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d) 3
3.1 Financial risk factors (Cont’d)
(a) Market risk (Cont’d)
(i)  Foreign exchange risk (Cont’d)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency

denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the ASNEE ST E R B #E &
respective balance sheet dates are follows: ERBEMEEEN
T

Exposure to foreign currencies
(expressed in RMB’000)

S LB
(AAR®BTFTRT)
As at August 31,
MA8H31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
Monetary assets denominated in HK$ AABTHENEKEE
— Cash and cash equivalents —BERREEED 6,750 22,623
— Restricted cash —XREIES 1,443 1,041
8,193 23,664
Monetary assets denominated in US$ NETFENEEEE
— Cash and cash equivalents —HEeRBEEEEY 293 1,282
— Other receivables — H e s s E — 310
— Other financial assets at — REHBREKARARSY
amortized costs EfhemEE — 6,450
293 8,042
Monetary liabilities denominated in HK$ A Tt ERNEEEE
— Other payables — H M FE I 3RIB — 4
— Borrowings — B 118,514 124,605
118,514 124,609
Monetary liabilities denominated in US$ A E L EMNEBK ARG
— Other payables — B RIE 216 27
(110,244) (92,930)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Cont’d)
(a) Market risk (Cont’d)

(i)

(if)

Foreign exchange risk (Cont’d)

The following table shows the sensitivity analysis of a 5%
change in RMB against the relevant foreign currencies.
The sensitivity analysis includes only foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation
at the year-end for a 5% change in foreign currency
rates. If there is a 5% increase/(decrease) in RMB against
the relevant currencies, the effect in the post-tax profit
for the year is as follows:

3 SRERERE(E)
31 2RAREE (&)
(a) qz‘“%/ﬁ&%(ﬁ)

(1)

S E J7 5 (42 )
TRIRARE LA
4 51 B B B 5% M) &1
REDN - URED
TEBEAINEE
MWERKIAE - LRI
W R B 5% B
HFERBE -WMAR
KHAEBE®EAES
(B2 E)5% @ & F R/
Bt & 7B & ¥ 2 0
B

As at August 31,

A8A31H

2022 2021

2022F 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR AR T

5% increase in RMB against HK$ AR S BT ES% 5,520 5,056
5% decrease in RMB against HK$ AREE B ITIE5% (5,520) (5,056)
5% increase in RMB against US$ AR HETHBE% (4) (336)
5% decrease in RMB against US$ ARBHETRESY% 4 336
Cash flow and fair value interests rate risk (i) BHzmRkiFE

Tl 2 2 2

The Group's interest rate risk arises from bank deposits
and borrowings. Borrowings obtained at floating rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk which
is partially offset by cash at bank with floating interest
rates. Borrowings obtained at fixed rates expose the
Group to fair value interest rate risk. Other than the
loan due to a related party bearing interest at fixed rate
during the year ended August 31, 2022 as disclosed in
Note 33, all of the Group’s borrowings bore interest at
floating rates during the years ended August 31, 2022
and 2021.
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FINANCIAL

3.1 Financial

RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)
risk factors (Cont’d)

(a) Market risk (Cont’d)

(if)

(b)

Cash flow and fair value interests rate risk
(Cont’d)

Bank deposits carried at prevailing market interest rate
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The
Group closely monitors trend of interest rate and its
impact on the Group’s interest rate risk exposure. The
Group currently has not used any interest rate swap
arrangements but will consider hedging interest rate risk

should the need arise.

As at August 31, 2022 and 2021, if the interest rates on
the borrowings had been 50 basis points higher/lower
than the prevailing rate announced by People’s Bank of
China, with all other variables held constant, interest
charges for the year would have been RMB10,097,000
and RMB11,602,000 higher/lower, respectively.

The Group monitors interest rate fluctuation to ensure
that exposure to interest rate risk is within an acceptable

level.

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying

amounts of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade

and other receivables, amounts due from related parties and

other financial assets at amortized cost.

At August 31, 2022 and 2021, substantially all of the Group’s

bank deposits were deposited with major financial institutions

incorporated in the Mainland of PRC, Hong Kong and Macao,

which management believes are of high credit quality without

significant credit risk.

China Vocational Education Holdings Limited

2022 Annual Report

3

cREKRER(£)
31 RAREE (&)

(a)

(b)

i 4% 7 B (4%)

(i) HzmRAFE
I E B (&)
A& B EERITHS
R BHRITER
ARREREF XA
B AEEHER
MEBBRAYFE
B B 0 ) R R B 1
BE-AEEANY
24 PR E ) R 95 5
ZH BERERS

Z B E R R E R

72022 4 ]2 202148
A318 - W& Fl =
BHRBEARRITRM
WMIBRITHEEFR T
ERSOMEE S - AT B
Hith S SRFAE -
AFEF SR B
R, B AR
10,097,000t & A B
#11,602,0007T °

XS S-S IS
B REFEER
ERABEFATF -

EEmEE
AEENRREERR AR
ERBPEEEY  XRFIR
& - B 5 REMEYGR
e Uk B Bt 77 BROR R AR R K
AABRHH 2 B & E R AR
EE -

2022 2202148 A31H

C REBB KRB RITIFR
GEHREREAR - HE KR
B P AR AL ) KB € b
- EHERERERER
EaEEER FERBRT
Ko



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Cont’d)

(b)

Credit risk (Cont’d)

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk.
The Group assessed the credit quality of the counter parties
by taking into account their financial position, credit history
and other factors. Management also regularly reviews the
recoverability of these receivables and follow up the disputes or
amounts overdue, if any. The Directors are of the opinion that
the risk of default by counter parties is low.

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial
recognition of asset and whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout
each reporting period. It considers available reasonable and

supportive forwarding-looking information.

The general expected credit loss model is summarized below:

The financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial
recognition is classified in “Stage 1” and has its credit risk
continuously monitored by the Group. The expected credit loss
is measured on a 12-month basis.

If a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition is
identified, the financial instrument is moved to “Stage 2" but is
not yet deemed to be credit-impaired. The expected credit loss
is measured on lifetime basis.

If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial
instrument is then moved to “Stage 3”. The expected credit
loss is measured on lifetime basis.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E202268A31HILLFE
(b= BB HTEEEAARERT)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont‘d) 3 TREREREA)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Cont’d) 31 e@ERER (&)
(b) Credit risk (Cont'd) (b) EEEREE (&)
The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for AEBFERABEBMBRELE
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits BI S5 9%k R M 5 77 /&5t
the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade TEHEE BB IR EE &%
receivables and requires expected lifetime losses to be FER TR FESREE
recognized from initial recognition of the receivables. HMETE B 5 M RIB R &

- W EK B VIR TERE W
RIA R IE T ERE

B -

The loss allowance of trade receivables was determined as B S RrWRIBNEERER
follows: IATAREFE :

Less than
During the years ended B E202268A31H 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 3 years
August 31, 2022 IHEE DSR1E 12265 223F
Expected loss rate T8 HA 85 18 0.2% 7.7% 50%

Less than
During the years ended B £202158H31H 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 3 years
August 31, 2021 ILEE LSR5 1226 2Z3F
Expected loss rate TEEEE = 0.2% 7.8% 50%
The Group assessed the loss allowance of trade receivables AEBRBEEEEENTEL
based on an assessment of the expected credit losses to be EEEENTH(BEHAB
incurred, including an assessment of the historical collection MR E B AT Al DA R BT HE 14
rate and forward looking adjustments when applicable. AE(MER))MAEES

FE WK IE B S R 4B -

The Directors are of the view that the industrial characteristics EERA FIEEBREEZE
factors with regard to trade receivables collections have been 2022 F F 20218 A31H 1k
taken into accounts in the assessment on the expected credit FEMNBEHEEHEXR
loss rate throughout the years ended August 31, 2022 and BE R A HWERE Z . KK
2021. BRITERRHER -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Cont’d)
(b) Credit risk (Cont’d)

(c)

Management has closely monitored the credit qualities and
the collectability of these receivables and considers that the
expected credit risks of them are minimal in view of the history
of cooperation with them and forward looking information.
Trade receivables were mainly tuition and boarding fees
receivables. The loss allowance provision for these balances was
not material and no provision was recorded during the years
ended August 31, 2022 and 2021.

Liquidity risk

To manage the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains
a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The Group expects to
fund its future cash flow needs mainly from internally generated
cash flows from operations and borrowings from financial
institutions. As at August 31, 2022, the Group held available
deposits of RMB803,845,000 and expected to readily generate
cash inflows from the tuition income and boarding income
for managing liquidity risk. Due to the dynamic nature of the
underlying businesses, the Group treasury maintains flexibility
in funding by committed credit lines. As at the date of this
report, the Group had unutilised long-term bank facilities of
approximately RMB776,616,000 for its capital expenditure and
an unutilised long-term bank facility of RMB30,000,000 for its
working capital. The Group maintains regular communication
with its banks and the Directors are confident that the Group
is able to comply with the bank covenants of its existing bank
facilities and such bank facilities will continue to be available
to the Group. The Group will also consider to obtain more
banking facilities when there is any likelihood of shortfall in
working capital.
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(b= BB HTEEEAARERT)

(c)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d) 3 EREARERE)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Cont'd) 31 e@ERER (&)
Liquidity risk (Cont'd) (c) HEBEZEE (&)
The table below analyzes the Group’s non-derivative financial TROMDOIBRBEEBRES
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the HEHENE G FEEEAE
remaining year at the balance sheet date to the contractual ERFETESREBEIER
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the R BAER o RIEFH
contractual undiscounted cash flows. BNEBEAAARIERS

ME o
Less than Between Between Over
1year 1and2years 2and5 years 5 years Total
PRIE 1228 2Z5% SELE @t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB000 RMB’000
N ARB TR ARBT ARBT T ARE TR
As at August 31, 2022 1202258 A31H
Borrowings fER
(principal plus interests) (K& ML) 385,524 778,616 1,013,215 708,536 2,885,891
Accruals and other payables  fETE A & E 4o fE R 5B
(excluding non-financial (TefEkeRAR)
liabilities) 299,530 191,485 — — 491,015
Amounts due to related parties & BB 77 ZA 60,718 — — — 60,718
Total @it 745,772 970,101 1,013,215 708,536 3,437,624
As at August 31, 2021 R2021%58A31H
Borrowings &
(principal plus interests) (K& mFg) 326,261 395,392 1,406,947 580,010 2,708,610
Accruals and other payables  fEZF B R RE MR HE
(excluding non-financial (TaEELRaR)
liabilities) 363,077 153,043 80,692 — 596,812
Amounts due to related parties &1 B % 5 508 45,415 53,487 — — 98,902
Total @t 734,753 601,922 1,487,639 580,010 3,404,324

188 China Vocational Education Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

YA ans = =
& OF B 7 2k Y 5

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BZE202268A31HILFE
(B ZE15HI) B BUAREZRT)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d) 3 SRERERE(E)
32 EXER

3.2 Capital management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as total debt (including external borrowings) divided
by total equity.

The gearing ratios as at August 31, 2022 and 2021 were as follows:

AEFBEHREARNDN B HEERA
SEEAFELEE  BERRIEMR
(] 3 3 A3 EL Ath 7 25 48 B 7 12 ¢ A
@ BIEEREE  HUREAK
K o

RERFIFBREARE  AKH
FEHBERNTRRERORE
BOREBATRR  EITHR
MREEEENHREE -

AEERBEEELREZER -
BELERRBEBK(BFENEE

FOB AR E -

MR20224% K2021E8A31BH A
B EMT :

As at August 31,

MW8HA31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T R ARBTT
Total borrowings AR 2,449,419 2,320,385
Total equity R 2,896,615 2,685,405
Gearing ratio BfELX 85% 86%

The decrease in the gearing ratio as at August 31, 2022 resulted
primarily from the increase in total equity.

2025 8H3IAMAELETR 2
EHRBES LT -
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont‘d)

3.3 Fair value estimation

Financial instruments carried at fair value or where fair value was
disclosed can be categorized by levels of the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value. The inputs are categorized into
three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

o Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities (level 1).

3 Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

3 Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).

See Note 16 for disclosures of the investment properties that are

measured at fair value.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets including cash
and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade and other receivables,
amounts due from related parties and other financial assets at
amortized cost and financial liabilities including current accruals and
other payables, current amounts due to related parties, and current
borrowings, approximate their fair values due to their short maturities.
The fair values of non-current borrowings are estimated based on
discounted cash flow using the prevailing market rates of interest
available to the Group for financial instruments with substantially
the same terms and characteristics at the respective balance sheet
dates. The carrying amount of the Group’s non-current amounts due
to related parties and non-current accruals and other payables also
approximate their fair values because they are recognized by taking
into account the imputed interest rates.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below.

(a) Contractual Arrangements

The Group conducts a substantial portion of the business
through the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment in the
PRC due to regulatory restrictions on the foreign ownership
in the Group’s schools in the PRC. The Group does not
have any equity interest in the PRC Operating Entities and
Huali Investment. The Directors assessed whether or not the
Group has control over the PRC Operating Entities and Huali
Investment by assessing whether it has the rights to variable
returns from its involvement with the PRC Operating Entities
and Huali Investment and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the PRC Operating Entities and Huali
Investment. After assessment, the Directors concluded that the
Group has control over the PRC Operating Entities and Huali
Investment as a result of the Contractual Arrangements and
accordingly the financial position and the operating results of
the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment are included in
the Group’s consolidated financial statements throughout the
years ended August 31, 2022 and 2021 or since the respective
dates of incorporation/establishment, whichever is the shorter
period. Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not be
as effective as direct legal ownership in providing the Group
with direct control over the PRC Operating Entities and Huali
Investment and uncertainties presented by the PRC legal system
could impede the Group’s beneficiary rights of the results,
assets and liabilities of the PRC Operating Entities and Huali
Investment. The Directors, based on the advice of its PRC legal
counsel, consider that the Contractual Arrangements with the
PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment and their equity
shareholders are in compliance with the relevant PRC laws and
regulations and are legally enforceable.
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(b= BB HTEEEAARERT)

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Cont’d)
4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Cont’d)
(b) Income taxes and deferred taxation

4 BRSHEE RHE(E)

4.1 BREFTEFTRER(E)
(b) Fris B REZYE

192

According to the Implementation Rules for the Law for
Promoting Private Education (“Implementing Rules”), private
schools, whether requiring reasonable returns or not, may enjoy
preferential tax treatment. The Implementing Rules provide
that the private schools for which the sponsors do not require
reasonable returns are eligible to enjoy the same preferential
tax treatment as public schools, and relevant authorities under
the State Council may introduce preferential tax treatments
and related policies applicable to private schools requiring
reasonable returns. However, as of the date of this report, no
separate policies, regulations or rules have been introduced by
the authorities in this regard. Based on the historical tax returns
filed to the relevant tax authorities, the PRC Operating Entities
have historically enjoyed preferential tax treatment since their
establishment.

Significant judgment is required in interpreting the relevant tax
rules and regulation so as to determine whether the Group
is subject to corporate income tax. This assessment relies
on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of
judgments about future events. New information may become
available that causes the Group to change its judgment
regarding the adequacy of the tax liabilities. Such changes
to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the year that such
determination is made.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Cont’d)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Cont’d)

(c)

(d)

Useful lives and residual values of property,
plant and equipment

Management determines the estimated useful lives, residual
values and related depreciation charges for its property, plant
and equipment, and reviews the useful lives and residual
values periodically to ensure that the method and rates of
depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of
realization of economic benefits from property, plant and
equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience
of the actual residual values and useful lives of property, plant
and equipment of similar nature and functions. It could change
significantly as a result of technical innovations and economic
environment changes in response to severe industry cycles. If
there are significant changes from previously estimated useful
lives and residual values, the amount of depreciation expenses

may change.

Fair value of investment properties

Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value for
financial reporting purposes. The board of directors of the
Company determine the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs for fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available. When level 1
inputs are not available, the Group engages third party qualified
valuers to perform the valuation. The Directors of the Company
work closely with the qualified external valuers to establish
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model.
The fair value of investment properties is determined by using
valuation technique. Details of the judgment and assumptions
have been disclosed in Note 16.
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B ZE202268A31HILLFE
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194

SEEHS) B2 EAAREXRT)

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in provision of private tertiary education
and ancillary services in the PRC. The Group’s chief operating decision-
maker ("CODM") has been identified as the executive directors who
considers the business from the service perspective.

Information reported to the CODM, for the purpose of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance, is on a school by school basis.
Each individual school constitutes an operating segment. The services
provided and type of customers are similar in each operating segment,
and each operating segment is subject to similar regulatory environment.
Accordingly, their segment information is aggregated as a single reportable
segment. CODM assesses the performance of the reportable segment based
on the revenue and gross profit for the year of the Group as presented
in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. The accounting
policies of the reportable segment are the same as the Group's accounting
policies described in Note 2. No analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities
is regularly provided to the management of the Group for review.

As at August 31, 2022, approximately 87% of the carrying values of the
Group’s assets are situated in the PRC mainland. All of the Group's revenue
are derived from activities in, and from customers located in the PRC
mainland and no geographical segment analysis is prepared.

Revenue during the years ended August 31, 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

/'\ﬁBﬁ*)I_

AERTERTERERBRSEHE
REER - AEEOEBLEREE
(EEREREE ) RITES » K1t
RIEAEEBER -

EEREMDIAZEMTEELE AR
E OUESEERRTHSHERR - &
ﬁ?&%ﬁ%*1 B nEp o B D ED

RHAORBREPEAGEL - FTRE
Ai&%)ﬁﬁ@ MG R FH 5 B & BHE
RE—FZ2WHOMPETES - FELE
REREBRBEHEGERERMEIN AR
EEFARAREFNTEAIZ®RD FE
B oo o] 25 AL 5K B T2 7
MAKRE G HREER o & FEHmRA
SEHERERHASEBEERBENS
LA EB] -

MR2022%68A31H AEBEEEY
87T%MEBEMNPBE AN - NEBAAE
WA ZR & AR B A ) 2 7 e R B A 3
B WERRIME D BN

HE2022F R2021F8A31HIEFER
WAT :

Year ended August 31,
HE8A3MALEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARETT
Recognized over time RE— R EERER
— Tuition fees —Bs 836,470 813,324
— Boarding fees — FEE 71,292 68,332
907,762 881,656
Tuition fees and boarding fees are recognized proportionately over each EERTBEERNSESFRLOIER - &

academic year. No customers individually accounted for more than 10% of
the Group’s revenue during the years ended August 31, 2022 and 2021.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

YA ans +H =3
& OF B 7 2k Y 5

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BZE202268A31HILFE
(B ZE15HI) B BUAREZRT)

6 OTHER INCOME 6 HilgA

Year ended August 31,
BZESH3MALEE

2022 2021

2022%F 20214

RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARB TR ARETT

Rental income He A 10,642 11,199

Government subsidies KT 48 B 10,228 7,819

Training service income 1% 31 AR 75 U A 8,835 4,555

Bookselling income B & 8 A 3,676 7,213

Service income of school-enterprise REEEEB RB KA

cooperation projects 2,519 1,101
Interest income on other financial assets RE AR AR H b A

at amortized cost EEMNFBBA 29 903

Service income from a related party 2K B BT 8 AR A — 2,330

35,929 35,120

7 OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES) — NET 7 Hfttls (EBHR)FHE

Year ended August 31,
BE8A3MHLEE

2022 2021

2022 20214

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR¥T R ARKETTT

Net exchange gains/(losses) & H e/ (E18) %5 482 (18,242)

Fair value gains on investment properties (Note 16) REWHER T EWE(FE16) 200 14,561

Losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment HEWE - MEREENEIE (466) (73)
Compensation fee for the Conversion EVBRERFEESE

of Huali College — (150,849)

Others Hi 861 2,675

1,077 (151,928)

FEBEAFERER A
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B ZE202268A31HILLFE

(=

8

196

B TE 2B UANREXRT)

EXPENSES BY NATURE

8 HEMEIIMMAX
Year ended August 31,
HE8A3MALEE

2022 2021

2022 20214

RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARBT R ARETT

Employee benefit expenses (Note 9) 12 B 4@ A 5 X (fF7E9) 200,063 190,301
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M BERZETE

(Note 15) (MI5E15) 115,298 79,610
Joint tuition support fees (Note a) BB B (Mfika) 61,207 78,441
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TRERENE 36,486 33,041
Property management fee MEEERSB 28,032 28,200
Utilities expenses NARBHX 19,647 21,903
Marketing expenses AR 15,021 21,596
School consumables BROH 7 m 13,567 31,522
Office expenses NN 10,423 10,258
Other taxes E fth 118 10,235 1,207
Travel and entertainment expenses EREEAFRAS 8,825 10,782
Maintenance fees WHES 8,034 3,433
Rental expenses e 7,542 7,582
Amortization of intangible assets (Note 17) EREERE(MHE17) 6,167 4,887
Auditors’ remuneration 1% 25 R B &

— Audit services — ZER 2,690 2,849
Training expenses EII & 2,460 1,094
Consultancy and professional service fees BHRARBEEREE 2,058 3,523
Insurance expenses RE X 1,481 1,370
Student activities expenses BAEFEHHRE 1,156 1,120
Other expenses HiA X 10,338 7,690
Total cost of sales, selling expenses BEHENE  HERXR

and administrative expenses THHAX 560,730 540,409

(a)

Huali College, a group entity entered into an agreement of
cooperation with Guangdong University of Technology, the joint
sponsor of Huali College, under which the Group will pay joint
tuition support fees to Guangdong University of Technology in each
academic year based on 17% of the tuition income from students
covered by the agreement of Huali College. The Group expects that
the agreement will remain enforceable until the completion of the
Transitional Cooperation Agreement of Huali College, which has set
out certain arrangements in relation to the management of Huali
College during the transitional period of the conversion of Huali
College from a private independent college into an independently
established private general undergraduate college in the PRC (the
“Conversion of Huali College”).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B F B 1% R Y &

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BZE202268A31HILFE
(B ZE15HI) B BUAREZRT)

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 9 EERAFEX

Year ended August 31,
BZESH3MALEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARB TR ARETT
Wages, salaries and bonuses TE  #HeMhiEa 168,401 167,631
Contribution to pension plan BRIRE B R 11,314 9,058
Welfare and other expenses &8 A R H A 20,348 13,612
200,063 190,301
(a) Five highest paid individuals (a) EEEREH AL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group FRNAEEFHMESHREE A
for the year include three (2021: three) directors whose emoluments TBEE=ZRQ021F : =&)&E
are reflected in the analysis shown in Note 35(a). The emoluments = HM S KRR35 R
payable to the remaining two (2021: two) individuals during the year DT o F AR R T R (2021
are as follows: FoMB)ATHMESOAT :

Year ended August 31,
BZ8A3MBLLEE

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR¥T R ARETT

Wages, salaries and bonuses IE  -Hraekita 1,130 1,619
Contribution to pension plan RIKE FT &K 20 29
Welfare and other expenses BA R E A 40 103
1,190 1,751

FEBEREERERA A 197
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B ZE202268A31HILLFE

(b= BB HTEEEAARERT)

9

198

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Cont‘d)

(a) Five highest paid individuals (Cont’d)

The emoluments of the highest paid non-director individuals fell

within the following bands:

(a)

9 BEENREX(A)

LEREHAL(A)
SEFMHIEFALOFHNR
ATHE :

Year ended August 31,
B E8A3MBHLEE

2022 2021
20224 20214

Emolument bands & BN 6 &
Nil-HK$ 1,000,000 = % 1,000,000 7T 2 1
HK$1,000,000-HK$2,000,000 1,000,0003% 7T % 2,000,000 7T — 1
2 2

During the years ended August 31, 2022 and 2021, none of the
five highest paid individuals waived or has agreed to waive any
emoluments, and none of the five highest paid individuals received
emoluments from the Group as inducement to join or upon joining

the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

10 FINANCE EXPENSES — NET

HE2022F K202158A31B ILEE
N AAEEHATHERESRRZER
ZEMME  TERRAEBNOHSE
=N IS E T NS E TR E-3: <35 19
BEBE W (E o

10 BF %550 < 5

Year ended August 31,
HE8A3MALEE

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT
Finance income: B A
— Bank interest income — RITFEWA 6,050 8,735
Finance expenses: MBHRAX -
— Interest expenses on bank borrowings — RITERFERAX (102,527) (86,701)
— Interest expenses on other borrowings due — FET R 75 &0 E 5 K
to a related party (Note 33(b)) 7 A2 5 = (Fff 533(b)) (18,290) (10,222)
— Interest expenses on discount of long-term — ¥ BEREENRD
payables for property, plant and equipment FE T R B B BRI FI B
B X (8,454) (787)
Less: Interest expenses capitalized in property, B mE - BEREHEERNE
plant and equipment (Note a) B A8 5 = (M 7(a)) 22,863 35,326
— Interest expenses on discount of compensation — ENETERERHE
payable for the Conversion of Huali College FIERERMRF B X (4,736) (1,159)
(111,144) (63,543)
Net finance expenses WIS R (105,094) (54,808)

(a)

The capitalization rate used to determine the amount of borrowing
costs to be capitalized is the interest rate applicable to the entity’s
borrowings for construction during the year. The capitalization rates
were 4.60% and 4.75% for the years ended August 31, 2022 and

2021 respectively.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BZE202268A31HILFE
(B ZE15HI) B BUAREZRT)

INCOME TAX EXPENSES 11 FIBFHExX

(a) Cayman Islands profits tax (a) BAEEHBEFNE
The Company and its direct subsidiary were incorporated in the AR R EEENBARRAS
Cayman lIslands as exempted companies with limited liability under the HEREREMERRIE(KE
Companies Act (as revised) of the Cayman Islands and accordingly, AR AERREREER
are exempted from income tax. A AR RBMAER -

(b) Hong Kong profits tax (b) EEBREHR
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax was provided as the Group R AR & B R B £20224F %2021
did not have assessable profits in Hong Kong during the years ended F8A3RIEFEAEB B E ik
August 31, 2022 and 2021. FERBFE WAL EREEF

SHATRER -
(c) PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”) (c) PEEC¥MER(THED

The corporate income tax rate applicable to the Group’s entities
located in the Mainland China (the “PRC entities”) is 25% according
to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China
effective on January 1, 2008.

According to the Implementation Rules for the Law for Promoting
Private Education (the “Implementing Rules”), private schools,
whether requiring reasonable returns or not, may enjoy preferential
tax treatment. The Implementing Rules provide that the private
schools for which the sponsors do not require reasonable returns are
eligible to enjoy the same preferential tax treatment as public schools,
and relevant authorities under the State Council may introduce
preferential tax treatments and related policies applicable to private
schools requiring reasonable returns. Despite the fact that no separate
policies, regulations or rules have been introduced by the authorities
during the years ended August 31, 2022 and 2021 and up to date
of this report, based on the historical tax returns filed to the relevant
tax authorities, the colleges within the Group have historically enjoyed

preferential tax treatment since their establishment.

Management considered that no CIT would be imposed by the local
tax bureau on the income from provision of formal educational
services based on the PRC relevant tax regulation. As a result, no
income tax expense was recognized for the income from the provision
of educational services in respect of the PRC Operating Entities during
the period.

EmBBD

1B ¥ 20084F 1 A1 8 # 4 K m( P
ZEAREMBECEMBHIE)
ERBEAMNASEEE(FEH
BERDNCEMSHBAAREA
25% °

RIBFCR B2 B R 5B IR
(TEEEH]) RS RERS
BEREGEER PR ZXHB
BE  -BEREHNRTE  WEHES
REPETEREEER %2
RE]Z B BA Y ERAERSB
B8 - 1 B %5 BT T 8 AR B 6 P 3k
EHTERREREBRHZR
MEBEROHEERERBBEER -
BB B £2022F 202148 A 31
BEFEARBEEAREBHE
Bl S IMEITEUR X RRAR
Bl - EREBXTFHETRBEERK
BARTE  AEEEREKL
IR —BEZZHIFEES -

EEERS R EBEBNE
B AR R T EIIE R
E# B R A 1S WA B 1 2 P
BH - Bl > WL A EZ
EREBIRHHERBHBEAER
FSHAX -
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INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Cont‘d)

(c)

(d)

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”) (Cont’d)

Certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group registered in minority
autonomous regions, the PRC enjoyed preferential CIT rate, of which
the tax rate for XZ Huali is 15% based on the relevant tax regulations
of Tibet Autonomous Region, and the tax rate for Guangdong
Huagin Property Management Co., Ltd, Guangdong Huali Technology
Co., Ltd, Guangdong Huashi Education Support Service Co., Ltd,
Guangdong Shengli Technology Co., Ltd and Guangdong Mairong
Catering Co., Ltd is also 15% based on the relevant tax preferential
policy granted to Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the
foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between
Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. The
Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of earnings
generated in the periods subsequent to January 1, 2008.

United States of America (“USA") corporate income
tax

No provision for USA corporate income tax was provided as the
Group did not have assessable profits in USA during the years ended
August 31, 2022 and 2021.

Analysis of the Group’s income tax expense is as follows:

(c)

(d)

11 FEBBEX(#&E

PEEGERAEHR(HPED
EmEHLD (&)
AEBEETRFRLEHERKES
EAMOE2EMNBARZZ 0
FIBHERTER  Ha - REA
BERRMEEBEER AR
HEUWNREBI15%  RIEILRE
EERGNBEBREERRER
BEREHYVEETEERAA - E
REZREARAR - BREN
HEHDRBEERAR - ERE
HERERABDIRERBRER
BRARMBEINAI5Y% °

RIBCRE AR AMB XS
E) - AR B AR SZ K SN E IR B
rERAIEREESIROREA
B10%W G TEMBE - finf o B
NI ESNEREEREREEE
BETABWIHE - ATERAERIED
EHBRBE - AEEARZER
"R B A 3t X SZ 69 BT B 2 B 722008
FIATBRBEMELERN DK
BV S AT -

ENBRERE([EEHD
EmEH

R A& B R B £2022F %2021
F8A31HIEFEANEER I Ek
BREEHRAE KT EREFED
EMSHEREE -

AEBMBFHRAOMET :

Year ended August 31,
BZESH3MALEE

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB'000 RMB’000

ARE T AREEF T

Current tax on profits for the year (i) F R FE & E B IE) 16,000 19,604
Deferred income tax (ii) i XE FT 15 (i) 236 4,424
Deferred withholding tax (iii) i SE T8 0 (i) 2,924 2,144
19,160 26,172
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Cont’d)

(i)

(iii)

Current tax on profits for the year mainly represents tax
imposed on dormitory management fee earned by Huali
Investment from the PRC Operating Entities, services income
earned by wholly foreign owned subsidiaries of the Group from
the PRC Operating Entities, rental income and joint tuition
income from two universities, and other taxable subsidies.

Deferred income tax represents tax on the revaluation gains of
investment properties, temporary differences on the recognition
of rental income and tax losses carry forwards to the extent
that the realisation of the related benefit through the future
taxable profits is probable.

As at August 31,
RMB2,924,000 were recognized on the temporary differences

2022, deferred income tax liabilities of

arising from the services income earned by wholly foreign
owned subsidiaries of the Company from the PRC Operating
Entities (“WFOE").

As at August 31, 2022 and 2021, deferred income tax liabilities
of RMB167,345,000 and RMB145,815,000 have not been
recognized for the withholding tax that would be payable on
the unremitted earnings amounting to RMB1,968,760,000 and
RMB1,715,473,000 of the PRC Operating Entities, respectively.
Such earnings are expected to be retained by the PRC
Operating Entities for reinvestment purposes and would not be
remitted to the School Sponsor in the foreseeable future based

on management’s estimation of overseas funding requirements.

FEF TS SRR BT o

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

(= B #5855

B E202268A31HILFE
T2 BHUAANREXRT)

11 Fi8BimZ(&

(i)

(if)

(iii)

FAMBENE AV IREERIE
METRENTEHSERR
RENEEERE  A5E
SNEBE M B A R B
EERRRARBRA B
SWARMAARENERE
U A BA % L R R 755 478 B 4K
WEy B IR

BIEFFSHIERRIRENE
s R ES KA
BRMEEZENTE - WE 7
BEEBARRERTIF B

PR IEN = ZIR - Alegt
P RS R RERIEE TS
MEE -
M202248H318 * A

A R K I B A B A Al
((HhEBELE]) KhEH
EERBRIMNREBAE
A B SRR AP
BHAEAR2924,000
=

72022 F K% 2021 & 8 A 31
H AR EEEERSE
2 Bl A A R %1,968,760,000
Tt X AR #1,715,473,0007C
B SR BE 8] 2 78 2 T TEH
MERELEFRBHAEA
R #167,345,0007T &k A R
145,815,0007T ° iRIEEEE
HBINESFROMEET - A
BN ERETHEEEE
REBNBERE EAURH
R ZE R 2R R PEE o
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INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Cont‘d)

11 FEBBEX(E&E)

The taxation on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the

theoretical amount that would arise using the taxation rate of PRC,

the principal place of the Group’s operations, as follows:

7N 5 8] P 15 754 A1 A B A A 2R £

B (REEE

EREME) T

RHEHBHEBEENTER

Year ended August 31,
BZESH3MALEE

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T ARETF T
Profit before income tax Fr 15 Bt A R @ 278,944 169,631
Calculated at applicable corporate RERCEMGHEFTE
income tax rate 69,474 45,679
Exemption of corporate income tax REZBREHE RBIMAR R
for income from formal educational Frig 5
services (54,663) (20,520)
Previously unrecognized tax losses now 5B K i TR 9 A% I8 S 18 3R B
recouped to reduce current income tax Weml BAR & BR P15 AR (5) (1,907)
Tax losses for which no deferred income RERBRLEMSHEER
tax asset was recognized TIEE B 1,430 776
PRC corporate income tax RS 16,236 24,028
PRC withholding income tax P EFEH RS 2,924 2,144
19,160 26,172

Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income

REAM G S WS RN SR

Year ended August 31,
BZESH3MBALEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TR ARETT
Deferred tax: Revaluation gains BERIE  REMEEHRE
of investment properties 178 803
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BZE202268A31HILFE
(B ZE15HI) B BUAREZRT)

12 EARNINGS PER SHARE 12 BREF
(a) Basic (a) EF
The basic earnings per share is calculated on the profit attributable to f% B R & F| 3% B = 2022 F &
owners of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary 20218 A3NA L FEA RN A
shares in issue during the years ended August 31, 2022 and 2021. BEAEMEFEGRADETEER

AT 4 BT o

Year ended August 31,
B E8A3MBHLEE

2022 2021
2022 20214
Profit attributable to owners of the Company AN BB ARG FE
(RMB’000) (AR®FT) 259,784 143,459
Weighted average number of ordinary shares BT BRME T
in issue (thousand shares) (1) 1,200,000 1,200,000
Basic earnings per share (expressed in RMB) BREARRET
(MARKEITERT) 0.216 0.120
(b) Diluted (b) #%F
Diluted earnings per share presented is the same as the basic earnings Fr23ERk#EafngiRE
per share as there were no potentially dilutive ordinary shares issued AAMER @ REZRE E2022
during the years ended August 31, 2022 and 2021. FR2021F8A3MB L FE R

BERTEEHETAR -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E202268A31HILLFE
(b= BB HTEEEAARERT)

13 DIVIDENDS 13 BB

Year ended August 31,
BZESH3MALEE

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB TR ARETT
Final dividend, declared and paid, of RMB0.0409 BEEIR & R E R
(2021: RMBO0.0626) per ordinary share (Note(a)) AR#0.04097CHY R HARL B
(20214 : AR%0.06267T)
(FfEE(@) 49,108 75,120
Special dividend, proposed and declared, of nil BEEIREZNEREBREITH
(2021: RMBO0.0518) per ordinary share (Note(b)) RIS (20214 :
AR¥0.05187) (Fd=E(b)) — 62,160
Total dividends provided for or paid EEHREBE SRR S AR 49,108 137,280

During the year ended August 31, 2022, dividends were distributed out of
the Company'’s share premium and were paid in cash (2021: same).

(@ A final dividend for the year ended August 31, 2021 of HK$0.0502
(equivalent to RMB0.0409) per ordinary share, totaling approximately
HK$60,240,000 (equivalent to RMB49,108,000) has been declared in
the Company’s Annual General Meeting on January 21, 2022 and
paid during the year ended August 31, 2022.

A final dividend for the year ended August 31, 2020 of RMB0.0626
per ordinary share, totaling approximately RMB75,120,000 has been
declared in the Company’s Annual General Meeting on January 20,
2021 and paid during the year ended August 31, 2021.

204 China Vocational Education Holdings Limited
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E202268A31HILFE

(= HIEHI  HTEELELARERT)

13 DIVIDENDS (Cont’'d) 13

(b)

A special dividend for the year ended August 31, 2021 of RMB0.0518
per ordinary share, totaling approximately RMB62,160,000 has been
declared by the Board on July 21, 2021 and paid during the year
ended August 31, 2022.

Dividends not recognized at the end of the reporting years

RE (&)

(b)

HZE2021F8A31HLFE -

I AREE0.0518TT (A HL
AR #62,160,0007T ) # 45 Bl % £
CHESEN2021F7A218E
Ik W HR20226F8A31BILLFE
AZ AT o

AR5 R FE R il R T AR O AR B

Year ended August 31,
BZESH3MALEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMWT T ARBTTT

Proposed final dividend of nil EERAREEREERE T
(2021: RMB0.0411) per ordinary share (20214 : AR#0.04117T) — 49,320

In respect of the year ended August 31, 2022, no dividend is to be

proposed at the annual general meeting to be held on January 13,
2023.

A E2022F8A3THIEFEEM
T OBEREHN2023F 1813
ARTHBRRBFASTLRE -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E202268A31HILLFE
(b= BB HTEEEAARERT)

14 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

14

The Group's interests in right-of-use assets represent consideration paid or

payable for obtaining the use rights of the land located in the PRC and

which were held on leases from 29 to 50 years.

EREEE

7458 0 0 PR A 4 2 1 R A 5 10
B A A F29E504 2 + b0 {5
AT T

206

Right-of-use
assets
EREEE
RMB’000
AR¥BT R
Year ended August 31, 2022 B E2022568A31MBLEE
Opening net book amount YR EFE 1,438,565
Transfer to investment properties (Note a) LN =g/ EAQET)) (704)
Depreciation charge WEER (43,772)
Closing net book amount HRREFE 1,394,089
Year ended August 31, 2021 B ZE2021548A31B LFE
Opening net book amount YR EFE 1,060,506
Transfer to investment properties EBAKREME (6,675)
Additions (Note b) ANE (M FEb) 425,330
Depreciation charge WEEHR (40,596)
Closing net book amount HREREFE 1,438,565

(a)

During the year ended August 31, 2022, certain areas of the
properties with carrying amount of RMB2,554,000 (2021:
RMB19,953,000) (Note 15), together with corresponding right-of-use
assets with carrying amount of RMB704,000 (2021: RMB6,675,000),
were leased to tenants as stores with leases terms ranging from 3.75
years to 5 years. Therefore, these properties and corresponding right-
of-use assets were transferred to investment properties. Revaluation
surplus amounting to RMB712,000 (2021: RMB3,211,000) was
recognized as other comprehensive income on the date transferred
(Note 16).

During the year ended August 31, 2021, the Group acquired three
right-of-use assets at a total consideration of RMB425,330,000 for the
construction of a new school campus in Jiangmen City, Guangdong
Province.
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(a) B E202248A31HIEFER -
8k E (B B A R ¥ 2,554,000 7T H
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A AR ET704,0007T (20214 A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

YA ans = =
& OF B 7 2k Y 5

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BZE202268A31HILFE
(B ZE15HI) B BUAREZRT)

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15 M¥E HERSZE

Electronic Furniture Interior  Construction
Buildings  equipment and fixtures Vehicles  decoration in progress Total
BT ET%E HGAREE RE EREE ERIR @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETn AR%Tn AR¥Tn AR%Tn ARETn ARET:R
Year ended August 31, 2022 HZ20258A31ALEE
Opening net book amount HREFE 2,513,981 98,717 50,338 5,842 106,689 933,343 3,708,910
Additions NE — 40,603 47,632 2,058 - 471,796 562,089
Transfer from completed RERTREZBEER

construction projects 447,725 — - - 7,502 (455,227) —
Transfer to investment properties & A% &9 % ([ff316)

(Note 16) (2,554) - - - - - (2,554)
Disposals e - (447) - (66) - — (513)
Depreciation charge HEER (57,981) (20,105) (9,090) (991) (27,131) - (115,298)
Closing net book amount BAEEEE 2,901,171 118,768 88,880 6,843 87,060 949,912 4,152,634
As at August 31, 2022 202258 A318
Cost KA 3,265,106 258,953 151,147 14,170 160,020 949,912 4,799,308
Accumulated depreciation ZHTE (363,935) (140,185) (62,267) (7,327) (72,960) — (646,674)
Net book amount EEFE 2,901,171 118,768 88,880 6,843 87,060 949,912 4,152,634
Year ended August 31, 2021 HZ202158R31ALFE
Opening net book amount HOGEEEE 1,676,383 73,746 34,237 5,866 25,093 989,760 2,805,085
Additions NE = 41,104 20,888 1,080 — 940,502 1,003,574
Transfer from completed RERTIREREEER

construction projects 899,724 — 1,755 — 95,440 (996,919) —
Transfer to investment properties & AR & ¥1% (H 5 16)

(Note 16) (19,953) — — — — — (19,953)
Disposals e - — — (186) = = (186)
Depreciation charge HEER (42,173) (16,133) (6,542) (918) (13,844) = (79,610)
Closing net book amount WAEETE 2,513,981 98,717 50,338 5,842 106,689 933,343 3,708,910
As at August 31, 2021 #2021%8A318
Cost KA 2,819,978 227,283 103,515 12,419 152,518 933,343 4,249,056
Accumulated depreciation 2:IE (305,997 (128,566) (53,177) (6,577) (45,829) = (540,146)
Net book amount EEFE 2,513,981 98,717 50,338 5,842 106,689 933,343 3,708,910
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AN Gn /g =3

& 0F B 15 R R BT A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E202268A31HILLFE
(b= BB HTEEEAARERT)

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont‘d) 15 V¥ BMERRE(E
Depreciation charges were included in the following categories in the WEBERTAAHGEAKRERNATE
consolidated statements of comprehensive income: Bl

Year ended August 31,
BZESH3MALEE

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR¥T R ARBTTT

Cost of sales $HE R 110,372 74,724
Administrative expenses TR 4,921 4,880
Selling expenses HERX 5 6
115,298 79,610
Construction-in-progress mainly comprises school buildings under EREIRFZEFENHEERERNE

construction in the PRC for expansion projects. ERE -

During the year ended August 31, 2022, the Group has capitalised HZE2022F8A31HLEFER A% H
borrowing costs amounting to RMB17,129,000 (2021: RMB34,539,000) EAYE BERZENEREBER
and interest expenses on discount of long-term payables amounting to AR = AR 17,129,000 7T (2021 5 -
RMB5,734,000 (2021: RMB787,000) on property, plant and equipment. A R #34,539,0007T ) & & B FE < 5K 18

" E B3R A B 2 AR #5,734,000 7T
(20214 : AR ®787,0007T) °

16 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16 REWE
As at August 31,
MA8H31H
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T R ARKETT
At fair value BRAYE
Opening net book amount HAREERE 179,400 135,000
Transfer from property, plant and equipment B - BEKEREER (HF15)

(Note 15) 2,554 19,953
Transfer from right-of-use assets (Note 14) HEAEEEER (H14) 704 6,675
Revaluation gains recognized as other R AHMIR S WS

comprehensive income (Note 14(a)) shEkE (MFE14@) 712 3,211
Revaluation gains recognized as other gains T R /% L M W aR O S5 £ W 2w

(Note 7) (FIEE7) 200 14,561
Closing net book amount Hi R BRERE 183,570 179,400
Unrealized gains for the year included in profit or  FERIFAEE ABTZH

loss for assets held at the end of the year, FRRER - FIA

under ‘other gains/(losses) — net’ [H iz, (E8) JFHE] 200 14,561
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

16 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont'd)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Investment properties of the Group comprised land and buildings for
a primary school and ancillary facilities which were leased to a related
party with rental income as disclosed in Note 33(b), and certain areas
of the properties for stores which were leased to third parties with
rental income of RMB3,342,000 during the year ended August 31,
2022.

Fair value hierarchy

As at August 31, 2022 and 2021, an independent valuation of the
Group's investment properties was performed by an independent
professional qualified valuer to determine the fair values of the
investment properties.

As at August 31, 2022 and 2021, all of the Group’s investment
properties were within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as the
valuations were arrived at by reference to certain significant
unobservable inputs. There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and
3 during the years ended August 31, 2022 and 2021.

Valuation processes of the Group
The Group’s investment properties were valued as at August 31, 2022
and 2021 by an independent qualified valuer.

A team from the Group’s finance department reviews the valuations
performed by the independent valuer for financial reporting purposes.
This team reports directly to the head of finance team. Discussions
of valuation processes and results are held between the finance team
and valuer at least once a year.

Valuation techniques

Investment properties in use: income approach which takes
into account the current rents of the property interests and the
reversionary potentials of the tenancies, term yield and reversionary
yield, to derive at the market value.

AN

A G B 15 SRR BT &

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E202268A31HILFE

(= HIEHI  HTEELELARERT)

16 REWME (&)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

AEBEEMERTE BN
T REFHEEEREE M
F—ZEHT  HeWRARKE
3BLEE)  UEBEEENS
TERYE(BELETFE=F ' &
F202268A31BEFEENESE
WA B AR%3,342,0000T) °

AEEER
20224 % 202148 A31H » —
EBEIBXESCERGEEMBAE
EREMEETEYIGE  UE
EREMENATFE -

MR2022F K 20218 A31H @ &
REBEDZ2EETERTTER
BABBSE  WMASEMRAER
EMELNBATEERANE=
& o B 22022 4F 202148 A31
BIEFEAR  F—HK FME
FoRMEWEER -

rEEBHBERF

720224 202148 A31H » &
EEREAMER —BBEILEER
fHERMEE -

REBE S ERPIR B X ER B L
HERAETHSE  ETH
T ER 3R o 7% B B B % A B 7% B
BEAHS - MBEEK K& EMD
BEELET - RBEEENE
R

CREE 30
ERRAEME Wk 5 RY
ERBENEBHAERETHOM
AR - AR AU R R R
HEGE TS EE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AN Gn /g =3
& 0F B 15 R R BT A
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E202268A31HILLFE
(b= BB HTEEEAARERT)

16 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont'd)

210

(e)

Information about fair value measurements using significant

unobservable inputs (level 3):

16 REWMHE(E)
(e) KEEAFAERHAIENA
FEHBER(E=R)

Relationship of

unobservable
Fair value at  Valuation Unobservable Unobservable inputs to fair
Property category Description August 31, 2022 techniques inputs inputs  value
R2022F8H 318 FABR FABE TUBEBRARER
WERY 59 WATE  HEHE BARS BARE  ATENBE
Completed investment Primary School and RMB135,100,000  Income approach  Market rents (RMB/ 2114 The higher the
properties ancillary facilities sg.m./month) market rents, the
higher the fair value
BRIRANE NERRERME ARE K@% miEie 2114 TEHeHs
135,100,000 Tt (AR#T/ NTESE
THR/R)
Completed investment Stores RMB48,470,000  Income approach ~ Market rents (RMB/ 26.50-36.50  The higher the
properties sg.m./month) market rents, the
higher the fair value
BRIRENZE ] AR%  WEE ik ik 2650-36.50 THESHE
48,470,000 7T (AR#T/ AFERR
Thx/R)
Relationship of
unobservable
Fair value at  Valuation Unobservable Unobservable inputs to fair
Property category Description August 31, 2021  techniques inputs inputs  value
R202158A318 FABE TIEE TUBRERANER
MEER EiLi NAYE  fhERH BAYE BAME AYENEE
Completed investment Primary School and RMB135,000,000  Income approach ~ Market rents (RMB/ 20.72  The higher the
properties ancillary facilities sg.m./month) market rents, the
higher the fair value
BRIRENE NEREERH ARE  WiEk Mg 2072 TWHEHESHE -
135,000,000 ¢ (ARETT/ ATEER
ThHR/R)
Completed investment Stores RMB44,400,000  Income approach ~ Market rents (RMB/ 33.80-35.50  The higher the
properties sg.m./month) market rents, the
higher the fair value
BRIRENE i3] ARE K& fiik7iikA 33.80-35.50 MHESHE
44,400,000 7T (ARETT/ ATEER
Thx/R)

China Vocational Education Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report



17

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

It B 75 R R N A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E202268A31HILFE

(= HIEHI  HTEELELARERT)

17 BEFREE

Computer
software
BB G
RMB’000
ARBT R
Year ended August 31, 2022 BE2022548A31BLEE
Opening net book amount YRR FE 21,609
Additions NE 3,974
Amortization charge BEER (6,167)
Closing net book amount HREREFE 19,416
As at August 31, 2022 7202268 H31H
Cost AR 40,382
Accumulated amortization ESiE 3 (20,966)
Net book amount IR EFE 19,416
Year ended August 31, 2021 B Z2021548A31B LFE
Opening net book amount B AR DS E 12,404
Additions NE 14,092
Amortization charge HEBR (4,887)
Closing net book amount B R BR S B 21,609
As at August 31, 2021 7"2021$8H31H
Cost B AR 36,408
Accumulated amortization EE 3 (14,799)
Net book amount BE DB 21,609
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AN Gn /g =3

& 0F B 15 R R BT A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E202268A31HILLFE
(b= BB HTEEEAARERT)

17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Cont’d) 17 BEREE (&)
Amortization expenses were included in the following categories in the HBEE T ASHEEWEROUTE
consolidated statements of comprehensive income: Bl

Year ended August 31,
BZESH3MALEE

2022 2021

2022%F 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR ARETT

Cost of sales SHER A 5,345 4,202
Administrative expenses TR 822 685
6,167 4,887

18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

18 REHEIWEWMTA

As at August 31,

MA8H31H

2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBT R ARETT

Financial assets at amortized cost REBSRREARNERMEE
Amounts due from related parties JE Ui [ st 5 5K 1B 10,999 25,900
Trade and other receivables B 5 I H h FE WK IE 28,712 16,526
Other financial assets at amortized cost REBKAAERNEMEREE — 6,450
Restricted cash IR EIER & 1,443 12,246
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY 803,845 880,752
844,999 941,874

Financial liabilities at amortized cost REBSRAARNEMER
Borrowings &3 2,449,419 2,320,385
Amounts due to related parties FE < A st 5 5k 1B 60,648 96,279

Accruals and other payables &=t B A & E b FE £ 5K IE

(excluding non-financial liabilities) (TEaiEEeRAaE) 482,576 580,446
2,992,643 2,997,110
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

YA ans +H =3
& OF B 7 2k Y 5

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BZE202268A31HILFE
(B ZE15HI) B BUAREZRT)

19 PREPAYMENTS 19 FENRIE
As at August 31,
R8A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARKETTT

Prepayments for purchase and construction BERERWE BWERR
of property, plant and equipment and HEEENTRMNIIR
intangible assets 67,865 37,387
Others Hib 5,856 1,482
73,721 38,869
Less: non-current portion of prepayments B TR FERIEE SIS (67,865) (37,387)
5,856 1,482
20 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20 EZ R HAEWRIEA
As at August 31,
A8H31H
2022 2021
2022F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T T ARETTT
Trade receivables 2 5 FE WK IE
— Tuition fees receivables from students — EREBENEE 12,951 3,677
— Boarding fees receivables from students — EREBENTEE 172 129
— Government subsidies receivables granted to — ERETEENEE
students for tuition fees deduction B BT 4 G — 3,792
13,123 7,598
Other receivables H b & Y 5 IR
— Utilities receivables from campus logistics — KR EZE RS
service providers REEHAAEERX 4,672 2,387
— Tuition fees receivables from financial — ERERmEENES
institution 3,939 1,045
— Deposits — ®& 2,400 2,400
— Receivables for rental income — ERAES KA 2,085 326
— Interest receivables — EIF B — 204
— Others — H 2,493 2,566
15,589 8,928
28,712 16,526
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AN Gn /g =3

& 0F B 15 R R BT A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E202268A31HILLFE
(b= BB HTEEEAARERT)

20 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

As at August 31, 2022 and 2021, the aging analysis of the trade receivables
based on the recognition date is as follows:

20 E5 K E bR WRRIE (4F)

R20224F K%202148A31H » B 5 EW
FBENERBHRNERRESTOT

As at August 31,

MN8H31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMWT T ARBTTT

Less than 1 year DR E 11,645 7,132
1 to 2 years 1224 1,478 466
13,123 7,598

Other than other receivables of RMB310,000 as at August 31, 2021 which
were denominated in US$, all other trade and other receivables of the
Group were denominated in RMB as at August 31, 2022 and 2021.

As at August 31, 2022 and 2021, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk was the carrying value of each class of trade and other receivables
mentioned above. The Group does not hold any other collateral as security.

Management has closely monitored the credit qualities and the collectability
of these receivables and considers that the expected credit risks of them
are minimal in view of the history of cooperation with them and forward
looking information. The loss allowance provision for these balances was not
material and no provision was recorded during the years ended August 31,
2022 and 2021.

As at August 31, 2022 and 2021, the fair values of trade and other
receivables approximate their carrying amounts.
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B 7202148 A31 8 A K #310,0007C
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fth B 5 I L FE U GRIEIA A REEGHE -

720224 2021468 A31H - A& E
HEBENRREERRREEZBES R
H Al fE Y 5ROR 2 BRI {E © AR 6 B30 M 45
BEMEMERRIERSER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B F B 1% R Y &

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

21 RESTRICTED CASH

B E202268A31HILFE

(= HIEHI  HTEELELARERT)

ERERE
As at August 31,
M8HA31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARMT T ARKETTT

Restricted cash SR HIIR &

1,443 12,246

Restricted cash of the Group are denominated in the following currencies:

AEBNZREBSIATIEEE :

As at August 31,

R8A31H
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTTT

RMB AR — 11,205
HK$ BIT 1,443 1,041
1,443 12,246

The Group's restricted cash was denominated in HK$. As at August 31,
2022, balance of HK$1,644,000 (equivalent to RMB1,443,000) (2021:
HK$1,253,000 (equivalent to RMB1,041,000)) was restricted for sole usage
of interest settlement relating to the bank borrowing of HK$135,000,000
(equivalent to RMB118,514,000) (2021: HK$150,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB124,605,000)).

On May 24, 2020, a group entity was accused by an independent third
party, who claimed itself to be a tenant of the properties on the land in
Jiangmen City acquired by the Group in January 2019, for a compensation
of RMB11,205,000 for the damage of its properties caused by the Group
during the process of clearing the land. According to the order from the
court, the Group’s bank deposits of RMB11,205,000 have been frozen as a
guarantee of execution of potential claim in respect of the case. On August
20, 2021, the court made the final trial to dismiss the claim and such
restricted cash therefore subsequently released on November 2, 2021.

AEBIRFINBESUBTHE B
20224 8 A31H - 4 #1,644,000/8 T
(8 & W A R ¥ 1,443,000 jT) (2021
F 11,253,000 8 T(HHERARK
1,041,000 7)) 12 BR & A &£ A 8 4R 17
f& 3 135,000,000 T E AR FI B & &
(#8 8 W A R # 118,514,000 7T ) (2021
£ 1 150,000,000 7 7T (48 & A A R %
124,605,0007T) ) °

2020 5H248 - —HEEEEBWE
NE=ZFER REZFBBEAAE
E 7020194 1 A Y BE 9T P 1 4 b £ Bf
ENAE  RASEEZEEZLHIBRR
FEK B EBRRE AR11,205,000
TC e RBER SR AEERITERA
R #11,205,00070 B 3R 4 A 1T B 7%
REBETERBOER - R2021F8A
208 - EREHKERLEZERE %2
XMRIEE A EER2021F11H2B %
BRRR o
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AN Gn /g =3

& 0F B 15 R R BT A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E202268A31HILLFE
(b= BB HTEEEAARERT)

22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 22 ReRBESEEY
As at August 31,
M8H31H
2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®B T AR®EF T
Cash at banks RITTF X 772,720 856,218
Cash on hand EFRE 117 51
Cash at non-bank financial institutions RIEBITERBENR S 31,008 24,483
803,845 880,752
Cash and cash equivalents of the Group are denominated in the following AEENRERBEEFEMATINEE
currencies: FT1E :

As at August 31,

MW8HA31H
2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR® TR AR T T
RMB AR 796,802 856,847
HK$ T 6,750 22,623
uss$ ETT 293 1,282
803,845 880,752
(@  The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies (@) ARBAEL£#HRBLEAINERA
and the remittance of such foreign currencies denominated bank B Z SN E BRI
balances and cash out of the PRC are subject to relevant rules and B RIS BESHREFEMG
regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC Z B FASNEE S48 B R IR O o
government.
(b)  As at August 31, 2022 and 2021, the Group's maximum exposure to (b) 20224 K2021F8H31H » K
credit risk was the carrying value of cash at banks and cash at non- SEFFEBRONSAEERR A L
bank financial institutions mentioned above. MRITERRRNIERITE RS

MR e ZREE -
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YA ans = =
& OF B 7 2k Y 5
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BZE202268A31HILFE
(B ZE15HI) B BUAREZRT)

23 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

23 BARKHEE

Nominal
Number of value of
ordinary ordinary
shares shares
EEREE ZEREE
us$
EYI
At August 31, 2022 and 2021 R20224 K 202148 HA31H
— US$0.0001 each — SR M E0.0001%E T 2,000,000,000 200,000
Equivalent
Nominal nominal
Number of value of value of
ordinary ordinary ordinary Share
Issued: [E: E shares shares shares premium
ZER
TEREE EEBEREE ZREE B 17 % 8
us$ RMB’000 RMB’000
En AR®BTR AR®BTR
As at August 31, 2021 R2021F8A31H 1,200,000,000 120,000 820 651,476
Dividends (Note 13) iR 2 (FFEE13) = = = (49,108)
As at August 31, 2022 7K2022F8H31H 1,200,000,000 120,000 820 602,368
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E202268A31HILLFE
(b= BB HTEEEAARERT)

24 RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS

(a) Statutory surplus reserves
Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the

218

Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC should make appropriations

from after-tax profit to certain non-distributable reserve funds as

determined by the boards of directors of the relevant PRC subsidiaries.

These reserves include (i) statutory reserve fund of the limited liability

companies, (ii) general reserve funds of foreign invested enterprise

and (jii) development funds for the schools.

(@)

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC
and Articles of Association of the companies incorporated in
the PRC now comprising the Group (the “PRC Subsidiaries”),
the PRC Subsidiaries are required to appropriate 10% of the
annual statutory net profits, after offsetting any prior years’
losses as determined under the PRC accounting standards, to
the statutory reserves fund before distributing the net profit.
When the balance of the statutory reserves fund reaches 50%
of the registered capital of the PRC Subsidiaries, any further
appropriation is at the discretion of shareholders. The statutory
reserves fund can be used to offset prior years’ losses, if any,
and may be converted into share capital by issuing new shares
to shareholders in proportion to their existing shareholding,
provided that the remaining balance of the statutory reserves
fund after such issue is not less than 25% of registered capital.

Pursuant to the laws applicable to China’s Foreign Investment
Enterprises, the Company’s subsidiary that is foreign investment
enterprise in China has to make appropriations from its after-
tax profit (as determined under the PRC accounting standards)
to reserve funds including (i) general reserve fund, (i) enterprise
expansion fund and (iii) staff bonus and welfare fund. The
appropriation to the general reserve fund must be at least
10% of the after tax profits calculated in accordance with the
PRC accounting standards. Appropriation is not required if the
reserve fund has reached 50% of the registered capital of the
company. Appropriations to the other two reserve funds are at

the discretion of the company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

24 RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS (Cont‘d)

(a) Statutory surplus reserves (Cont’d)

(iii)  According to the relevant PRC laws and regulations, private
schools are required to appropriate to a development fund of
not less than 25% of the net profit or the annual increase of
net assets of the relevant schools as determined in accordance
with the PRC accounting standards. The development fund
is for the construction or maintenance of the school or
procurement or upgrading of educational equipment and not
available for distribution to shareholders. Upon incurring the
corresponding expenditure, an equivalent amount is transferred
from development fund to retained earnings.

(b) Other reserves as at August 31, 2022 and 2021 mainly represented

(9]

(i) the combined paid-in capital and capital reserves of the PRC
Operating Entities and the student accommodation service of Huali
Investment transferred to the Group during the reorganization;
(ii) the carrying value of certain land use rights, buildings, and
properties related to the tuition services and student accommodation
services that were in possession and used by the Group and
deemed contributed by the Owner during the reorganization; and
(iii) revaluation gains arising from the transfer of property, plant
and equipment and corresponding right-of-use assets to investment

properties during the year ended August 31, 2022.

In accordance with the principal regulations governing private
education in China, a private school that does not require reasonable
returns cannot distribute dividends to its sponsors. As Huali College,
Huali Vocational College and Huali Technician College had elected
to not require reasonable returns, the retained earnings of the
PRC Operating Entities amounting to RMB1,968,760,000 and
RMB1,715,473,000 as at August 31, 2022 and 2021,
were not distributable to its legal owner.

respectively,

FEF TS SRR BT o

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
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B TE 2B UANREXRT)

SUBSIDIARIES

The Group's principal subsidiaries at August 31, 2022 are set out below.
Unless otherwise stated, they have share capital consisting solely of ordinary
shares that are held directly by the Group, and the proportion of ownership
interests held equals the voting rights held by the Group. The country of
incorporation or registration is also their principal place of business.

25 B A
AEBR2022F8A3MEBHEEHB A
RIFHNMT -BRBEFHAIN  BEQF
MIRAERASEEEEFEN T BRA
K BENMEEEZLIIERAEE
BHERRRE - MR HELHNER
MERENEBE XD -

Attributable equity
interest of the Group

AEEEGRE
Place of Principal activities Particulars of As at August 31,
incorporation and  and place of issued share M8A31H
Name of entity kind of legal entity operation capital 2022 2021
A 8 BRI it 2 TEEKR
EEEE REGERER BEHE ERTREARE 20224 20214
Directly held by the Company:
ADAEERA
Huali Investment Holding Limited Cayman Islands, Investment holding
limited liability in Cayman Islands US$50,000 100% 100%
Huali Investment Holding Limited He#HS FRAEME HEHEREZER 50,000% 7T 100% 100%
Indirectly held by the Company:
ADNAIEERA
Huali (HK) Education Investment Limited Hong Kong, limited Investment holding
liability in Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%
BREUHEREERAA EE AREME EBREZR 10,0005 7T 100% 100%
Guangzhou Huali Shengrong Education PRC, limited liability  Investment holding
Technology Company Limited in the PRC RMB300,000,000 100% 100%
BEMNE B RH AR AR A A RE - AREME REREER A R #300,000,0007T 100% 100%
XZ Huali PRC, limited liability ~ Investment holding
in the PRC RMB100,000,000 100% 100%
POREL TECBRERE FEERE 2R A K #100,000,0007T 100% 100%
USA Huali Educational Services LLC USA, limited liability ~ College in the USA US$50,000 100% 100%
USA Huali Educational Services LLC XE BEREME e 50,0003 7T 100% 100%
Haikou Huashi Investment Company Limited  PRC, limited liability ~ Investment holding
in the PRC RMB100,000,000 100% 100%
BAMERMRERRRA RECBRERE FEEREZR A K #100,000,0007T 100% 100%
Guangzhou Huashi Technology PRC, limited liability  Investment holding
Company Limited in the PRC RMB 1,000,000 100% 100%
EMNERRR AR RECARER FE &R E 2R AR #1,000,0007T 100% 100%
Guangzhou Shigeshijie Motor Vehicle Driver ~ PRC, limited liability ~ Motor vehicle driver
Training School Company Limited trainning school
in the PRC RMB5,000,000 100% 100%
BB A% S =R BIRIRR hE - BREE TEHEBERRE
AR AR AR %5,000,0007 100% 100%

China Vocational Education Holdings Limited
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BZE202268A31HILFE
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25 SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d) 25 B AR (&)

Attributable equity

interest of the Group

AEBEMGKRE
Place of Principal activities Particulars of As at August 31,
incorporation and  and place of issued share MN8A31H
Name of entity kind of legal entity operation capital 2022 2021
o M A 4t B TEEKR
EEEH REGEEER R ERITRAFHE 2022 20214F
Guangdong Huaqin Property Management  PRC, limited liability ~ Property management
Company Limited service in the PRC RMB10,000,000 100% 100%
EREGNEXEBERANA RECBRAER FEYEEEBRY AKK10,000,0007T 100% 100%
Guangdong Huali Technology PRC, limited liability ~ Education support
Company Limited service RMB5,000,000 100% 100%
BREZHBRARAF TECBRERE HEH RS AR #5,000,0007T 100% 100%
Guangdong Huashi Education Support PRC, limited liability ~ Education support
Service Company Limited service RMB5,000,000 100% 100%
EREMHEBERBEAERDA RECBRAER HEH RS AR #5,000,0007T 100% 100%
Guangdong Shengli Technology PRC, limited liability ~ Education support
Company Limited service RMB5,000,000 100% 100%
BREZHRAERAR TECBRERE HEH RS AR #5,000,0007T 100% 100%
Hainan Huashi Investment Company Limited  PRC, limited liability ~ Investment holding
in the PRC RMB100,000,000 100% 100%
BREEMREBRAR RECBRAER F &R B 2R A R #100,000,0007T 100% 100%
Jiangmen Huali Shengrong Education PRC, limited liability  Investment holding
Technology Company Limited in the PRC RMB350,000,000 100% 100%
TP E R RSB R AR A TECBRERE FEEKE 2R A R #350,000,0007T 100% 100%
Guangdong Zhipei Human Resource Services PRC, limited liability =~ Human resource
Company Limited service RMB5,000,000 100% =
BRBIEANERRBEARLDA RECBRAR AN B RIRH AR #5,000,0007T 100% =
Guangdong Mairong Catering PRC, limited liability ~ Education support
Company limited service RMB5,000,000 100% —
ERERERERDA HEBRER HBEHH RS AR #5,000,0007T 100% =
Treated as subsidiaries under the Contractual Arrangements:
BEENZHEERMNBAR
Huali College PRC, private College in the PRC
independent college RMB 10,000,000 100% 100%
EvA= hEC RIBYSR PESR A K #10,000,0007T 100% 100%
Huali Vocational College PRC, formal higher College in the PRC
education institution RMB10,000,000 100% 100%
EUBFSMR HE2RRE HEIZk
HERE AR #10,000,0007T 100% 100%
REBEREERERA R 221
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SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

25 MELA(AE)

Attributable equity
interest of the Group

AEBEMGKRE
Place of Principal activities Particulars of As at August 31,
incorporation and  and place of issued share MN8A31H
Name of entity kind of legal entity operation capital 2022 2021
o M A S 4t B TEXBR
EEER REGEEER RewH ERITREFHE 2022 20214
Huali Technician College PRC, private tertiary  College in the PRC
vocational school RMB500,000 100% 100%
EV RSk FECRRES F i 2
BEER AR #500,0007T 100% 100%
Huali Investment PRC, limited liability ~ School Sponsor
in the PRC RMB400,004,000 100% 100%
EVRE REARER FEEREHA  ARK400,004,0007T 100% 100%
Guangdong Huashi Education Technology PRC, limited liability  Investment holding
Investment Company Limited RMB200,000,000 99.999% 99.999%
ERERHENRREBRAA RECBRERE A R #200,000,0007T 99.999% 99.999%

Note (i): The entities shown above do not have official English names and their Chinese
names have been translated into English, for reference only, by the Directors on a

best effort basis.

Significant restrictions

Cash and short-term deposits held in the PRC are subject to local exchange
control regulations. These regulations provide for restrictions on exporting

capital from those countries, other than through normal dividends.

The carrying amount of the assets included within the consolidated financial
statements to which these restrictions apply is RMB757,339,000 as at

August 31, 2022 (2021: RMB734,939,000).

China Vocational Education Holdings Limited
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26 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES AND

FEF TS SRR BT o

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES

B E202268A31HILFE

(= HIEHI  HTEELELARERT)

26 EErEAREMENRE

LUK FEAS BB B 5 7R IR

As at August 31,

A8H31H
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T ARETTT
Payable for construction and purchase of B &ﬁﬁ,\ EMEEER

non-current assets J& 1~ SR T 224,472 228,008
Compensation payable for the Conversion of E&E\Hii f%nﬁii} S #8518

Huali College 103,404 152,008
Payable for joint tuition support fees (Note (a)) & 12 B e 3 IE (M &) 61,207 78,441
Government subsidies payable to students JE 1~ 22 A /O AT #e8 B 31,740 17,792
Miscellaneous fee received from students B W2 A o3k & (M 5E(b)

(Note (b)) 24,623 20,714
Payable for property management service V) 3B IR AR 1% IE N R IE 16,540 7,916
Employee benefits payable FERTHE B R 7 13,067 12,448
Interest payable J& 1~ 1 & 7,654 4,978
Network and telecommunication fee payable FET A8 4% B & A 3,528 3,280
Other taxes payable H b & B I8 2,472 1,664
Payable for canteen suppliers R =M ER 2,260 —
Auditor’s remuneration payable JE 5% i SR B 2 2,138 1,620
Dividend payables FE AR 2 — 62,160
Others Efth 5,010 3,529

498,115 594,558
Less: non-current portion VEAE - )
Payable for construction of non-current assets BRIIERBEEEREN KA (133,005) (118,701)
Compensation payable for the Conversion of JE A+ 2 <7 B2 B 85 5% 4/ (E R T8

Huali College (50,491) (98,668)
Current portion EHE S 314,619 377,189
Amounts due to related parties (Note 33(d)) JE 1t B8 B 5 X8 (B 5E33(d))

— Current — B 60,648 45,415
— Non-Current —JFEH — 50,864
60,648 96,279
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(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E202268A31HILLFE
(b= BB HTEEEAARERT)

26 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 26 EsrERA R HMENKIE
AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES (Cont'd) R E BT RIE (&)
(@  As at August 31, 2022 and 2021, the aging analysis of the payables (@) PR20224F K2021%F8H31H &

for joint tuition support fees was as follows: BEEMNFIBHNRERINOT :

As at August 31,

MA8H31H
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARB TR ARETT
Less than 1 year i = 61,207 78,441

(b)  The amounts represent the miscellaneous fee received from students (b) BFERBEEKZBLENEE K
which would be paid out by the Group on behalf of students. HAEEREBEZM -

(¢ As at August 31, 2022 and 2021, the fair values of current (© 20224 Kk202168A31H ' &
accruals and other payables and current amounts due to related HEtER REMERNFIEEE
parties approximated their carrying amounts due to their short-term HAE(TRAE R IEM A FEHER
maturities. EEEMAE  FRERIAKER

SR

(d)  As at August 31, 2022 and 2021, the non-current accruals and other (d) #2022 %2021 8A31H * 3
payables and non-current amounts due to related parties were initially B R B A & H fth B < 3 E 6
recognized at fair value at discount rate available to the Group and FEE HAFE S B Bk 7 SRIB A IR AR
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest SEAESHMBENRTER
rate method. RHBERABERMNEERER

ARG E ©
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BZE202268A31HILFE
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27 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 27 AR
The Group has recognized the following revenue-related contract liabilities: NEFEDHEAATEHKWZBEENEHE
& :

As at August 31,

M"8H31H
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARB TR ARETTT
Contract liabilities related to tuition fees HEBZHAENSHNAE 617,818 513,639
Contract liabilities related to boarding fees MEBERENENEE 71,339 54,127
689,157 567,766
(a) Revenue recognized in relation to contract liabilities (a) HEHNEBHENCER
W &=
The following table shows how much of the revenue recognized for TRYREBE2022F £202148
the years ended August 31, 2022 and 2021 related to carried-forward ANBEFEREEEANERE
contract liabilities: WEERN S
Year ended August 31,
BZE8A3MALEE
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARB TR ARKETTT
Revenue recognized that was included FHFAEGHAEEHREN
in the balance of contract liabilities R &
at the beginning of the year
— Tuition fees — 2% 513,639 250,092
— Boarding fees — BB 54,127 21,679
567,766 271,771

FEBEREERERA A 225
2022 FE | L



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& OF B 1% R MY &

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BE202268A31H L FE
(BZ=E1EHI B EBEAAREZRT)

27 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Cont’d)

(b) Unsatisfied contracts

27 ENEE(AE)
(b) RETEN

As at August 31,

M"8H31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T R ARETT
Expected to be recognized within one year TEEAR —F RNER
— Tuition fees — 2% 617,818 513,639
— Boarding fees — 5EE 71,339 54,127
689,157 567,766
28 BORROWINGS 28 f& K
As at August 31,
M8HA31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T R ARETT
Current: e
— Secured bank borrowings — BEHBRITER 279,718 223,535
Non-current: FERE :
— Secured bank borrowings — BEMRTER 1,739,701 1,759,850
— Unsecured other borrowings due to — BT 7 e AR AR
a related party H b & 5% 430,000 337,000
2,169,701 2,096,850
Total borrowings &R EE 2,449,419 2,320,385
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28 BORROWINGS (Cont‘d)

(a)

(d)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

YA ans = =
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BZE202268A31HILFE
(B ZE15HI) B BUAREZRT)

28 fE (&

As at August 31, 2022 and 2021, bank borrowings were pledged by
the equity interest of certain group entities and the charging right of
the service fees owned by a group entity according to the Contractual

Arrangements.

During the year ended August 31, 2022, the Group did not comply
with certain bank covenant of a bank borrowing of HK$135,000,000
(equivalent to RMB118,514,000). The Group obtained waiver from the
bank on May 20, 2022 from compliance of such bank covenant and
further subsequent to the year end date, the bank agreed to revise
the bank facility to remove such bank covenant requirement.

The weighted average effective interest rates (per annum) were as

(a)

20224 20218 H31H 1]
BARAOZE RITIBFRUETE
EERORER -HEEERHE
BHIRTS B U B REEEA o

HZE2022F8A31B IEFE -
A& E I EE TR TE X
135,000,000 7% 7t (8 & KX A R ¥
118,514,000 7T) #) & T B % 2
#) o ANEEE 2022458 20H #
BZRTHRRETHRY B RZ
4 BZBITEEREEFEL
HAEMBRMBERZL -

MEFHERENEMT

follows:
As at August 31,
MA8H31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
Bank borrowings SRITIE K 4.66% 4.80%
Other borrowings due to a related party JE 15t B B 5 B E b fE 3R 4.30% 4.30%
The maturity dates of the borrowings were analyzed as follows: (d) (EREIHB ST ¢
As at August 31,
MA8H31H
2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETT
Less than 1 year DIE 279,718 223,535
1 to 2 years 1226 697,378 307,060
2 to 5 years 2E5F 891,264 1,281,534
Over 5 years SELE 581,059 508,256
2,449,419 2,320,385
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(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B ZE202268A31HILLFE

(= HHBI BT 2 EUAREEKT)
28 BORROWINGS (Cont‘d) 28
(e)  The carrying amount for the current borrowings approximated their
fair values because of their short term maturities. The carrying amount
for non-current borrowings approximated their fair values as they
were carried at floating interest rates or the impact of discounting is
not significant for those carried at fixed interest rates.
(f)  As at August 31, 2022, other than bank borrowing of
RMB118,514,000 (2021: RMB124,605,000) was denominated in HK$,
all other borrowings of the Group were denominated in RMB.
29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES 29

228

The analysis of deferred income tax liabilities is as follows:

CENE ]

(e)

mRRBERFRE  HREE
HBAFEMRE - ARIFERBDER

DR B 3T 8 o 1 B o
BENBRAYETK  WAKE
ERAFEEE -

M2022F8HA31H B AR
118,514,000 7T 9 4R 17 & 7X (2021
F : AR #124,605,0007T) A
TEHESN - NEBFTE E A& %
AARBEE -

EEFREHAR

BEMSHREESTMOT :

As at August 31,

M"8H31H
2022 2021
2022F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AREFTTT
Deferred income tax liabilities: BELEFMEBHEE:
— to be recovered by more than 12 months — G F1218 A LA _E B Uk el 47,290 43,832
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES (Cont’d)

The movement in deferred income tax liabilities during the years, without
taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within the same tax
jurisdiction, is as follows:

Fair
value gain

of investment

BZE202268A31HILFE
(B ZE15HI) B BUAREZRT)

29 BEFMBHRAE(HE)
BRI S B A BB B Rt
REBA-HEEERNBE) MT :

Withholding
Timing tax recognized
differences on for the services

recognition of income earned

properties  rental income by WFOE Total
ROEBEE
R
REME BRHEE REVUAER
AFERE WANEEE HEMH st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARBT R ARBT R ARBT R
As at September 1, 2021 M2021F9AH18 36,918 4,770 2,144 43,832
Charged to profit or loss BEZNR 50 306 2,924 3,280
Charged to other B H fh R 5 Wa MR
comprehensive income (Note 11)  (Fif#E11) 178 — — 178
As at August 31, 2022 M202258H31H 37,146 5,076 5,068 47,290
As at September 1, 2020 72020F9B8 1A 32,475 3,986 — 36,461
Charged to profit or loss EEHTRK 3,640 784 2,144 6,568
Charged to other B H b 456 W MR
comprehensive income (Note 11) (HE&E11) 803 — — 803
As at August 31, 2021 #202148H31H 36,918 4,770 2,144 43,832

As at August 31, 2022 and 2021, the Group did not recognize deferred
income tax assets in respect of tax losses amounted to RMB1,430,000 and
RMB776,000. As at August 31, 2022 and 2021, the unused tax losses
amounting to RMB6,296,000 and RMB3,955,000 can be carried forward
against future taxable income under the PRC CIT Law and these tax losses
will expire after 2027 and 2026 respectively.

20224 %20214F8A318 « AEE K
MEEO R A ARE1,430,000t R AR
776,000 7T K Bt 18 85 18 78 R B T FT 15
& E o 720224 % 2021468A31H -
SEH B A AREE,296,0007T B A R
3,955,000 7T /) K 8 Al B B B 1B IR IR R
B 1b 2E P15 B )5 A 45 B3 4K S R SR FE AR B
WA ZERIBAEE D R R2027F &
20265 12 5 ] -
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(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E202268A31HILLFE
(b= BB HTEEEAARERT)

30 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

30

EMBRE
Year ended August 31,
BZ8A3MBILEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T R ARETT
Profit before income tax FiT 18 %6 A1 A B 278,944 169,631
Adjustments for: RATSEELAE :
— Depreciation of property, plant and — ¥ BERRERE
equipment (Note 15) (P 3E15) 115,298 79,610
— Interest expenses on bank borrowings, — SRITER - EERR
other borrowings and discount of M BERBRENRBE
long-tern payables for property, plant and FE A RRIE A B AL IR F B
equipment less interest expenses capitalized RS RE &R EAYE -
in property, plant and equipment B K 584 e R R X 106,408 62,384
— Depreciation of right-of-use assets —FRAREENE 36,486 33,041
— Amortization of intangible assets (Note 17) — EmEESE(ME17) 6,167 4,887
— Interest expenses on discount of — ERTEE Y 2P E R ERIE
compensation payable for the BB BLIRF B &
Conversion of Huali College (Note 10) (FF=E10) 4,736 1,159
— Losses on disposals of property, plant and — HEWE  BEERRED
equipment (Note 7) BB (M sE7) 466 73
— Net exchange (gains)/losses (Note 7) —EX(Km) B8 FE
(PR EE7) (482) 18,242
— Fair value gains on investment properties — REMEATFERE
(Note 7) (P E7) (200) (14,561)
— Interest income on other financial assets — REHRKARARNEM
at amortized cost SRMEENFERKA (29) (903)
Operating profit before changes in working EEESHBANCERE :
capital: 547,794 353,563
Changes in working capital EEEH
— Contract liabilities —AamnaE 121,391 295,995
— Restricted cash — ZBRHIEe 10,803 (1,041)
— Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from — RS RER D
related parties (3 n) 9,943 (4,176)
— Deferred revenue — IR IE U 5 6,985 254
— Accruals and other payables — JEET B A & E A JE T 5RIE (46,613) 163,644
— Trade and other receivables — B 5 R EMEWKIEA (12,390) (4,019)
— Prepayments — FERRIE (4,374) (1,292)
— (Increase)/decrease in amounts due to — FEfT R 5 R IA (3 ),
related parties VoS (122) 7,025
Cash generated from operations REMBRE 633,417 809,953
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BZE202268A31HILFE
(B ZE15HI) B BUAREZRT)

30 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 30 KEMBHRE(HF)
(Cont’d)
(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (a) RMEEHELEEIYHE
activities

Non-cash movement

Unrealized
September 1, Imputed exchange Cash Cash  August 31,
2021 interest loss inflows outflows 2022
E3 R L]
2021% RER 022F
951A fhENE EXER BERA Remd 8A31A
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBTn AR¥Tn AR¥ETn AR%TR ARETx
Bank borrowings RITER 1,983,385 2,212 6,650 381,639 (354,467) 2,019,419
Other borrowings due to BN EE A M E iR
a related party 337,000 — — 123,000 (30,000) 430,000
Liabilities from financing activites ~ BEEHEALMNER 2,320,385 2,212 6,650 504,639 (384,467) 2,449,419
Non-cash movement
Unrealized
September 1, Imputed exchange Cash Cash August 31,
2020 interest loss inflows outflows 2021
¥Re#
20205 ~ER 20215
9A1H BER S B3 B BemA Remit 8A318
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETE  ARETR  ARETT ARETn ARETR ARETR
Bank borrowings RITER 1,767,948 407 1,740 358,707 (145,417) 1,983,385
Other borrowings due to MBS HEfmER
a related party — — — 337,000 — 337,000
Liabilities from financing activites ~ BAEHELMARE 1,767,948 407 1,740 695,707 (145417) 2,320,385

FEBEAFERER A
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E202268A31HILLFE
(b= BB HTEEEAARERT)

31 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at August 31, 2022 and 2021, the Group had the following capital
commitments on construction and purchase of property, plant and

31 EREE

20224 K2021468A31H - A& EAF
ATEREBENE BELAREBNE

equipment: ANEHE
As at August 31,
A8H31H
2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB T AREEF T
Contracted but not provided for BRI 4B R EE 627,237 472,387
Authorized but not contracted for EREBERTL — 7,812
627,237 480,199
32 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 32 REHEHRIE
As lessor ERBEHEA

The Group leased its investment properties to a related party as school and
third parties as stores respectively, certain space to related parties as offices
and certain space to a telecommunication company as signal stations under
operating lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms ranging from

one years to twenty years.

As at August 31, 2022 and 2021, the Group had total future minimum
lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants

falling due as follows:

AEBERBEEHELEEDFIHEREY
EHBE T RAEERIEBATE=
JREESR BT HHHETEBS
BERNERE TS MHBATERFELA

REEREY HHKLBANF1FE

204F o

720225 202198 H31H - IR AT
FRATAIRELLHEE  AEER T

REIIHN R RERERKE S @BEMN

™

As at August 31,

MA8H31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® TR ARETT
Less than 1 year LR1E 10,026 9,859
1 to 5 years 1854 35,340 44,227
Over 5 years 5N E 80,656 80,616
126,022 134,702
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BZE202268A31HILFE
(B ZE15HI) B BUAREZRT)

33 A RS
AN A ) S AXAERR A 7 AHL-Diamond ©
BEERA  BRERAFAREELEE
BHRBERBNMITEEREST

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The ultimate holding company of the Company is HL-Diamond. The
Directors consider the ultimate controlling party to be Mr. Zhang Zhifeng,
who is also the executive director and chairman of the Company.

(a) BEBAMNEBREBR
T3 A EREANABEZE2022F &
20218 A3MA L EEARNEARE
BE&EHKR/ ARXZHNEEH
BT o

(@) Names and relationships with related parties
The following companies and individuals are related parties of the
Group that had balances and/or transactions with the Group during
the years ended August 31, 2022 and 2021.

Relationship with the Group
BAKENBEE

Name of related parties

B EE

Controlling Shareholder, the Owner
AR - A A
A Company controlled by the Owner

Mr. Zhang Zhifeng
REIE L
Guangdong Hualiyuan Technology Company Limited

(“Hualiyuan Technology”) and its subsidiaries

"BREVEREEMRARREHK B AR A (Note (i)

BREVEMBRARAR([EE R KR EME QA B E6)
Guangzhou Lingmei Life Service Co., Ltd (“Lingmei Life Service”)
"EMEXEERBE AR AF" (Note (i)
BMBEEEFERBEER AT ([EEEFRS ) (K ZE0))
Huali Bilingual School of Yunfu (Yun'an District)
(“Yunfu Bilingual School”) "EFMELBEHF R XER"
(Former name: &% T & & & % 37 1 3 X /v F) (Note (1))
EFTELREVFENER([BFHEXER])
(A1« BFMELRBETHENE) (M)
Guangdong Huali Construction Co., Ltd. (“Huali Construction and
its subsidiaries”) "B R EZZEFR QA" K EKE 2R 7 (Note (i)
BREVEEGR AR ([FEZREERANE AR ()
Guangdong Huali Real Estate Group Co., Ltd. (“Huali Real Estate”)

HEEA AZEHH R A
A Company controlled by the Owner

HEA A8 QR

A Company controlled by the Owner

mEA AES ARG

A Company controlled by the Owner

MR AESIE QA
A Company controlled by the Owner

EBREIMESBHBRAF" (Note (i)

BREVESEAR QA EFE M E ] (B E0) %A A H A A

Note (i): The entities shown above do not have official English names and their
Chinese names have been translated into English, for reference only, by the
Directors on a best effort basis.

BfEE() : B BRI MEREXEH @ Z
ERNELEBABERRAB IR
TXRERE BEHREE -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B ZE202268A31HILLFE

(=

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont‘d)

234

B TE 2B UANREXRT)

(b) Significant transactions with related parties

33 B L RZ (&

(b) HEABMENEARS
Year ended August 31,
HZES8A3MALEE

2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR®EF T
Rental income HE2 WA
— Yunfu Bilingual School (i) — EF AP EER() 6,748 6,748
— Huali Real Estate — EVME — 189
— Huali Construction and its subsidiaries — EVRERAWB AR — 181
6,748 7,118
Rental expenses HeXH
— Hualiyuan Technology (ii) — 3 37 B BH(Gi) 6,938 7,080
Construction in progress incurred EREIRE
— Huali Construction and its subsidiaries — EVREREWB AR A 35,244 429,290
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33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd)
(b) Significant transactions with related parties (Cont’d)

B F B 1% R Y &

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E202268A31HILFE

(= HIEHI  HTEELELARERT)

33 AR S (&)
(b) EBAMSHNEARS (&)

Year ended August 31,
HES8A3MALEE

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARET T
Service income AR 75 W A
— Yunfu Bilingual School — EFFREXER — 2,330
Loans from a related party B TR R E R
— Huali Construction and its subsidiaries (i) — 7 AR K E B A R 123,000 337,000
Repayment of loans from a related party B EEER
— Huali Construction and its subsidiaries (iii) — =7 2 AR R ELF B A miii) 30,000 —
Interest expenses paid or payables B sk A A B R X
— Huali Construction and its subsidiaries (i) — FEEE N H B A EGi) 18,290 10,222
Repayment of cash advances from/(Payment of BBt HEER S 2R
cash advances to) a related party (M@ T MR BH)
— Lingmei Life Service (iv) — YA £ TE R (v) 4,958 (4,958)
Cash advances from a related party TR S BN
— Huali Construction and its subsidiaries — EVRERAMBARA 120 =
Construction consulting service income BEFARBEA
— Huali Construction and its subsidiaries — EVRERAWE R A — 291
— Huali Real Estate — FE M E — 194
— 485
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E202268A31HILLFE
(b= BB HTEEEAARERT)

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont‘d)

(b) Significant transactions with related parties (Cont’d)

236

@)

(iii)

(iv)

Certain Group's investment properties were leased to a related
party for rental income amounting to RMB6,748,000 during the
years ended August 31, 2022 (2021: RMB6,748,000).

On September 1, 2019 and September 1, 2020, the Group
entered into properties lease agreement with Hualiyuan
Technology, pursuant to which Hualiyuan Technology agreed to
lease certain residential apartments to the Group commencing
from September 1, 2019 to August 31, 2022 and from
September 1, 2020 to August 31, 2022 respectively, with a
monthly rent of RMB16 per sq. m. (exclusive of management
fees, value added taxes and local levies). The actual rental fee is
variable and subject to the change of actual usage area at each
year.

Pursuant to a series of agreements dated December 8,
2020, January 22, 2021 and November 25, 2021, the Group
obtained interest-bearing borrowings from a subsidiary of Huali
Construction amounting to RMB57,000,000, RMB280,000,000
and RMB123,000,000 respectively at an effective interest rate
of 4.3% per annum with a term of 3 years. Interest expenses
amounting to RMB18,290,000 was recognised accordingly for
the year ended August 31, 2022.

On March 31, 2022 and July 21, 2022 the Group repaid
interest-bearing borrowings from a subsidiary of Huali
Construction amounting to RMB30,000,000.

Repayment of cash advances/(payment of cash advances) to
Lingmei Life Service was non-trade in nature, interest-free and

repayable on demand.
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33 BMARS (A
(b) HEBMAINEARS (&)

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

REEBETREYEFEA
TR - B 22022
F8AZMBLEFEMNAS
A B A R ¥6,748,000 T
(20214 : AR 16,748,000
JT) °

201949 A 18 K% 20204F
9ATR " AEEEEYE
RHLEI MR ERZ @ B
It EVRBRFAEMAE
BErREETEFELE  HE
DBl B BE2019F9A1HZE
20228 A31H K& B 2020
F9H1HZE202248 A 31
H AHE@REFTARAR
Kilem(TEERE  EE
R @) c ERAS
A - WEURREBFERE
AEENEEt -

R B H A 2020F 12 B
8H 20211 A28 &
20214611 A25B 8 — &7
W AEERETEED
—XHWBREDRIEGE
f& # A R #57,000,0007T *
A R # 280,000,000 7T & A
R # 123,000,000 7 @ & &
EFREB43%  BE3E o
HZE2022F8A31HIEFE
ERHERFEASIARKE
18,290,0007C °

M 202243 A31H 2022
F7H218 - AEEEEE
VEEN-RMBARGE
&3 A R #30,000,0007T °

AERLEREEER SR
RAZNREBR) BIF
BHME  RERERER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BZE202268A31HILFE
(B ZE15HI) B BUAREZRT)

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d) 33 BB ARG (&
(c) Key management compensation () TEEBEASRM
Key management compensation for the years ended August 31, 2022 B E2022F % 2021F8A31H Ik
and 2021, other than those relating to the emoluments of directors FE - BRWFEISEEE S M
being disclosed in Note 35, are set out below: eI TEBTEABRME Y
T

Year ended August 31,
B E8A3MBHLEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARET T

Wages, salaries and bonuses ITE  #FeRkIEL 1,406 1,829
Contributions to pension plans RIKSFTEIfR 31 35
Welfare, medical and other expenses BH) > BEREMRAS 65 139

1,502 2,003
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BE202268A31H L FE
(BZ=E1EHI B EBEAAREZRT)

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont‘d) 33

(d) Balances with related parties

BBLRS (&
(d) BRI TS A5 ER

As at August 31,

MN8H31H
2022 2021
202245 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMWT T ARETTT

Amounts due from related parties JE Uk BB 5 SR E
— Yunfu Bilingual School (i) — EFAREER() 10,165 19,613
— Lingmei Life Service (Note 33(b)(iv)) — EERLEERY
(P 5E33(b)(iv)) — 4,958
— Hualiyuan Technology — EVEEH 834 1,329
10,999 25,900
Amounts due to related parties FE 1T BAHSE 77 SRIE
— Huali Construction and its subsidiaries (ii) — FESTERE K H I A R) 53,745 89,254
— Hualiyuan Technology (Note 33(b)(ii) — EVEBHL (KEE33(b)ii) 3,663 3,785
— Yunfu Bilingual School(i) — EF AR ESTER() 3,220 3,220
— Huali Real Estate — EVHE 20 20
60,648 96,279
Other borrowings E A &K
— Huali Construction and its subsidiaries — EVREERHEMNEAR
(Note 33 (b)(iii)) (B$7E33(b)(ii)) 430,000 337,000
Prepayment to a related party for construction — BEHEI2IE B i RIEN R T
of expansion projects(ii) FRIE(i)
— Huali Construction and its subsidiaries — EVREERENEAR 28,446 —
Deferred revenue IR E W 2
— Huali Construction and its subsidiaries — EVEERENBAR 120 —
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33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)
(d) Balances with related parties (Cont’d)

@)

(iii)

As at August 31, 2022 and 2021, amounts due from Yunfu
Bilingual School was trade in nature and represented receivables
in respect of rental income of investment properties. As at
August 31, 2022 and 2021,

School was trade in nature and represented deposit payables in

amounts due to Yunfu Bilingual

respect of investment properties.

As at August 31, 2022 and 2021, amounts due to Huali
Construction and its subsidiaries was trade in nature and
represented payables for construction of expansion projects
amounting to RMB25,233,000 (2021: RMB79,032,000)
and interests payable amounting to RMB28,512,000 (2021:

RMB10,222,000) incurred from the other borrowings.

As at August 31,
represented prepayment to Huali Construction and its

2022, prepayment to a related party

subsidiaries for the expansion projects in Jiangmen campus.

As at August 31, 2022 and 2021,
balances with related parties appropriate their fair values and

the carrying amounts of

were denominated in RMB.

FEF TS SRR BT o

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

(= B #5855

B E202268A31HILFE
T2 BHUAANREXRT)

(d) EEEEWTJ'E’J,‘F%?(%’)

(i)

(if)

(iii)

72022 4 120214 8 A 31
B EREFHRXBRY
FERBHMEE - RAEREK
R it GN: @A
A ° 7R20224F }202148 A
3R BNEZFREXE
ROKARBIME - BE
AR EMERS -

72022 F 2021448 A 31
B ENETZERENE
RAIMHIERESEE @ 5t
HEEBEEERENREBEAA
R # 25,233,000 (2021 £ :
/\Eﬁz79032 ooo7t) * E

thfE REENERNFE R
AEM28,512,0007E(2021
£ :10,222,0007T) °

MR2022F8A31H © B
BARBARIMREER
EEHBMNELEEREN B
A AW FKIE ©

\2022&&2021&8)%31

- ERLRE I T B A5 R ) IR T
15 LHAFEMAS  LAA
R#®&tE -

\I%
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B ZE202268A31HILLFE

(=

BFIEB) B BUAREXT)
34 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 3 ARREEEEBERRAE
OF THE COMPANY =)
As at August 31,
A8H31H
2022 2021
20224 20214F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T AREEF T
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary HENE R A — —
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JiE W B BB A R FE 636,218 622,550
Restricted cash ZRHIEE 1,443 —
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEE 44,924 154,514
682,585 777,064
Total assets HWEE 682,585 777,064
EQUITY &
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ZA2QAEE AEGEER
Share capital and share premium B& AR R B% 17 35 B 603,188 652,296
Accumulated losses REtE1E (104,452) (118,503)
Total equity s 498,736 533,793
Liabilities 8f&
Non-current liabilities ERBAE
Borrowings-non current B — IS8 103,541 108,128
Current liabilities REE &
Accruals and other payables FEEH B R & H th FE T 5RIB 2,752 64,387
Amounts due to subsidiaries RN ENGIE S 66,599 60,507
Borrowings-current B — & H 10,957 10,249
80,308 135,143
Total liabilities e E 183,849 243,271
Total equity and liabilities EaREEHEE 682,585 777,064

240

The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board of Directors

on November 29, 2022 and was signed on its behalf.

Zhang Zhifeng
RE I

Director

EF
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BZE202268A31HILFE
(B ZE15HI) B BUAREZRT)

34 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 3 ARREEEEBERRRAE
OF THE COMPANY (Cont’d) 2B (E
Accumulated
losses
A EE
RMB’000
AR®T T
As at September 1, 2020 7202098 1H (61,633)
Loss for the year FEERE (56,870)
As at August 31, 2021 A20218H31H (118,503)
As at September 1, 2021 R2021F981H (118,503)
Loss for the year FEEIE 14,051
As at August 31, 2022 74202268 A31H (104,452)
35 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 3 EEEARER
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERTETHAENH
)
The remuneration of each director borne by the Group for the year HZE2022F8A31B IFEEAE
ended August 31, 2022 is set out below: EAENSESEHENNOT
Employer's
contribution to Allowances
a retirement and other
Name %4 Fee Basic salaries  benefit scheme benefits Total
BEIXHEHK 31
He EXxfe B|AFHNER REMER @t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTR ARBTTR ARBT TR ARBTR

Executive Directors YTES

Mr. Zhang Zhifeng (i) R I 5 A () - 2,029 16 158 2,203

Mr. Ye Yaming (ii EHERR % () — 277 — 6 283

Mr. Zou Kang (iii) R % A — ALl 19 29 759

Mr. Ma Zhixiong (ii) 55 751 5 A (i) — 77 4 10 91

Mr. Zhang Yude (iv) RIELE() — 439 — — 439

Non-Executive Directors FYTES

Mr. Zhang Yude (iv) RIELE() — 123 — — 123

Independent BYKATES

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yang Ying (v) BELEW) 200 - — — 200

Mr. Ding Yi (v) THEEW) 200 - — — 200

Ms. Chiu Lai Kuen (v) HERT V) 262 — — — 262
662 3,656 39 203 4,560
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E202268A31HILLFE
(b= BB HTEEEAARERT)

35 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 3 EEEARER(F)
(Cont’d)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERETETHAENH
(Cont’d) ()
The remuneration of each director borne by the Group for the year HE2021F8A3MHIEFEASE
ended August 31, 2021 is set out below: EAENSESTFMEHIIOT
Employer's
contribution to Allowances
a retirement and other
Name 22 Fee Basic salaries benefit scheme benefits Total
EEHERRK 2
Hne EX%e  RAGENER REMBEF @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Executive Directors HTES

Mr. Zhang Zhifeng (i) o 5 18 5 A (1) = 1819 13 158 1,990
Mr. Ye Yaming (ii E R LA () = 1,627 = 66 1,693
Mr. Dong Xiaolin (iii) EN:Faea(ID) = 699 = 2 701
Mr. Ma Zhixiong (i) 5 1 5 i) — 326 8 49 383

Non-Executive Directors FHTEE

Mr. Zhang Yude (iv) RIE L E() — 469 = = 469
Independent BYEHTES
Non-executive Directors
Mr. Yang Ying (v) BHEEEWV) 200 — — — 200
Mr. Ding Yi (v) THEEW) 200 — — — 200
Ms. Chiu Lai Kuen (v) HERL V) 260 — — = 260
660 4,940 21 275 5,896

242 China Vocational Education Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

35 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Cont’d)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’'s emoluments
(Cont’d)

(b)

(9]

(@)

(iii)

(iv)

Mr. Zhang Zhifeng was appointed as an executive director of
the Company on May 24, 2016.

Mr. Ye Yaming was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on December 18, 2017.

Mr. Dong Xiaolin were appointed as an executive director of
the Company on December 18, 2017 and has resigned as an
executive director of the Company with effect from January 20,
2021. After that, the Company appointed Mr. Ma Zhixiong as
an executive director from January 20, 2021 and replaced with
Mr. Zou Kang on November 19, 2021.

Mr. Zhang Yude was appointed as a non-executive director of
the Company on December 18, 2017, and re-designated from a
non-executive director to an executive director on November 19,
2021.

Mr. Yang Ying and Mr. Ding Yi were appointed as the
Company’s independent non-executive directors on August 16,
2019, and Ms. Chiu Lai Kuen was appointed as an independent
non-executive director and the chairman of the audit committee
on July 17, 2020.

Directors’ retirement benefits
No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by any directors in

respect of their other services in connection with the management of

the affairs of the Company or its subsidiaries undertakings during the
years ended August 31, 2022 and 2021.

Directors’ termination benefits
No payment was made to directors as compensation for the early

termination of the appointment during the years ended August 31,
2022 and 2021.

B E202268A31HILFE

(= HIEHI  HTEELELARERT)

35 EERARER(F)

(a) EEREETHRAEBNF
o (&)

(b)

(c)

(@)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

RE &L AER2016F5H24
HEZEARNRRINITE
$o

EHELAEN2017F12 8
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AN Gn /g =3

& 0F B 15 R R BT A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2022

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BE202268A31H L FE
(BZ=E1EHI B EBEAAREZRT)

35 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Cont’d)

(d) Consideration provided to third parties for making

244

(e)

(f)

available directors’ services

No payment was made to the former employer of directors for
making available the services of them as a director of the Company
during the years ended August 31, 2022 and 2021.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favor of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

Other than those disclosed in Note 33(d), there are no loans, quasi-
loans and other dealings in favor of directors, controlled body
corporate by and connected entities with such directors during the
years ended August 31, 2022 and 2021.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Other than those as disclosed in Note 33(b), there are no significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Company’s
business to which the Company was a party and in which a director
of the Company had a material interest directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the years ended August
31, 2022 and 2021.
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Five-Year Financial Summary
TFEHEHE

A summary of the audited results of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the BEIAVBREEASEENKERTEENRE
last five financial years is set out below: EREBEMENAT :

Year ended August 31,

BESA3IHLFE
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
20184 20194 20204 20214 202245
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTE ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT AR%¥TR

Revenue & 608,008 674,800 761,481 881,656 907,762
Cost of revenue G (273,633) (307,014) (308,902) (411,143) (425,611)
Gross profit ESl 334,375 367,786 452,579 470,513 482,151
Profit before tax T4 A0 K& 200,112 227,013 310,934 169,631 278,944
Profit for the year F N FE 193,327 223,063 306,669 143,459 259,784

As at August 31,2021
R20216F8A31H

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
20184 20194 20204 20214 20224
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTE ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT AR%TR

Non-current assets EMEEE 2,981,065 3,847,275 4,152,464 5,385,871 5,817,694
Current assets mE A E 641,680 479,555 905,742 943,356 850,855
Current liabilities mEBaE 893,201 1,435,690 715,055 1,234,907 1,371,447
Net current assets/(liabilities) ~ RENEE (B &)F5E (251,521) (956,135) 190,687 (291,551) (520,592)
Total asset less current BEERRBAE

liabilities 2,729,544 2,891,140 4,343,151 5,094,320 5,297,102
Non-current liabilities EmEBEE 1,371,707 1,310,240 1,666,333 2,408,915 2,400,487
Net assets EEFE 1,357,837 1,580,900 2,676,818 2,685,405 2,896,615
Total equity 4B 1,357,837 1,580,900 2,676,818 2,685,405 2,896,615
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Definitions

“academic year”

“AGM”
[BERBFRE ]

“Articles of Association”
(B =240 A

“Audit Committee”
[BZZEg]

“Board”

[E£g]

“Business Cooperation Agreement”
[REEERE]
“gy|”

[REBHEARES]
"CG Code”
[EERTA
“China” or "PRC"

[ B

“Company”

[RA]
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the academic year for all our school, which generally starts on September 1 of each
calendar year and ends on August 31, of the next calendar year

RPMAEERNEE  —KRBSEEFIA 1B B T —EAEBEFEIA3BALER

annual general meeting of the Company to be held on January 13, 2023

RRAFER2023F1A1I3HBITHRERAFAS

the articles of association of the Company, as amended from time to time
RRAGEEERMA(ERREET)

the audit committee of the Board

ExgERE%Ae

the board of directors of the Company

ARREES

the Business Cooperation Agreement entered into by and among XZ Huali, Huali
Investment, our PRC Operating Entities and the Registered Shareholder dated March 23,
2017 (supplemented on November 27, 2017, August 30, 2018 and December 7, 2021)
BAREY FURE PEHLSEEBRELKRRIZAHR2017F3A2EBNEBA
e (72017411 4278 ~ 201848 A30 %2021 12 A7H# 78)

the British Virgin Islands
HEER RS

the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

LR A SR 4P E O X E AT Al

the People’s Republic of China and for the purposes of this report only, except where
the context requires otherwise, references to China or the PRC exclude Hong Kong, the
Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan

FEARKANE  EREARENS  BXEZAEMEN  BRPEETELEES R
FIRRIfTH R & & &

China Vocational Education Holdings Limited (F BB Z=ZHEZER AR A F) (formerly
known as Huali University Group Limited (%37 KZEHHBR Q7))
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability, the shares of which are listed on
the Main Board (stock code: 1756)
TREBEHEERERAG(AIBEYRZEABRAAE)  KASHSFMKILZ
BRAA - HRHAER LT (RG R - 1756)

a company



“consolidated affiliated entities”

3
o>
>.:
F
%
o
i

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

[ s s 3R

“Director(s)”

==

"Equity Pledge Agreement”

[ 7 & 1 157 2%

"Exclusive Call Option Agreement”

[ 8 R R0 I

“Exclusive Technical Service and

Management Consultancy Agreement”

[98 5K By AR 7% K & 12 34 3 1 o

“Group”, “We", “us”, or "our”
EX TR 3GN

“Hong Kong”

[ & ]

“Hong Kong dollars” or “HK$"
&7l

Definitions

the entities the Company controls through the structured contracts as further elaborated
in the section headed “Structured Contracts” in the Prospectus, namely Huali Investment,
Huali College, Huali Vocational College and Huali Technician College, and each a
“consolidated affiliated entity”

ARABBEBEAOESNNER(FRERERPIEBESN] —F)  BEEY

has the meaning as defined in the Listing Rules and, unless the context otherwise
requires, refers to Mr. Zhang, Trust Co and Huali Education

BELTRAREHNRE BXESBEMREN  BREE Trust COREYHE

the director(s) of the Company
ARAIES

The Equity Pledge Agreement entered into by and among the Registered Shareholder, XZ
Huali and Huali Investment dated August 30, 2018
FERE FABELRELREN2018F8A30B AT LHREER G Z

the Exclusive Call Option Agreement entered into by and among the Registered
Shareholder, Huali Investment, the PRC Operating Entities and XZ Huali dated March 23,
2017 and August 30, 2018

BRRER FURE PELETRLAREILALAHA/2017F3A23H K2018%F
8A30HMBRREBER =

the Exclusive Technical Service and Management Consultancy Agreement entered into by
and among XZ Huali, Huali Investment and the PRC Operating Entities dated March 23,
2017 (supplemented on August 30, 2018)

FEEY EURERTHLEBRITZLABHA2017F3A23BNBREMBRSE RE
B (20188 A30A i 78)

the Company, its subsidiaries and its consolidated affiliated entities
AAdE - HNB AR REEARBERS

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
Hh B E B R RITIR R

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BT BREEEEH
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Definitions

“Huali College”

“Huali Construction”

[FE 7 R

“Huali Education”

[ETHE ]

“Huali (HK) Education”

[BERBEIH

il

J

“Huali Investment”

“Huali Property”

[ £ 37 3 2 |

"

“Huali Shengrong

248 China Vocational Education Holdings Limited
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SEL R

[FIFENEN

Guangzhou Huali College (J& /I # 37 2 7) (formerly known as Huali College Guangdong
University of Technology (B3R T ¥ KZ# 72 F%)), a private independent college
established under the laws of the PRC on January 1, 2006, which was converted into an
independently established private general undergraduate college with the official approval
by MOE in May 2021, and a consolidated affiliated entity of the Company
BMEIZR(ABERIERSBETZM) - R2006F1B1BREHE 5£?$EJ€QE’\J
RIFB UL WHR2021FSAKHENEA R AERABURKENR BT AARZ
Bt RARBINEGE ARBEERR

Guangzhou Huali Construction Co., Ltd.* (BRZEZEAFR A A, a limited liability
company established in the PRC and directly owned by Mr. Zhang and Mr. Zhang Zhifan,
the brother of Mr. Zhang, as to 99.97% and 0.03% respectively, and a connected person
of the Company

BREVEZERRA RABEKZHERAT - BAREERELHRENEEDH
E}%%ﬁ%m%&om% CRARBBEATL

Huali Education Holdings Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in BVI and
wholly owned by Trust Co

EVHEERBEBRRR REBEBARESIMEAIOHBRRE - BHTrust Co2 E#H
=)

Huali (HK) Education Investment Limited (&= # B 1 & G R A 7)), a limited liability
company incorporated in Hong Kong on May 18, 2016 and an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company

BEAEIHEREARDRA - K2016F5 18R EEBEMAUHABRRA - AXA
ANEZEEENB AR

Guangzhou Huali Investment Company Limited (/N #E 4% & BR A7), being the
School Sponsor of each of the PRC Operating Entities, a company established in the PRC
with limited liability on June 15, 1999 and a consolidated entity of the Company

BMELREERAR SHELETEOSRERE - N1999F6 158 FE P BIK
YWBERARF RARANEGEEARE

%’@

Guangdong Huali Property Company Limited (/& 3 % 37 # Z &£ Bl 5 R 2 &), a company
with limited liability established under the laws of the PRC on July 1, 2008 and held as
to 99% by Mr. Zhang and as to 1% by an independent third party, and which is not a
member of the Group

BREVHESEARARF - R2008F7A1BRBERBEERINEGRARE - BRE
ERAI%  —BBIUE=HE1%  LIHFAEEKE QA

Guangzhou Huali Shengrong Education Technology Company Limited (& M 2 37 5% &8
H B B AR A F]), a wholly foreign-owned enterprise with limited liability established
under the laws of the PRC on December 27, 2016, which is wholly owned by Huali (HK)
Education

EMNETRLHBEREAR AT - R2016F 12 A27HREBEHBEEERINERE T
IEBERE BHAEBEUHEZERSA



“Huali Technician College”

[ 5 37 £ Bib 22 B |

“Huali Vocational College”

“Hualiyuan Technology”

[ 28 57 [B] i

“Implementation Rules”

“Listing”
[ 7]

“Listing Date”

[ £ H 8]

“Listing Rules”

[ Em R A

“Main Board”

[ER]

“Model Code”

M52 57 Al

“MOE"
(%A #

Definitions

FIFIEN

Guangdong Province Huali Technician College (& 5 & % 3/ 1 Al 22 f7), a private tertiary
vocational school established under the laws of the PRC on August 20, 2003, of which
the School Sponsor’s interest is wholly owned by Huali Investment, and a consolidated
affiliated entity of the Company

BREELFANELR - KR2003F8H200 A RIBPEEAENLOR IS FRESRR - A
FEURETERBERBRERER  RARAINGEARBEER

Guangzhou Huali Science and Technology Vocational College (& /N £ 37 Bl 5 B4 ¥ £ [7),
a formal higher education institution established under the laws of the PRC on July 19,
2005, of which the School Sponsor’s interest is wholly owned by Huali Investment, and a
consolidated affiliated entity of the Company

BEMZE ST BB 2 20t - R2005F7 A9 RIBEFEEERR LM BESSHE K -
HEUREXERAERBNERER  REARAINGEE AKRBEER

Guangdong Hualiyuan Technology Company Limited (ERZEVERZ AR 2R, a
company with limited liability established under the laws of the PRC on January 6, 2004,
which is not a member of the Group and is held as to 99% by Mr. Zhang and as to 1% by
Huali Property
BREVEBEERRAR - R2004F1 A6 B RBHBEVEEKNIHER AT @ EAEER
RERA BREEFEFEI%  ELHERFEI%

the Regulations of the Implementation Rules for the Law for Promoting Private Education
of the PRC ((FRZE AR EME R #1345 (R /5 F M {551 )) issued by the State Council on
April 7, 2021, and effective from September 1, 2021

B %Pt R2021F4 378 84 - WE2021FIA 1B BEBACPEARINBERIAE
1 3 X B a5 01)

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board on the Listing Date
B LT EBEER T

November 25, 2019, the date on which the Shares were listed and on which dealings in
the Shares were first permitted to take place on the Main Board

201911 A258 AR EMEBROEXEBEREIREEZH

The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

BRBMERSABAERAFNESFLMARR - BAKER]  FHAIAEAMT A ER

the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
Bt 22 BT E AR

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
FARAMENOMBN LT ETAEFETES X HNRETH

the Ministry of Education of the PRC (fF 2 A R £ 1 Bl 24 B &)
REARLRMBEHE I
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Definitions

"Mr. Zhang”
[k %4 |

“Mu”
[# ]

“Nomination Committee”

(REZ8%]

“PRC Operating Entities”

"Prospectus”

[HR=ERE]

“Registered Shareholder(s)”

[ERRR ]

“Registered Shareholder’s Right
Entrustment Agreement and Registered

Shareholder’s Power of Attorney”

[BERBRENREBER
BRRREEE]

“Remuneration Committee”

E e

"Reporting Period”
[ & B

“RMB"” or “Renminbi”
[AR ¥

“School Directors”

[EREE]

“School Directors’ Power of Attorney”

[BEREEREE]
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SEL R

Mr. Zhang Zhifeng, chairman of the Board, executive Director and one of our Controlling
Shareholders

EFERIR HTEEFRARAERBRR —REEELE

the Chinese land area unit, whereby a mu equals to approximately 666.67 square meters

FEREMEBEEMN  — M ER4666.67F 5 K

the nomination committee of the Board

E=gR%%EBe

the Company's consolidated affiliated entities, namely, Huali College, Huali Vocational
College and Huali Technician College
AARMGEAANRBETE  NEVSER EYBESRRETRMER

the prospectus of the Company dated November 14, 2019
AABHEHA2019F 11 A4AHBRER

Huali Investment is owned as to 99.999% by Mr. Zhang and as to 0.001% by Mr. Zhang
Zhifan
E IR E BRI AE RORE 5L A D BB 99.999% 5 0.001 %k #

the Registered Shareholder’s Right Entrustment Agreement and Registered Shareholder’s
Power of Attorney entered into by and among Huali Investment, the Registered
Shareholder and XZ Huali in favor of XZ Huali dated September 19, 2017 (supplemented
on August 30, 2018 and December 7, 2021)

FEURE BFRRRLABEINABREIARE A ZAHR2017F9A19B0E
R RN Z S R BB REES (12018F8H30H M2021F12 A7 #3%)

the remuneration committee of the Board
EFEgHFMEES

the year ended August 31, 2022
HZE2022F8A31HIEFE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

AREE  hBEVEEEH

the directors nominated by Huali Investment to each of our PRC Operating Entities
EURENETRHEETERIEEANES

the School Directors’ Power of Attorney executed by each of the School Directors in favor
of XZ Huali dated March 23, 2017 (supplemented on August 30, 2018, September 28,
2018, April 23, 2019, July 22, 2019, October 10, 2019 and January 17, 2020)
BREREEFN2017TFIABEUNEAREIRRATABRINEREERKES (20185
8 H30H 201849 H28H - 201944 H23H 201967 H22H 201910108 &
2020F1 A17A %)



“School Sponsor(s)”
[ERENE ]

“School Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights
Entrustment Agreement”

[ERERERBREZTENZEHH]

“School Sponsor’'s Power of Attorney”

[BERBERERES

“SEQ™

[ &7 R &

“Shareholder(s)”
[A% = |

“Shares”

[ ]

“South China”
(7%

“Spouse Undertaking”

[ B 48 7 54 |

“Stock Exchange”

I B <2 FfT

“Structured Contracts”

[t A= ol

Definitions

the individual(s) or entity(ies) that funds or holds interests in an educational institution

ENHIRBERBESAERENEAXETR

the School Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement entered into by
and among Huali Investment, the School Directors and XZ Huali dated March 23, 2017
(supplemented on August 30, 2018, September 28, 2018, April 23, 2019, July 22, 2019,
October 10, 2019 and July 20, 2020)

FEURE BREFNKABECTZBHAR2017F3AZBHNEREBNERERES
R Z e (PR201848 A30H ~ 201859 A28 H ~ 201954 A23H ~ 201947 A22
B - 2019%10A10A k202097 4208 #i 7 )

the School Sponsor’s Power of Attorney executed by Huali Investment in favor of XZ Huali
dated March 23, 2017
FEVRENARECAYEZAELAHA2017F3A2BNERBRERES

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

EFLBMEERMN(FBENFENE)  EITEER - HAIREMIT R EWR

holder(s) of the Share(s)
BROFEEA

ordinary shares in the Company of par value US$0.0001 each
XX A7) 8 IR E{E0.0001 3 7T 7 & i iR

Guangdong Province, Guangxi Province and Hainan Province of the PRC

HEERYL  EAAREEE

the Spouse Undertaking executed by the spouse of the Registered Shareholder dated
March 23, 2017 (supplemented on August 30, 2018 and December 7, 2021)
BRBRERAOEME L HBA201743 A23H 8B 8#GE (72201848 H30H 2021412
R7B#7)

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERMERGMERDA

collectively, the Business Cooperation Agreement, the Exclusive Technical Service and
Management Consultancy Agreement, the Exclusive Call Option Agreement, the Equity
Pledge Agreement, the School Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement,
the School Sponsor’s Power of Attorney, the School Directors’ Power of Attorney, the
Spouse Undertaking, the Registered Shareholder’s Right Entrustment Agreement and the
Registered Shareholder’s Power of Attorney

EXBeEmE BREMRELEREZAG S BRIABHEHS REERHE
EREPRERBREFHNEZTHS SREPERREE EREZEEE BB
wBTRRENEZERELELRRREEENRE
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Definitions

“subsidiary(ies)”
=G

“Trust Co”

[Trust Co

"Uss”
ESH

“WFOE"
[SNEBEERE]

"XZ Huali”

iE ool

“Yunfu Bilingual School”

3

\
i

+
><|/
B
=

"o

[%]

has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 15 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
of the Laws of Hong Kong)
BEERBHEN (BB AP FE6228) BE15IERE FxmmEE

Huali-Diamond Limited, a holding vehicle incorporated in BVI indirectly controlled by UBS
Trustee (B.V.l.) Limited, the trustee of HL-Diamond Trust, to hold the entire issued share
capital of Huali Education

Huali-Diamond Limited - M B & @ = 8 & 7 M 5 2 A9 5 Ax 2 & © BHUBS Trustees
(B.V.1.) Limited (HL-Diamond Trustt) X5t A ) ZHIAR B ELHE N2 HEHITR
A

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States
ET o EBUEEEY

Wholly Foreign-Owned Enterprise under PRC laws
REDER TN BE D

Xizang Huali Shengda Information Technology Limited (78 % 37 B K12 SRR AR QA 7)),
an enterprise established under the laws of PRC on January 18, 2017, which is a wholly
owned subsidiary of Huali Shengrong

AREVRAEEREERAR - R2017F1 AI1SEREBEFREEZZKN UM E  AF
UREHZENE R

Huali Bilingual School of Yunfu (Yun'an District) (E¥ M ELXRET FHXER), a
private school established under the laws of the PRC on August 18, 2016, of which the
School Sponsor’s interest is wholly owned by Hualiyuan Technology
EEMELRRETREER  H2016F8A18AMBHRBEEAEKINRERER -
EVEANMBRERASERNENERER

per cent
Atk

The English names of the PRC entities (including schools), PRC laws or regulations, ABREMAFEER(BEER)  hBURE
and the PRC government authorities referred to in this report are merely FERMTFRBRAEEANRECEBEAESF
translations from their Chinese names and are for identification purposes. If there XEBEHOEZE  UWEHP - B TR E -
is any inconsistency, the Chinese names shall prevail. AR X EBERAE -
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